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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning.

          3  We're a little late starting for several reasons, we

          4  know the weather is bad and we wanted you to get

          5  here, and also, I wanted to get here.

          6                 We welcome you to City Council, and

          7  my name is Wendell Foster.  I'm Chairman of the

          8  Committee on Parks, Recreation, Cultural Affairs,

          9  and International Intergroup Relations.  We're

         10  meeting today because we have been invited in three

         11  parts.  First, we will considered three proposed

         12  local laws naming streets after New Yorkers who

         13  contributed substantially to the greatness of our

         14  City, Preconsidered Intro. No., I don't have the

         15  number, but by Councilman Fisher, Council Member

         16  Provenzano, and Council Member Abel, also by Council

         17  Member Reed and Perkins.  We will hear those three

         18  things first, and then go into the other part of our

         19  business.

         20                 Excuse me, I don't know what happened

         21  on the way here, it must be raining.

         22                 To my immediate left is Council

         23  Member Eristoff from Manhattan, Council Member

         24  Fisher from a Borough they call Brooklyn, Council

         25  Member Robinson from that same Borough, Brooklyn.
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          2  And to my right is Mr. Pers our Legal Counsel, who

          3  keeps me out of trouble.  Blowing his nose and

          4  wiping it is Council Member Reed from Manhattan and

          5  parts of Bronx, and to the far right is Frank Neely,

          6  who guides us when we go astray, and that is not too

          7  often, except when we do it.

          8                 We should begin this morning by

          9  request, the Intro. No. 394, by Council Members Reed

         10  and Perkins, along with Council Members O'Donovan,

         11  with renaming 116th Street between First and Second

         12  Avenues in Manhattan as Peter Pascale Place.

         13                 Let me say, first of all, that we try

         14  to not just meet to rename streets, and we would

         15  remind you that it is important for us to do some

         16  street renaming, because there are many New Yorkers

         17  who make substantial contributions to the City of

         18  New York, and they're often forgotten or never

         19  recognized, and we want to try and let people know

         20  that we do appreciate, at least the families, the

         21  contributions made by their loved ones.

         22                 Mr. Reed, would you tell us about

         23  your Intro.? Those persons who are desirous of

         24  testifying on Intro. 394, for Pascale, you should

         25  sign in by raising your hands, and the
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          2  Sergeant-At-Arms will supply you with a sign-in

          3  slip.  All right, Sergeant, over here.  Mr. Reed,

          4  would you begin, please?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair, and I appreciate the opportunity this

          7  morning, and we have quite a bit of business ahead

          8  of us, and with the weather.  In the short time that

          9  I have been on this Council, certainly relative to

         10  some of my colleagues who have served in a

         11  distinguished manner, I have learned that, as you

         12  said, the naming of the streets some people

         13  oftentimes think is sort of like, oh, well, we just

         14  sort of do that to have something to do on the City

         15  Council.  But I have learned in the hearings that I

         16  have attended when we have named them that there is

         17  enormous amount of history in communities that is

         18  only represented by individuals.  And as we here the

         19  stories, particularly in communities that are not, I

         20  think, in the same vision that the Mayor often has

         21  of this wonderful City that he talks about, and how

         22  everything is perfect, but are often in communities

         23  where it is only the community itself that

         24  recognizes its beauty.  And there are people as

         25  individuals who struggle to make that stay alive,
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          2  and I think that in renaming this section of 116th

          3  Street that nobody else sort of honors that place in

          4  time of a commitment to a community as Pete Pascale.

          5

          6                 I had an opportunity to meet him only

          7  once or twice, briefly, but the stories that I kept

          8  hearing about this man impressed me and I remember

          9  going to his Memorial Service and listening to what

         10  people had to say about him both in the service and

         11  on the street, and in a community that is,

         12  unfortunately, oftentimes divided by its elected

         13  officials in a racial context, Pete stood out as

         14  somebody who absolutely everybody in that community,

         15  whether they were Latino, African- American,

         16  Italian, Asian, immigrants, could say was a man that

         17  recognized that everybody had a place in East

         18  Harlem.

         19                 So I'm pleased to have the

         20  opportunity this morning to have this bill

         21  presented, and I'm looking forward to its passage.

         22  I know that we have some people here who have known

         23  him for a great period of time, who are going to

         24  testify.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very
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          2  much, Council Member Reed.  Let me say that you see

          3  the crowd people here, in order to give as many

          4  causes and opportunity to be exposed to the Council

          5  as possible, we do limit testimony.  If there are

          6  two or more witnesses here for any one Intro., we're

          7  going to ask one or two maximum, to give three

          8  minute presentation, the rest of them may just put

          9  their names on file by identifying themselves and

         10  saying for or against.  We do this because we have

         11  had occasions where people would monopolize the

         12  whole day, and we want to give everyone a chance.  I

         13  think the main thing, unless I'm mistaken, the

         14  reason why you're here with these street names is

         15  not to be heard so much as to get them passed.  If

         16  that is correct, then you will work with us in this

         17  manner.

         18                 For Intro. No. 394 do we have any

         19  witnesses for that?  Anyone?  All right, come take a

         20  seat here to my right, please, how many of you?

         21  Just two of you, just one, right here to my right,

         22  identify yourself for the record.  Now there is one

         23  here about cheesecake and it is my assumption they

         24  went to get the cheesecake, we're going to show you

         25  how liberal we are and yet how conservative we are
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          2  without no cheesecake, there will still be rain.

          3  All right, identify yourself of the record, please?

          4                 Good morning, just speak right into

          5  the microphone, this is being recorded.

          6                 MS. PASCALE:  Good morning, Council

          7  people, and distinguished, Philip Reed, from our

          8  community, and the Chairman. I am Rose Pascale, the

          9  wife of Pete Pascale, and I'm here to request the

         10  dedication of this block where Mr. Pascale grew up,

         11  his whole family, his life- long residence and life-

         12  long work with people of the community.

         13                 His life was coming from a poor

         14  immigrant when the Italians came here in the early

         15  1900's, and worked hard to try to get his way with

         16  the struggles for education and work.  And started

         17  going to the center, which is called the LaGuardia

         18  Memorial House on the same block, and started there

         19  as a young boy, started to work there, and continued

         20  until he died, at 82, which was in June of '97.

         21                 Most of his work was to help people

         22  whether it was any social services, basketball, many

         23  things.  I have a sheet that was printed in The

         24  Times when he died and it is attached to my sheet

         25  here.  His life was centered on that block, most of
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          2  the community groups, he was a member of Community

          3  Board #11, became a Chairman of Board #11, a member

          4  of the Harlem Council of East Harlem, the

          5  Commonwealth, and a member of 25th Street Precinct

          6  Council, East Harlem Concerned Directors of all the

          7  centers when they all came into being.  Of course,

          8  LaGuardia House was the only center when people

          9  started to come here, and finally we got housing

         10  projects and we have many community centers, and

         11  they have had to work together to help all the

         12  people.  And also the influx of new immigrants who

         13  didn't know the ways and means of the New York City

         14  living.

         15                 He retired at the age of 79 as

         16  Executive Director of the LaGuardia House, but

         17  continued to volunteer in the agency until he died,

         18  trying to help and move things on in many different

         19  aspects of their life of the people of East Harlem.

         20                 The obituary here, has more in it

         21  than I want to speak about, I could go on forever.

         22  I just want to tell you that we are celebrating in

         23  LaGuardia House the 100th year of its beginning, it

         24  came 1898, and this year is 100 years, and, in fact,

         25  we are honoring the good Mayor so he could honor
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          2  Mayor LaGuardia's granddaughter and we have had a

          3  good response of people coming to our event, which

          4  we have worked for, for many years.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, Ms.

          6  Pascale.

          7                 MS. PASCALE:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I have heard a

          9  great deal about your husband, even last night, I

         10  was called out of wakes to answer the phone, people

         11  talking about him.  There is one thing he did,

         12  though, that made it bad, he retired at 79, what

         13  about those of us who would like to retire earlier?

         14                 Thank you very much for your

         15  testimony.  All right, identify yourself for the

         16  record.

         17                 MR. WELDON:  I'm George Weldon,

         18  located in the community, and I would like to say to

         19  the Chairman of the Board, and Phil Reed, and those,

         20  Ms. Robinson, and everybody, that Pete was a great

         21  man.  He knew no racial distinction, he treated

         22  everybody as though they were his son, his children.

         23    He loved everybody, and he was a distinctive man

         24  in the community and a leader.  And it would be only

         25  fitting that this street be named Pete Pascale
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          2  Street in his honor.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, Mr.

          5  Weldon.  Thank you for coming, we know how busy you

          6  are.  For those of you who don't know, he is our

          7  friendly undertaker, but more than that he is a very

          8  committed community leader that is involved with the

          9  living more so than with the dead.  Thank you very

         10  much for coming.  Thank you very much, you're both

         11  excused.  Any questions from any of our members?

         12  All right, thank you very much.

         13                 MS. PASCALE:  You're welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm sure we will

         15  act shortly, favorably, I believe.

         16                 Mr. Fisher brings before us to rename

         17  the northwest corner of Flatbush and Dekalb Avenues

         18  in Brooklyn as Harry Rosen Way- Cheesecake Corner.

         19  Now, I have only been on this Committee for 20

         20  years, to my knowledge, this is the first time we

         21  named anything after a food, and I thought that, Mr.

         22  Fisher, on this very bad day would, at least, bring

         23  samples of cheesecake to those of you who would be

         24  here gather, I don't like cheesecake, I don't eat

         25  cheesecake, that doesn't mean I'm not going to vote
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          2  for it, Mr. Fisher.  But I did think you would have

          3  pity on those in the audience.  Don't you think he

          4  should have had pity on you?  Of course, he should

          5  have.  Just remember the name, Fisher, and do right

          6  by him, whatever he may ask you to do.

          7                 Let me just say that when we do name

          8  these streets, we put a second name on it, we are

          9  not displacing any existing names.  There are those

         10  that come to us and say, well, why are you going to

         11  take Sixth Avenue down, it's been there for 100

         12  years? It's not like that, you simply put an

         13  additional name under that street or above that

         14  street, so it will not confuse the postal

         15  authorities of the community.

         16                 Mr. Fisher, would you tell us about

         17  this street name, and then have Steve, bring the

         18  cheesecake in?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER:  Thank you

         20  very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for allowing

         21  the Preconsidered Introduction of this Item to be on

         22  the calendar for today.  It will facilitate the

         23  street naming, assuming that it is approved by the

         24  full Committee and the Council, and signed by the

         25  Mayor, to be announced publicly in conjunction with

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  a cookbook that I think you will be hearing about a

          3  little bit later.

          4                 Mr. Chairman, members of the Council,

          5  I have often said that I view the value of these

          6  street name changes in some way is inspirational, if

          7  just one young person is inspired as they walk down

          8  a street to look up and see a sign and ask, who was

          9  Harry Rosen and why was he worthy of this honor,

         10  that it was a valuable exercise.   In this case, the

         11  story is certainly inspiring enough, a son of

         12  immigrants working his way through school, family

         13  saving the pennies to open up a small soda parlor

         14  and parlaying that into a restaurant that is known

         15  throughout the world, that would certainly be an

         16  inspiring story for a young person.

         17                 But in addition to that, there is

         18  another reason why I wanted to sponsor this

         19  legislation and why we have also added the name

         20  Cheesecake Corner in this case.  Mr. Chairman, you

         21  may know that I grew up in Brooklyn not far from

         22  where Junior's Restaurant is located.  I remember

         23  what Downtown Brooklyn was like in the late sixties

         24  and the early seventies.  We were fearful as to

         25  whether or not Downtown was going to survive.  It
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          2  had developed a reputation as a dangerous place,

          3  shoppers were fleeing Fulton Street, A and S

          4  Department Store was struggling to survive, Long

          5  Island University had a reputation as a difficult

          6  place to go to school because of the nature of the

          7  neighborhood, and things were looking pretty bleak

          8  at that time.  And then one day, New York Magazine

          9  published an article, and they said that Junior's

         10  Cheesecake was the best in New York City.  And the

         11  next day there was a line around the block, you

         12  couldn't get in there.  All of a sudden it became

         13  sheik for people to travel from Manhattan and other

         14  parts of the City to come to Downtown Brooklyn.

         15                 And around that time, the Brooklyn

         16  Academy of Music started their New Wave Festival,

         17  today it is recognized as an international treasure,

         18  but in those days it was considered rather

         19  advanguard and risky.  But it became the fashionable

         20  thing for people to come to Downtown Brooklyn, go to

         21  BAM for a performance, and then stop at Junior's for

         22  a piece of cheesecake.  And that acted in a strange

         23  kind of way as the catalyst for some of the

         24  development that we went on to see in the Metrotech

         25  Complex, the new hotel that just opened, the
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          2  revitalization of Downtown Brooklyn, the enhanced

          3  reputation of Long Island University.

          4                 It's amazing to think that people

          5  needed a reason to come to Downtown Brooklyn in

          6  those days, but the cheesecake was it. And in view

          7  of that, it's a pleasure to sponsor this legislation

          8  in honor of Harry Rosen Way, and recognizing the

          9  contribution the cheesecake made to the development

         10  of Downtown Brooklyn in the City of New York.

         11                 I understand that Mr. Rosen's

         12  grandson, Allen, who is now one of the managers of

         13  the restaurant is here, and at the appropriate time,

         14  Madam Chair, he will be willing to testify.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank

         17  you very much, Council Member Fisher, for your

         18  testimony in regards to that.  Mr. Allen Rosen is

         19  here to testify, as well.  Would you please come and

         20  take your seat at the podium?  Mr. Allen Rosen, is

         21  he present?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER:  He is coming

         23  up.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Oh,

         25  okay, fine, thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, Ms.

          3  Robinson, I had an emergency call I had to take.  My

          4  daughter is stranded at the airport, I guess some of

          5  you know something about that; don't you?

          6                 You are related to the Rosen of the

          7  cheesecake?

          8                 MR. ROSEN:  Yes, my grandfather.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Steve, said you

         10  were responsible for bringing the cheesecake this

         11  morning, but I was told Steve was responsible, okay.

         12                 MR. ROSEN:  I was told it was

         13  inappropriate to bring cheesecake today, however, on

         14  a later date I would love to provide you with some.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just a thought,

         16  good, very good, you are quite wise.  Would you give

         17  your testimony, please?

         18                 MR. ROSEN:  I appreciate the

         19  opportunity to speak here today, this street naming

         20  is not just a street naming, however, it will

         21  provide that my grandfather's legacy not only lived

         22  on forever in our eyes and in our hearts, but on our

         23  corner. My grandfather actually opened a restaurant

         24  there in 1929, called the Enduro, and went broke

         25  actually a few times, in '28, he went broke in 1929,
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          2  when broke in 1948, and decided again to rebuild a

          3  restaurant there, and also, in 1981, our restaurant

          4  was burned to the ground, and again, we showed our

          5  commitment to the community and rebuilt our

          6  restaurant again.  We employ over 175 people within

          7  the local community and enjoy every day of it.

          8                 Yes, there is a cookbook coming out

          9  and all that stuff is fine and dandy, but that is

         10  not really the reason that we want out corner

         11  renamed.  We want it renamed, so my grandfather's

         12  legacy can be remembered forever.  And as Ken said,

         13  a young child walking my way, may look up and say,

         14  hey, why is this street corner named after Harry

         15  Rosen, who is he?  And that would be all I need.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         17                 MR. ROSEN:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Those of us

         19  who, even those who are not living in Brooklyn, we

         20  have often been fascinated and enriched by the

         21  restaurant, and my wife and daughters, especially

         22  buy that cheesecake.  Thank you very much.

         23                 MR. ROSEN:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Anyone else on

         25  this Intro.? All right, thank you, we will couple
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          2  that one alone.  Next one, Mr. Ira Pers, our Counsel

          3  will speak on behalf of Intro. 362.

          4                 MR. PERS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5  Catherine Rashke was born on March 2nd, 1914, in the

          6  High Bridge section of the Bronx, she graduated from

          7  PS 11 in June 1925, and Theater Roosevelt High

          8  School in June 1929, and in June of 1932 she

          9  graduated from the New York City Training School for

         10  Teachers.

         11                 She went onto serve the children of

         12  this City in the school system for many years.  When

         13  she retired, she had served more than 43 years in a

         14  New York City Public School System, including as

         15  principal of PS 14, where she served until her

         16  retirement in August 30th, 1978.

         17                 Council Members Provenzano and Abel

         18  have requested and introduced this legislation to

         19  rename the corner of Hollywood Avenue and the

         20  Bruckner Boulevard Service Road South, "Dr.

         21  Catherine Rashke Plaza."

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, Mr.

         23  Pers.  Anyone else here to speak on this Intro.?  If

         24  not, I'm going to ask if the Council Members present

         25  and who are members of the Committee will let us
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          2  vote on this time on these three street names, and

          3  then we will continue the rest of our business.

          4  Yes, Mr. Pers, would you, please?

          5                 MR. PERS:  Roll call on the

          6  Preconsidered Intro. On Intro. 362, Intro. 394,

          7  Resolution 20, and to file Resolution 377, 438, and

          8  492, all coupled for one vote.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, roll

         10  call.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Aye on all.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Fisher.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Robinson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Eristoff.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Golden.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Six in the

         24  affirmative, none in the negative, adopted, please,

         25  sign the reports?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I would

          3  recommend that we keep the vote open in case other

          4  Council members should show because the weather is a

          5  little bad; is that is all right by common consent?

          6  Thank you very much.  Intro. 20, Council Member

          7  Perkins is here. Council Member Perkins, I

          8  understand you would like to say something.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I just

         10  wanted to, first of all, acknowledge our good

         11  neighboring leader in the community, Ms. Pete

         12  Pascale, who is here with some of her family and

         13  friends, and to express my appreciation, again, and

         14  again, and again, for the extraordinary work that

         15  Pete has made in contributions that he has made to,

         16  not only the community, but to myself in particular,

         17  because when I first got started in this life of

         18  public service, I was a member of the Board, and

         19  Pete took me under his wing to sort of share with me

         20  the wealth of information and knowledge he had about

         21  the community and about the processes.  So I have to

         22  give him credit for where I am today, and I know

         23  that you are continuing your work in the community,

         24  and I just wanted to express that and to commend my

         25  colleague, Phil Reed, for taking the initiative to
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          2  acknowledge his contribution by having the street

          3  renamed in his honor, and, of course, I'm proud to

          4  have joined him in that regard as well.  So, thank

          5  you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you,

          7  Council Member Perkins.  I acknowledge your

          8  presence, also the presence of Council Member Golden

          9  from Brooklyn.  Thank you very much.

         10                 Resolution No. 20, introduced by

         11  Council Member Foster, Cruz, Henry, Marshall,

         12  Eisland, and others, commends the Department of

         13  Parks and Recreation and 700 volunteers for the

         14  successful completion of the Street Tree Census and

         15  calling for hearings, which we are now doing on the

         16  Census, based on that.

         17                 The Administration will speak first,

         18  that is from the City.  Would you, please, identify

         19  yourselves for the record, and tell us what is on

         20  your mind?

         21                 MS. WATT:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         22  Mr. Chairman and members of the Parks Committee, my

         23  name is Fiona Watt.  I am the Director of Central

         24  Forestry for Parks and Recreation.  I am joined at

         25  the table by Tom Reidy, Director of Operations and
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          2  Management Planning.  We are pleased to testify

          3  before your Committee today on Intro. 185,

          4  Resolution 438, Resolution 20, and Resolution 492 on

          5  behalf of Mayor Giuliani and Commissioner Stern.

          6                 The Administrative Code grants the

          7  Parks Commissioner jurisdiction over all trees

          8  located on public streets and parks, a total of more

          9  than 2.5 million trees.  It is our responsibility to

         10  care for, cultivate, and protect all of these trees,

         11  which is, as you are aware, is a considerable task.

         12  The proposed legislation would expand the Parks

         13  Commissioner's jurisdiction to approve the removal

         14  of trees on private property.

         15                 We understand the spirit of this

         16  bill, which at first glance seems to be to protect

         17  trees on private property from unnecessary removal.

         18  Whether they are on parkland or on private property,

         19  trees are very important to New York City.  They

         20  improve air quality, reduce erosion, increase

         21  property values and add beauty to our neighborhoods.

         22    Each tree that is removed reduces this aggregate

         23  benefit, and we applaud efforts to protect trees

         24  from removal.

         25                 We are concerned, however, that the
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          2  proposed legislation is too vague, and will create

          3  significant procedural difficulties for the City and

          4  determined economic development. First, there are

          5  several parts of the bill which are unclear.  For

          6  example, the bill gives the Parks Commissioner

          7  authority to create tree protection zones and to

          8  issue permits for the removal of trees on private

          9  property.  However, it is not clear if a permit

         10  would be required for the removal of any tree on

         11  private property, or for only those within

         12  protection zones.

         13                 Second, the establishment of such a

         14  permitting process would be onerous and necessitate

         15  a new level of bureaucracy for Parks and the

         16  Department of Buildings.

         17                 Third, a new permitting requirement

         18  would add more steps to the construction process for

         19  private citizens and businesses, and could cause

         20  delays in, increase the cost of, and generally

         21  discourage new development.  Therefore, although we

         22  understand the spirit of this bill, we are unable to

         23  endorse it.

         24                 We believe that "Keeping the Green

         25  Promise: An Action Plan for New York City's Urban
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          2  Forest," released by the Regional Plan Association,

          3  is an effort to encourage the protection of our

          4  City's street trees.  However, it ignores the great

          5  improvements we have made in our urban forestry

          6  program at Parks in the areas of tree maintenance,

          7  planting, and administration over the last five

          8  years.  We have eliminated our years- old backlog of

          9  thousands of requests for dead tree and stump

         10  removals, put all of the City's street trees on a

         11  ten- year pruning cycle, and implemented a

         12  computerized system to track each street tree.  We

         13  have also doubled our tree planting, piloted new

         14  planting programs, and created public- private

         15  partnerships to protect trees.

         16                 We have been able to advance many of

         17  these initiatives with the information we gained

         18  from our comprehensive street tree census.  During

         19  the summers of 1995 and 1996, with the help of more

         20  than 700 volunteers, we canvassed the City to record

         21  the species, location, size, and health of all of

         22  the City's street trees,  and we certainly

         23  appreciate the City Council's recognition of our

         24  work.  This census provided us with a most accurate

         25  account in recent years of the total street tree
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          2  population.  We have used this information as a

          3  management tool to improve our forestry policies and

          4  programming.  We have entered all information about

          5  all 498,000 trees surveyed in the census into our

          6  database, Tree Manager, which we use to track all

          7  service requests and the maintenance history of each

          8  tree.  This modernization has helped us move forward

          9  with many of the urban forestry initiatives I

         10  mentioned earlier, and we are proud of these

         11  improvements.  In 1998, in fact, we were recognized

         12  with a program award from the National Arbor Day

         13  Foundation for the success, both of our street tree

         14  census and Green Streets programs.  We thank the

         15  City Council for its commendation of our street tree

         16  census, and we look forward to your continued

         17  support of all of our efforts to care for the City's

         18  street trees.

         19                 MR. REIDY:  As Fiona stated, my name

         20  is Tom Reidy, and I am the Director of Operations

         21  and Management Planning at Parks.  The Columbia

         22  University Report to the Parks Council, titled,

         23   "Inspecting New York City's Parks: A Pilot Test of

         24  an Expanded Inspection System," acknowledges and

         25  applauds the success of our Parks Inspection
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          2  Program, and recommends that we expand our

          3  inspections to include large parks.  As part of the

          4  Parks Inspection Program, we already conduct over

          5  2,700 inspections annually of our playgrounds and

          6  parks under six acres.  In 1995, we began to use

          7  this program as an intensive management tool,

          8  focusing on playgrounds and small parks because they

          9  are the most heavily used properties, contain the

         10  most infrastructure, and require the most

         11  maintenance.  We agree with the report's overall

         12  conclusion that we should begin formally inspecting

         13  parks over six acres in size, and we are currently

         14  developing a large Parks Inspection Program.

         15                 However, we do not agree with the

         16  study's findings regarding the conditions of the ten

         17  medium to large size parks that were inspected.  The

         18  report states that a large portion of our pathways,

         19  trees, lakes, lawns, and drinking fountains were in

         20  unacceptable condition.  Although we acknowledge

         21  that some of the problematic conditions identified

         22  in the report may exist in localized areas within

         23  these ten parks, we do not believe that the problems

         24  are representative of the ten parks in their

         25  entirety, and they are certainly not representative
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          2  of the conditions in all of our large parks.  We

          3  attribute this misrepresentation to the study's

          4  limited scope.  At eight of the ten parks examined

          5  in the study, inspections consisted of a single

          6  visit to small sample areas within each.  These

          7  inspections were conducted during the middle of a

          8  summer drought.  In contrast, we inspect all of our

          9  playgrounds and small parks in their entirety at

         10  least twice a year, collecting extensive data from

         11  which we can draw comprehensive conclusions about

         12  the condition of our properties.

         13                 We also do not agree with the

         14  report's conclusion that Parks deploys the majority

         15  of personnel at these ten parks exclusively towards

         16  the maintenance and upkeep of the ratable

         17  playgrounds within these parks.  Personnel are

         18  deployed equitably across all areas of these parks,

         19  including ratable playgrounds.

         20                 Although we disagree with some of the

         21  study's methodology and findings, we are already

         22  moving forward with the development of a large parks

         23  inspection program.  We appreciate your support of

         24  this program in the future.

         25                 Thank you for inviting us to testify
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          2  before you today.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you for

          4  your testimony. And may I suggest that if you two

          5  would be kind enough, yourselves or appoint someone

          6  to meet with our Counsel, Mr. Pers and Council

          7  Member Leffler and see if we can't not have a - -

          8                 MR. REIDY:  Of course.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right?  Mr.

         10  Pers will be in touch with you so we can set up a

         11  time.

         12                 MR. REIDY:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         14  much.  Questions from Council Member Reed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair.  I appreciate the testimony this morning, and

         17  I applaud a lot of the effort to try and not only

         18  catalog an inventory, a valuable inventory and

         19  resource here in this City, but to maintain that

         20  inventory.  And I think that the Parks Department

         21  has done, under the circumstances, a fairly good job

         22  of doing that.  I know we will here testimony later

         23  on today about that, but I'm curious to know, I

         24  mean, your Commissioner is infamous, I guess, for

         25  wrapping himself around a tree, and I think that is
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          2  great, but I'm just curious what circumstances can

          3  we actually ever take a tree out. You know if there

          4  is a reason to want to remove a tree, could you tell

          5  me what the circumstances would have to be?

          6                 MS. WATT:  Sure, first of all, we

          7  remove about 10,000 trees every year, and we have

          8  professional arborists who go out and evaluate every

          9  single tree, and certainly we look at whether the

         10  tree is clearly dead or not, and a tree doesn't have

         11  to be completely dead to be hazardous or dangerous

         12  and to warrant removal.  We look at the canopy

         13  cover, we look at stems or cracks in the trunk, we

         14  look at the branching structure, the position of the

         15  tree relative to things around it, there are a lot

         16  of different criteria that we rate.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I'm thinking

         18  specifically of some areas in my district where

         19  we're trying to do some work in the parks, and in

         20  the evaluation that we have tried to do, in fact,

         21  with some of the parks personnel, I won't take it

         22  any further, because they will be fearful for their

         23  jobs.  There was a discussion about the obviousness

         24  of needing to perhaps remove a tree so that we could

         25  put the playground here because there is a whole
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          2  bunch of other trees all around and there is no

          3  light coming into this particular playground.  So

          4  let's assume that the tree was healthy, but that the

          5  circumstances about trying to redesign this park so

          6  that people would actually use it, required us to

          7  take a tree down, what would be the possibility of

          8  getting the permission of the Park Department to do

          9  that?

         10                 MS. WATT:  Very simply, any situation

         11  like that would have to be evaluated on the case by

         12  case basis, and if you like to bring certain

         13  situations to our knowledge, we would be happy to

         14  sit down and talk to you about it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  So the final

         16  word on that belongs to the Commissioner, is that

         17  it?

         18                 MS. WATT:  Each tree we evaluate on a

         19  case- by- case basis.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  But the final

         21  word on that belongs to the Commissioner, is that,

         22  or to the Parks Department, let me be a little bit

         23  more generous today.

         24                 MS. WATT:  To the Parks Department

         25  for trees on public property that are in parks or
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          2  along the street, that is our jurisdictional

          3  control.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I see.  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   All right, Mr.

          7  Golden and Mr. Eristoff.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.  Good morning.  Thank you for becoming

         10  before us today.  The Intro. 185, it is your

         11  contention that it would have considerable delays

         12  and would also become considerably burdensome to the

         13  New York City Parks Department; am I correct?

         14                 MS. WATT:  I believe my testimony was

         15  delays to economic development, construction delays,

         16  and then an administrative burden to the agency.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  And that is

         18  an excessive burden, you believe, as well?

         19                 MS. WATT:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, any

         23  other Council members have any questions?  Mr.

         24  Eristoff, he is not here.  Would you just stick

         25  around, please, I know Councilman Eristoff had
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          2  questions to ask, we will take some of the other

          3  witnesses now, please?  Just take a seat in the

          4  audience, thank you.

          5                 Mr. Paul Berizzi, am I saying that

          6  correctly, Mr. Paul B- E- R- I- Z- Z- I?  Is he

          7  here?  Oh, thank you.

          8                 Mr. Berizzi, is that the correct way

          9  of saying it?

         10                 MR. BERIZZI:  Berizzi.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You're here to

         12  speak on all the tree items; is that it?

         13                 MR. BERIZZI:  Two in particular, Sir.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Two in

         15  particular.

         16                 MR. BERIZZI:  Intro. 438 and, I'm

         17  sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Would you

         19  identify yourself for the record by speaking

         20  directly into the microphone, please?

         21                 MR. BERIZZI:  Yes, Sir.  My name is

         22  Paul Berizzi. I'm Executive Director of

         23  Environmental Action Coalition, the 29 year- old,

         24  not- for- profit, education and advocacy

         25  organization in New York City, and we are grateful
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          2  for this opportunity, Mr. Chairman and members of

          3  the Committee, to share with you a brief summary of

          4  the recommendations found in our report, "Keeping

          5  the Green Promise:  An Action Plan for New York

          6  City's Urban Forest." This was an 18- month long

          7  examination of all the trees in the five boroughs.

          8  It was prepared by four authors, guided by a

          9  steering committee of 15 and draws on the concerns

         10  of hundreds of New Yorkers gone under 10 public

         11  listening sessions.

         12                 While additional resources are

         13  required to achieve some of our goals, many

         14  recommendations simply require that the millions of

         15  dollars already available for tree planting and care

         16  be spent more effectively.  New York City currently

         17  invests about $10 million annually in tree plantings

         18  and about $9 million in maintenance.  Even with the

         19  additional investment called for in our report, the

         20  City would be spending only one- third the amount

         21  the average municipality in America provides for

         22  tree management.

         23                 How many of you have ever voted for

         24  Municipal budgets that included millions of dollars

         25  for tree planting?  I bet all of you.  Have you ever
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          2  wondered why with all that funding year after- year

          3  there aren't trees lining every street in New York

          4  City? The reason is one out of three is dead within

          5  five years, in fact, because of this high mortality,

          6  the total curbside tree population declined roughly

          7  10 percent since 1984, as the chart below shows. It

          8  does not have to be this way.

          9                 Have you ever wondered why some

         10  neighborhoods get hundreds of trees planted along

         11  their streets each year, and others only a few?  It

         12  doesn't have to be this way.  In 1996, a mere three

         13  trees, street trees were planted in East Harlem,

         14  working with community residents there,

         15  Environmental Action Coalition secured more than 200

         16  trees for the neighborhood in 1997, graciously

         17  provided by the Parks Department.  This is a model

         18  we are now recreating in four other neighborhoods,

         19  including Hunts Point, and I see some people here

         20  from the Point today, thank you for coming. We ask

         21  the Council and the City to consider copying this

         22  method elsewhere.  The chart below shows you where

         23  the needs are greatest.

         24                 Have you ever wondered why the

         25  Mayor's Management Report tells you nothing about
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          2  the number of trees pruned or removed in the 1,500

          3  parks and playgrounds in the five boroughs, such as

          4  Macoons (phonetic) Dam Park, McCarren Park, and

          5  Morning Side Park?  The reason is there is nothing

          6  to report, it doesn't have to be this way.

          7                 As you will see in the chart below,

          8  most public trees in New York City do not line our

          9  streets, yet that is where virtually all Municipal

         10  tree care resources are expended.  Keeping the Green

         11  Promise, offers a practical and cost- effective

         12  recommendation for commencing a City- wide parks and

         13  playgrounds, tree hazard reduction program.

         14                 Once again, many of the

         15  recommendations in Keeping the Green Promise do not

         16  require additional funding, but merely a change in

         17  Municipal attitude and practices.  And this, by the

         18  way, is a challenge that has been laid down by every

         19  New York City Mayor since the fiscal crisis of the

         20  late 1970s.

         21                 We proposed that the Council and the

         22  Administration adopt a series of steps, summarized

         23  here in there 56- page report, including more than

         24  200 footnoted references, which together will create

         25  a larger, healthier, and more diverse urban forest.
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          2  Specifically, we call on all City agencies planting

          3  trees to enlarge curbside tree pit size up to five

          4  by ten feet, and we commend and thank the Parks

          5  Department for taking the lead in that initiative,

          6  it will make a great difference.  Utilizing compost

          7  around trees as Local Law 19 mandates, not just

          8  stock piling it, as is now the case, would do much

          9  for trees.

         10                 If I may, Mr. Chairman, I would like

         11  to provide you- -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Say again on the

         13  microphone, please?

         14                 MR. BERIZZI:  Yes, Sir.  I'm

         15  providing you with the duplicate sets of

         16  photographs, which I would like you to pass among

         17  the Council Members.  Enlarging the protection zone

         18  around mature trees during construction would

         19  prevent fatal and frequent root damage.  The current

         20  standards are inadequate and often not enforced, as

         21  these photographs taken a few months ago illustrate.

         22                 We ask the Sanitation Department to

         23  modernize winter roads salting techniques, which

         24  would save the City money, prevent soil

         25  contamination, and protect costal waters.
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          2  Specifically, we recommend the simple pre- wetting

          3  of salt before it is applied, which can reduce

          4  overall salt requirements by as much as 40 percent.

          5  Planting a greater variety of species would make for

          6  healthier street and park tress, and help avoid

          7  disasters, such as the loss of a thousand trees in

          8  recent years in the Greenpoint/Williamsburg section

          9  of Brooklyn.  We ask the City to implement a program

         10  of contract growing to ensure that it will have the

         11  necessary variety of trees at its disposal.

         12                 Instituting regular maintenance

         13  cycles can address hazard trees in parks and

         14  playgrounds and along roadways before problems

         15  occur, before taxpayers complain.  Contracting with

         16  private industry for all street tree care will save

         17  the City money. Each tree tended today by a

         18  municipal worker costs taxpayers almost 50 percent

         19  more than it would if purchased from private

         20  industry.           Manage the City's extraordinary

         21  assemblage of woodlands, the City should commit

         22  resources to build on millions in private, previous

         23  dollar investments, and if trees are the lungs of

         24  the City, it breathes best in woodlands.  We

         25  proposed 1 percent of the Parks' agencies $150
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          2  million budget be devoted to these 20 percent of its

          3  land holdings.

          4                 Working through the Parks Department

          5  who, as our report says on page 5, and its

          6  Commissioner Stern, is the most vocal advocate for

          7  trees the agency has ever had, we propose an Urban

          8  Forestry Board, which would help ensure that many

          9  public and private players now active in the field,

         10  work together.  This would include enhanced adult

         11  and youth education opportunities.

         12                 Finally, increase the total tree

         13  population by one million trees in the next 20

         14  years.  The City should - -  yes, thank you, thank

         15  you.  Was that a gardener?  Are you a gardener?

         16                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Just a person

         17  who breathes.

         18                 MR. BERIZZI:  Okay, and we do want to

         19  point out to all of the gardeners here, that we

         20  pointed out in our report that one of the most

         21  important repositories for trees in the City are the

         22  hundreds and hundreds of community gardens in the

         23  five boroughs.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I believe we

         25  heard you.
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          2                 MR. BERIZZI:  We sure did.  We would

          3  welcome the opportunity to work with the Parks

          4  Department, the Administration, the City Council,

          5  and thousands of concerned citizens to fulfill a

          6  Green Promise made to New Yorkers many times in the

          7  past centuries, but never achieved.  This is an

          8  opportunity for everyone to do the right thing, life

          9  for trees in a densely developed urban area may

         10  never be ideal, but it need not be so bad.  Together

         11  we can make a difference.

         12                 And if I may, Mr. Chairman, just

         13  briefly respond to a couple of the remarks made by

         14  the Parks Department representatives?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         16                 MR. BERIZZI:  First of all, I can

         17  show you here correspondence that occurred between

         18  us, the Regional Plan Association, prior to the

         19  publication of our report, and every one of the

         20  initiatives that we were asked to include in our

         21  report is included in our report, so I respectfully

         22  disagree with the comment that we ignored the great

         23  improvements that were made under Commissioner

         24  Stern, we, in fact, acknowledged those and helped

         25  them.
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          2                 With all due respect, on the issue

          3  eliminating the backlog of dead trees, that, for

          4  lack of a better word, is kind of a bogus measure,

          5  because - -

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What is that

          7  word again?

          8                 MR. BERIZZI:  Bogus, Sir.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, I see, thank

         10  you.

         11                 MR. BERIZZI:  The City relies on

         12  citizen complaints to determine how many dead trees

         13  need to be removed.  In other words, Sir, if a tree

         14  is standing dead in a park playground or along the

         15  streets and it is not reported to the City, in the

         16  City's mind it doesn't exist.  They, in fact, and we

         17  commend them for eliminating the backlog of dead

         18  trees reported to the City and responding to those

         19  now within in 30 days, as they claim.  However, that

         20  does not represent anything near the number of dead

         21  trees out there along our streets and in our parks,

         22  and that was brought out by the Parks Council

         23  Report, which you will hear testimony about later.

         24  Again, we commend the Department for the street tree

         25  census, but we know, Sir, that only 20 percent of
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          2  all the public trees in New York City line our

          3  streets, and therefore, if you're only counting and

          4  tending street trees, you are missing most of the

          5  whole.

          6                 And finally on the subject of the

          7  database, again, we commend them for the work with

          8  the tree manager program, but if, in fact, the data

          9  that are in there are representative of the street

         10  tree census principally, then they are data that are

         11  three years- old, and in those three years there has

         12  been a population change of more than 10 percent out

         13  there, and thus the data is not anywhere as useful

         14  as they might be.

         15                 Anyway, at the suggestion of Ira

         16  Pers, we have three panels that are going to speak

         17  briefly about the three principal kind of trees that

         18  we have in New York City.  Our first panel is on the

         19  subject of street trees.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just before you

         21  do that, - -

         22                 MR. BERIZZI:  Yes, Sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: - -  let me ask

         24  the - -

         25                 MR. BERIZZI:  Yes, please, I'm sorry.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: - -  Council

          3  members if they have any questions to direct to you.

          4    All right then.

          5                 MR. BERIZZI:  Would the members of

          6  the street tree panel who have made it, come on up

          7  here, if you're here, Naomi Zurcher, Bruce McInnes,

          8  Paul Kerzner, John Kupiec, and Arthur Shepard?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Identify

         10  yourselves for the record, please, and begin your

         11  testimony?

         12                 MS. ZURCHER:  Good morning, Council

         13  members and visitors.  My name is Naomi Zurcher.

         14  I'm a Certified Arborist and the Chairperson of

         15  Region 2's New York ReLeaf Planning Committee. New

         16  York ReLeaf is the educational and technology

         17  transfer component of New York State's Urban and

         18  Community Forestry Program, administered by New York

         19  State DEC's Bureau of Forest Resource Management and

         20  funded by the USDA Forest Service.

         21                 This broad- reaching program has been

         22  designed to involve active participation from all

         23  aspects of the concerned populace: Forestry

         24  professionals, dedicated citizens, academicians and

         25  researchers, representatives from business and
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          2  industry as well as government officials.  It has,

          3  as one of its primary goals, sought to bring an

          4  informed awareness of the Urban Forest, its value

          5  and its needs, to each and every built community in

          6  the State.

          7                 Sustainable urban ecosystems are

          8  synonymous with vital and sustainable communities

          9  which, in turn are built on healthy environments.  A

         10  crucial part of any city's environment is its Urban

         11  Forest.  New York City's Urban Forest, a major

         12  contributor to the environmental, social, and

         13  economic well- being of all citizens residing within

         14  it, is a very valuable asset, and thus warrants our

         15  attention and concern.  That attention and concern

         16  has been wanting.

         17                 Despite an increased understanding of

         18  the benefits that mature trees provide, our street

         19  tree population is in decline.  As the City's mature

         20  tree population succumbs to old age, our street

         21  scape will change radically.  Our inability to

         22  sustain longevity in our newly planted street trees

         23  will result in the loss of the canopy we have come

         24  to take for granted.  Our procedures for buying

         25  trees often result in the use of material that
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          2  should never have left the nursery.  Our

          3  unwillingness to establish cutting- edge

          4  specifications and allot the time and attention we

          5  need to plant a tree correctly, combined with the

          6  absurdity of putting a tree that will reach 50 to 70

          7  feet in a 5' X 5' tree pit is the equivalent of

          8  signing an early death warrant.

          9                 In addition, we have not provided for

         10  a well informed citizen participation, a crucial

         11  component of a management strategy that supports

         12  best practices at a level that sustains the

         13  resource.  In New York City, where we have 500,000

         14  street trees, over 2,000,000 Park, Park forest,

         15  woodland, and open space trees, informed citizen

         16  stewardship and advocacy are essential.  My own

         17  observations made in communities all over New York

         18  City or that many people want to do something for

         19  their trees, but were incorrect or inadequate

         20  information, the result is often more harmful than

         21  good.  That positive energy needs to be harnessed

         22  and directed constructively to an outcome that

         23  benefits the community and the community's trees.

         24                 There is no Management Plan in place

         25  that would define planning, management, maintenance,
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          2  funding and design for our Urban Forest, nor do we

          3  have a Chief Forester or an Urban Forest Management

          4  Board to develop and/or administer such a plan, nor

          5  the Municipal Urban Forest Management Ordinance to

          6  provide the backbone and structure such a plan

          7  requires.

          8                 It is obvious that substantive

          9  improvements will not be felt, from a tree's point

         10  of view, by merely proposing improved

         11  specifications, asking for larger forestry budgets,

         12  or recruiting more volunteers.  As good as these

         13  things are, they are all, to some extent, currently

         14  happening.  And few critical improvements are being

         15  felt at the level of leaves and roots.

         16                 New York ReLeaf Region 2's Action

         17  Subcommittee has proposed one way to organize a

         18  service- delivery system with trees and the urban

         19  natural world as the ultimate client.  We have been

         20  inspired by and have included, the best of what is

         21  happening in this City and elsewhere.  We have

         22  proposed new models where none now exist.  Although

         23  we recognize that most organizations and individuals

         24  are trying to do their best, it is clear that

         25  comprehensive and profound change must occur to
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          2  begin to provide even minimally appropriate

          3  stewardship.  I submit this draft working document,

          4   "Recommendations for an Urban Forest Management

          5  Plan," for your consideration.  I believe I speak

          6  for all of my greening colleagues when I say that we

          7  would welcome the opportunity to provide any

          8  assistance in helping facilitate change, all of us,

          9  present and future citizens and trees, have only to

         10  gain.

         11                 Thank you.  And I would like to

         12  introduce - -

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON:  Thank

         14  you very much, Ms. Zurcher.  Now, Mr. Pers,

         15  according to the line- up of panelists, is the next

         16  person to speak Bruce McInnes?

         17                 MS. ZURCHER:  Bruce McInnes of Tree

         18  Care Consultancy of New York.

         19                 MR. PERS:  Yes, Ma'am.

         20                 MS. ZURCHER:  And then Paul Kerzner

         21  of Ridgewood Restoration Corporation.

         22                 MR. KERZNER:  Thank you very much.  I

         23  will be brief, Councilman.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         25                 MR. KERZNER:  My name is Paul
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          2  Kerzner, the President of the Greater Ridge

          3  Restoration Corporation in Ridgewood, Queens. And

          4  I'm here to speak on behalf of Resolution 438

          5  dealing with the Regional Plan Association Report.

          6                 Twenty years ago we embarked on a

          7  tree planting program in Ridgewood, which we have

          8  expanded into the other communities which surround

          9  us both in Queens and in Brooklyn.  And what we

         10  discovered, quite by accident, that trees are an

         11  important tool to help stabilized neighborhoods.  On

         12  two blocks on DeKalb Avenue in Brooklyn, 20 years

         13  ago, we discovered that for every dollar that the

         14  City Capital Budget was put in for street trees, the

         15  City got back over $10 in new private sector

         16  investment by the homeowners and businesses on those

         17  streets.  We found that startling, and we have seen

         18  those numbers continue to repeat themselves on the

         19  blocks that get massive tree plantings over the past

         20  20 years.

         21                 The canopy in the City of New York

         22  now, in most of your Councilmanic districts is only

         23  16 percent, that means the other 84 percent doesn't

         24  have trees or trees large enough to support a

         25  reduction in energy costs for your businesses.  And
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          2  we do commend the Parks Department that they're

          3  moving in the direction under Commissioner Henry

          4  Stern with their initiatives.  But the Parks

          5  Department needs the capital and expense dollars to

          6  do the job that the Regional Plan Association Report

          7  has outlined.

          8                 By Parks Department's own figures,

          9  they are losing about 10,000 street trees a year,

         10  they're planting about 15,000 a year, so we have a

         11  net gain of about 5,000 trees a year.  Based upon

         12  that number and the percentage of canopy we have in

         13  the City, it will take New York City some 200 years

         14  to achieve canopy.  Now I can't wait that long at

         15  the age of 48, but I do believe that by the time I'm

         16  68 we could have canopy in the City of New York in

         17  all of your Councilmanic districts.  And the way to

         18  do that, very simply, is by looking at the budget.

         19                 The Administration and the City

         20  Council have to work together for the next 20 years

         21  to come up with capital funds of some $30 million a

         22  year for street trees for your neighborhoods, and

         23  for some $20 million a year in the expense budget

         24  for pruning and maintenance.  It is a long- term

         25  commitment that this Council and this Administration
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          2  has to make and it has to be pursued and continued

          3  by the subsequent Councils and the Administrations

          4  in the City for the next 20 years.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  As I caution you

          7  again, so that I wouldn't have to eliminate anyone,

          8  try to curtail your remarks, please?  All right?

          9                 MS. ZURCHER:  The next person that

         10  will speak will be Mr. Bruce McInnes of Tree Care

         11  Consultancy of New York.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Who is this?

         13                 MS. ZURCHER:  Bruce McInnes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, all

         15  right.

         16                 MR. MCINNES:  Good morning, sorry to

         17  just walk in the door.  My name is Bruce McInnes.  I

         18  am the President of the Tree Care Consultancy of New

         19  York.  I am a member of or on the Board of several

         20  greening groups.  I have been doing what I do for

         21  over 20 years, I don't sell tree services, I don't

         22  maintain trees, I don't own any trucks, I don't own

         23  any chain saws, I really, only, only try to help

         24  people make what I hope are good, reasonable,

         25  management decisions about their trees, whether it's
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          2  a private individual that has one tree, or a City

          3  agency that is trying to protect thousands of them

          4  along the roadway.

          5                 Anything that involves tree problems

          6  in New York City accrues to me financially, the

          7  greater the level of confusion in the public mind or

          8  agency minds, the more often my phone rings and the

          9  more clients I have, because what I do is try to

         10  help solve these problems.

         11                 What is before you is a plan, a map,

         12  by which the number of problems, the number of

         13  issues that face all of us through our trees, but

         14  particularly face those agencies tasked with dealing

         15  with trees.  Many of these issues are addressed in

         16  this document and through this plan.  The main

         17  problem is, and I want to state this as urgently as

         18  I can to you, that for many, many years now the

         19  Parks Department's budget has been cut and slashed

         20  and reduced to a point where they for a long, long

         21  time have not even approached the needs of

         22  maintaining and planting trees here, they're not

         23  going to do that in future with what they have got.

         24                 Mr. Kerzner, put some dollar, some

         25  numbers on the table for you.  Those are minimal
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          2  numbers to try to move ahead, but in addition to

          3  that, I would like you all to appreciate that no

          4  matter what happens here today in terms of this

          5  document and those numbers, all of the trees, all of

          6  the public trees in New York City are less well

          7  cared for than they ought to be.  There are other

          8  issues that will be presented today regarding census

          9  and the like, and some of the numbers that you have

         10  been presented with are flawed in terms of the good

         11  condition of our trees, our trees are in terrible

         12  condition.  The only way to approach it is with a

         13  plan, this is a plan that can get us where we need

         14  to go, and unfortunately, we will have to wait 20

         15  years to get a million trees here, but it will be 25

         16  years if we don't start for five years.  So let's

         17  start today, and move ahead with this.

         18                 Thank you for your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Excuse me, I

         20  appreciate your applause, but I'm trying to hear

         21  everyone and we just don't have time for it.

         22  Understand?  We're here for me to conduct this

         23  meeting.  All right, next person, please?

         24                 MS. ZURCHER:  The next person on the

         25  list is John Kupiec of Neighborhood Roots.
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          2                 MR. KUPIEC:  I'm glad to be able to

          3  address the City Council's Committee on Parks.  My

          4  name is John Kupiec.  I am Co Founder of

          5  Neighborhood Roots, a grassroots community

          6  organization located in the Greenpoint section of

          7  Brooklyn.  I'm here today not only to reiterate the

          8  important reasons for planting street trees and

          9  greening our urban environment, but to also relay my

         10  personal experiences over the past two years during

         11  the deforestation and reforestation of my community,

         12  Greenpoint, Brooklyn.

         13                 Although our community suffered an

         14  uncommon occurrence when there was a immediate need

         15  to remove almost 1,000 living trees, the invent in

         16  some ways made more vivid and magnified problems

         17  that exist with our tree planting policies in this

         18  City. When our community of Greenpoint was

         19  confronted with the prospect of losing so much of

         20  its tree canopy, the impact was both physically and

         21  emotionally devastating.  The horror of losing

         22  magnificent 80- year- old maples was frightening

         23  enough but then we were told that there was no

         24  replanting program in place. Fortunately, Paul

         25  Berizzi and the Environmental Action Coalition was

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  there at the very beginning of the crisis,

          3  recognized the need, and worked to secure an SBA

          4  grant.  That grant enabled trees to be planted that

          5  first spring after the tree removal, and for that

          6  the Greenpoint community is forever grateful.

          7                 The road to secure the millions of

          8  dollars necessary to dig into mitigate the tree loss

          9  was an uphill one.  My neighborhood had to march and

         10  rally for a responsible and adequate replanting

         11  program before a $2.7 million was allocated.  The

         12  funding needed to restore our tree loss was not

         13  automatic, the replacement of the existing tree

         14  canopy should be.  Residents should not have to

         15  anguish over the protection of their existing, and

         16  in most cases, already inadequate tree population.

         17                 I hope the tree census will be

         18  updated and used to evaluate where we are now and

         19  where we need to go.   Whether in lush Forest Hills

         20  Garden in Queens or the sparsely green community of

         21  Red Hook in Brooklyn, existing canopy must be

         22  maintained. Although an Urban Forestry Board could

         23  greatly help to coordinate funding sources and bring

         24  expertise to a long- term committed planting

         25  program, I believe that the pattern of planting
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          2  should follow the method I described to avoid

          3  special interest from diverting resources.

          4                 We need to look at the most tree

          5  lined neighborhoods and consider them to be the

          6  standard.  We must implement policy to bring every

          7  community to the highest existing standard and then

          8  beyond.  New tree planting specifications that were

          9  implemented during our tree planting program need to

         10  become standards for the City, including enlarged

         11  tree pits, three and one- half inch of caliber

         12  trees, increased tree species, and a maintenance

         13  contract for watering.  With older established trees

         14  pruning contracts need to be implemented throughout

         15  the trees life, not just on an emergency basis.

         16                 There was an unexpected result from

         17  the planting of the trees in Greenpoint.  The

         18  planting renewed a sense of community, shortly after

         19  tree planting began, iron gates in front of homes

         20  were freshly painted, tree pits were planted with

         21  fresh flowers, and sidewalks were swept daily.

         22  Neighbors from opposite ends of blocks, who may

         23  never have had the occasion to speak, now stood

         24  curbside talking about their newly planted tress,

         25  forming a relationships and revitalizing interest in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  block associations. Community involvement and civic

          3  issues continues to grow and flourish.

          4                 This brings me to the realization of

          5  one of the most untapped resources that exists, the

          6  residents of every neighborhood in this City.  The

          7  lack of information on how to care for a tree is a

          8  crucial mistake being made.  Presently, and only

          9  occasionally, a homeowner receives a doorknob tag

         10  announcing a newly planted tree in front of their

         11  property.  This tag offers only minimal tree care

         12  information, and if a homeowner does not receive

         13  this tag, he is left to guess what species of tree

         14  he has.  These tags do not describe the tree or

         15  illustrated what it will look like in maturity.  It

         16  does not tell homeowners that their newly planted

         17  pin oak does not drop its leaves in the fall or that

         18  their little leaf linden will flower in the

         19  springtime.  Nor does the tag explain that the cable

         20  ties that support the tree's trunk need to be

         21  loosened as the tree grows.  This is the kind of

         22  information that will create a connection between

         23  that person and his tree.  It is the cheapest

         24  insurance policy that would protect the City's

         25  investment.  I know, because I have seen it work.
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          2                 Our organization, Neighborhood Roots,

          3  provided information packages to people who

          4  requested them and more followed.  The residents

          5  were starved for information, the information made

          6  those trees a pampered part of their family.

          7                 Funding needs to be put in place for

          8  dynamic informational brochures to be created and

          9  distributed to engender a sense of ownership,

         10  instill an interest in the urban forest, and explain

         11  how to protect and care for that resource.  More

         12  resources need to be allocated for increased tree

         13  planting and more adequate care for our existing

         14  trees.

         15                 I hope my experiences during the

         16  Asian Beetle crisis can provide insight for the

         17  Council and some of my suggestions can be

         18  implemented.  Planting trees is not just about

         19  planting trees, the effects are profound and far

         20  reaching.  Block by block, my community understands.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         23  much.  Let me say this, it's not that I'm  opposed

         24  to applause, all of these people are here to

         25  testify.  When the gentleman said, what are we here
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          2  for, we're here to hear everyone, but I can't hear

          3  everyone if we keep interrupting.  Understand?  It's

          4  not that, I approve of applause, but simply trying

          5  to get you heard.  All right, understand me?

          6                 Having said that, as of this moment,

          7  every other speaker will be limited to three minutes

          8  only.  Now if you are here with the same group and

          9  you're essentially going to say the same thing, let

         10  them say it for you, and then after we have heard

         11  everybody, I promise I will stay here until tomorrow

         12  morning with you, to hear everyone over and over

         13  again, but I do want everyone to be heard.

         14                 MS. ZURCHER:  And I would like to

         15  introduce Arthur Shepard from Magnolia Tree Earth

         16  Center.

         17                 MR. SHEPARD:  Good morning, Mr.

         18  Chairman.  My name is Arthur Shepard, and I'm the

         19  Executive Director of the Magnolia Tree Earth Center

         20  of Bedford- Stuyvesant Inc.  Our organization was

         21  started 26 years ago as a not- for- profit with the

         22  dreams of a little old lady who wanted to save a

         23  single tree in the community, the Magnolia

         24  grandiflora, and from there sprang our environmental

         25  center and a multi- service center dealing with
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          2  cultural arts and ecology.

          3                 Currently, we are trying to help the

          4  trees in the community of Bedford- Stuyvesant, I

          5  shouldn't just say currently, but for the last 26

          6  years.  We have instituted a youth program called

          7  the Urban Tree Corp where we had the children ages 8

          8  through 16 work throughout the community tilting the

          9  soil, weeding the soil around the tree pits,

         10  watering the trees during the summer months, and

         11  then last year, as the new Executive Director, I

         12  instituted a citizen tree pruning program in

         13  Bedford- Stuyvesant so that we could train

         14  individuals to prune lower limbs from the trees.  We

         15  can't do it alone, we need your help, that is why I

         16  don't have a prepared speech, I'm speaking from the

         17  heart here.  We need your help, we need to have a

         18  program that the Parks Department and the community

         19  can put together to save these trees.

         20                 The trees not only are beautiful, but

         21  they also aid in the energy saving and also the cost

         22  value of the community, as well, of the homes.  We

         23  urge you to listen and read what we have put before

         24  you, and the Magnolia Tree Earth Center is 100

         25  percent behind it, and we will bring other
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          2  organizations along to help us.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          5  much.  Ms. Robinson has something to say.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Thank you,

          7  Chairman Foster.  One of the questions or one of the

          8  concerns that I receive, Mr. Shepard, from time to

          9  time, that people say that they do not want trees in

         10  front of their houses because, you know, when the

         11  leaves fall and people don't want to clean up the

         12  leaves and things.  How do we educate the public to

         13  what the value of trees could be for the community,

         14  so that we could get more street trees put on in the

         15  streets?

         16                 MR. SHEPARD:  Well, what we could do

         17  is have a more brochures and more programs in the

         18  schools.  Also have literature in the newspapers

         19  from time to time dealing with street tree plantings

         20  and street tree care and so forth.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Thank you.

         22                 MR. SHEPARD:  More education.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Thank you.  Any

         24  other questions from any of the Council members?

         25  May I, please, permit me to acknowledge the presence

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  of Ms. Lopez from the Borough of Manhattan, I

          3  believe.  Do you have a question?  All right,

          4  Council Member Lopez.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes, in your

          6  testimony you indicated that you would like to see

          7  that a special interest don't take over the

          8  distribution of trees, and that something should be

          9  done about that.  I mean, that is a serious

         10  statement and I want to know what you mean by that

         11  and how that process can be stopped from happening,

         12  if what you're saying is that the trees are taken

         13  when they are allocated from an area and give it to

         14  places that have some special kind of force or

         15  political level, power behind it. Can you be more

         16  specific about what you were implying with that

         17  statement?

         18                 MR. KUPIEC:  What I was implying by

         19  that statement is that there are communities, as we

         20  all know, in the New York area that may have

         21  residents who are better funded, more active, and

         22  create a louder and larger force when funding for

         23  any kind of resources being allocated.  In my case,

         24  having dealt with the Asian Beetle crisis in

         25  Greenpoint, we ran into some of those problems,
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          2  where instead of trying to mitigate a problem from a

          3  natural disaster, some organizations tried to create

          4  a case for spending the funding that was allocated

          5  on a more broad- based tree planting program, which

          6  would not have addressed the immediate crisis.  We,

          7  fortunately, were able to quickly get public support

          8  only due to the fact that the community was affected

          9  by a major crisis, they came out in large numbers,

         10  very quickly.  That is not always going to happen.

         11                 So I think when you don't have an

         12  Asian Beetle crisis situation, we also need to make

         13  sure that we take politics out of tree planting.  We

         14  have a census right now that needs to be continually

         15  updated, we know where trees are and where they

         16  aren't, we can walk down streets and see what blocks

         17  don't have and which blocks do.  We need to keep

         18  mind of that, focus resources on areas that don't

         19  have enough now, make sure that the areas that even

         20  are lush, as I mentioned in Forest Hills Gardens,

         21  maintain their level of tree canopy.  If they have a

         22  crisis, and you know, 10 percent of their urban

         23  forest is removed, 10 percent of their urban forest

         24  needs to be replaced immediately.  And then as we

         25  keep and maintain what we have right now, we can
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          2  start building on those areas that need to get to

          3  higher levels.

          4                 If I can make one note from your

          5  comment in regard to how we can get other people to

          6  want trees, plant a tree on the block, and you will

          7  see how many other people want it very quickly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Let me follow-

          9  up in your answer.  Let's say we have a community

         10  that has been completely ignored about the planting

         11  of trees.  I can tell you, for example, my

         12  community.  It was not for the people of my

         13  community who began being very aggressive to make

         14  clear that a green area had to be put in my

         15  community, that would never happen.

         16                 Now when you said that if 10 percent

         17  of trees is eliminated from an area, that means that

         18  those trees were there already.  Then how do you fix

         19  the problem when you have certain amount of dollars

         20  allocated to plant new trees in communities like

         21  mine that have never had the trees, that have been

         22  abandoned of having those trees in place, but then

         23  that resource that was allocated for my community is

         24  taken away to replant 10 trees that are lost in some

         25  other community that have those trees forever, and
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          2  probably have, if lost 10 percent, that means they

          3  had 90 percent in place.  My community, let's say,

          4  have no, not even 90 percent, no percent, let's put

          5  it that, then can you be clear about what you're

          6  saying in there?

          7                 MR. KUPIEC:  Well, I think the number

          8  of dollars that are being spent on tree programs in

          9  New York needs to be greatly enhanced.  I think that

         10  the resources that are available right now, don't

         11  necessarily mean that your taking away from

         12  communities.  I think, in regard, I don't think

         13  there is a neighborhood in New York, at least, in my

         14  life's history, that has gone through the kind of

         15  loss that happened.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Sir, my point

         17  is this, you may be going through loss, and believe

         18  me I am a lover of trees, but in my community we

         19  never have the trees.  Then we have a problem here

         20  in regard of the resources that we have.  I mean, if

         21  the resources are allocated for a particular

         22  community to finally get those trees, what is what

         23  you're saying that in the crisis that money had to

         24  be taken away from that community to reallocate it

         25  to replace those 10 percent that was lost?  Is that
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          2  what you're saying?

          3                 MR. KUPIEC:  No, what I'm saying is

          4  that right now I'm not sure, in your district

          5  whether or not you're community board has made tree

          6  planting a priority.  I know that in my district, it

          7  hadn't.  And if it is making that a priority, I

          8  believe, there are funds now, I mean, there was $1

          9  million, how many, we're talking about $9 million in

         10  tree planting a year spent now.  There is not a

         11  shortage of funding for specific initiatives that

         12  need to be taken.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And the

         14  Council did that.

         15                 MR. KUPIEC:  And I'm certainly

         16  appreciative of that.

         17                 MS. ZURCHER:  May I answer?  Part of

         18  what happens in many communities is, first of all,

         19  there isn't even an awareness of the procedure that

         20  an individual has to go through to get a tree. So

         21  that is number one, and that should be part of a

         22  public awareness program.

         23                 Second of all, we can pretty much

         24  estimate from what we see going out on the street

         25  and the figures that are supposed to be in the
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          2  budget for tree planting that the full tree planting

          3  budget each year is never planted out, that is

          4  number two.  So if the full budget is never planted

          5  out, then there is a good chance that all of the

          6  requests have not been satisfied, because the money

          7  is there.  The City Council has bumped up that

          8  budget, and the money is there, when in fact, the

          9  money isn't there for maintenance.  And the

         10  unfortunate thing of the perception of this is that

         11  you can divorce maintenance from planting, that you

         12  can make maintenance an expense, when in fact

         13  maintenance goes hand- in hand with this

         14  infrastructure.  How else do you support an

         15  infrastructure, if you don't have the follow- up, do

         16  you just turn your back on it and let it go by the

         17  wayside?

         18                 So the third thing is that the kind,

         19  the way we buy trees, we do not buy trees in

         20  anticipation of our needs, and when they come along

         21  to the nursery, and they tag what is left behind, at

         22  that point, the selection is so shabby.  I walk

         23  around in my neighborhood, I live in Brooklyn

         24  Heights.  Brooklyn Heights is a very aggressive

         25  neighborhood about tree planting, we get our trees
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          2  planted, that you can count on.  When I see what has

          3  been put out on the street as a tree, as an excuse

          4  for a tree, I am upset, I am chagrined that the City

          5  would allow itself to use public money to buy

          6  material like that, that should never leave the

          7  nursery.  So this, it is not a manner of hiring

          8  pruners and climbers, this problem is much greater

          9  than that.  One needs to look at this from absolute

         10  scratch to begin to understand the complications

         11  that have occurred in getting from point A to point

         12  B.  And point A is an individual requesting the tree

         13  and point B is having a viable tree delivered in an

         14  acceptable fashion using proper techniques to put it

         15  in the ground.  So 20 years later it's there and

         16  it's doing what we want it to do.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, thank

         18  you very much. I'm puzzled and I'm troubled, groups

         19  are coming to testify together and they're going on

         20  and on and on, and yet, it has eliminated a lot of

         21  you.   I'm trying to do this as fairly as I can.

         22  All right? Because I want everyone heard, it's not

         23  fair, as far as I see it, for individuals, for

         24  groups to come here and then all of that testimony

         25  together and monopolize all of the time, and then
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          2  after they have finished, they leave.  We want to

          3  hear everyone, and I'm sure the reason you came out

          4  in this weather, on this day, at this time is to be

          5  heard.  And now if I appear to be short with some of

          6  you, it's not personal, it's simply that I want

          7  everyone to be heard.  Is that fair enough?  Thank

          8  you very much.  All right, thank you very much,

          9  panel.

         10                 We're now going to limit testimony to

         11  three minutes. Elizabeth Cooke, Victoria Kilanowski,

         12  Jane Sturtevant.  The Council members have something

         13  to say, but they are trying to restrain themselves

         14  so that you could be heard.  We are all here on the

         15  Council in favor of trees and what you advocated,

         16  but we simply want you to be heard, and we want you

         17  to know that whatever printed material you give us

         18  will be read, so you're not just given it to us to

         19  be thrown away.  We have a good brain here with our

         20  attorney, and he makes sure that we keep everything

         21  before in proper focus. All right, Ms. Cooke, would

         22  you begin?  I'm sorry, but I have got to begin to

         23  limit everyone to three minutes, because, then after

         24  we finish, if you would like to stay, others, we

         25  will hear you later.
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          2                 Ms. Elizabeth Cooke, identify

          3  yourself for the record, please?

          4                 MS. COOKE:  Good morning.  I'm am

          5  Elizabeth Cooke. I'm the Executive Director of the

          6  Parks Council.  Chairman Foster, thank you very much

          7  for your remarks, and I'm sorry, I think that many

          8  of us who are focused on coming to testify on trees,

          9  and that also had an interest in community gardens

         10  and also had an interest in parks, didn't anticipate

         11  that the hearings on all three of these resolutions

         12  would end up in the same morning.  So I will try to

         13  take that into account, because I have an interest

         14  in all three of those issues.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Neither did we,

         16  Ms. Cooke, but the point is the pressure is on this

         17  Committee by all of these groups, and when I say

         18  we're going to hear Parks and the Tree advocates

         19  say, what about us, and that is why we thought we

         20  would bring everyone together and let you be heard,

         21  and then we will have other hearings to give you a

         22  greater time.

         23                 MS. COOKE:  I fully appreciate what

         24  you're saying, and I will try my best to help this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. COOKE:  My remarks in this

          3  section are on park trees.  There are more than

          4  350,000 trees in developed sections of the City's

          5  1,500 parks and playgrounds.  Many of them require

          6  pruning and removal, and yet, virtually all of the

          7  municipal tree care resources are devoted to street

          8  trees, and that is because of that terrible tragedy

          9  that happened in Queens a few years ago.  The

         10  Mayor's Management Report tells us nothing about the

         11  trees because there is virtually nothing to report.

         12                 I have come before you before,

         13  members of the Council, and shared with you our

         14  benchmark study, I will not go through it again this

         15  morning, we thought it would be better if we came

         16  with some representatives of local parks' groups who

         17  could speak for circumstances that exist, in

         18  particular parks that they know very well.  I would

         19  simply like you to keep in mind that the

         20  circumstances they're speaking about, locally, we

         21  think exist in most parks throughout the City.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 First of all, let me introduce

         24  Victoria Kilanowski, who represents the friends of

         25  Van Cordtland Park.
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          2                 MS. KILANOWSKI:  Hello, my name is

          3  Victoria Kilanowski.  I'm the Executive Director of

          4  the Friends of Van Cordtland Park.  Both Parks and

          5  Recreation Inspection Program and independent

          6  inspections show that the Department can accomplish

          7  great change if it focuses its attention and

          8  resources on an issue. In recent years, Parks and

          9  Recreation has made great strides in bringing

         10  attention to New York City trees.  Arborcide is a

         11  crime that is definable and punishable.  Dangerous

         12  and dead trees are being removed from city streets

         13  and street trees are being pruned. However, more

         14  needs to be done.

         15                 Today, there are an estimated 3.1

         16  million trees in park- like settings.  Of these,

         17  approximately a quarter of a million are in New York

         18  City's parks.  These trees need to be inspected

         19  regularly and a consistent program of maintenance

         20  needs to be established.  Today a dead, decaying

         21  park tree can stand in place for over a year.

         22  During that time, wind and weather can wear away

         23  bark and send limbs crashing to the ground.  This

         24  should not be.

         25                 City trees face a multitude of
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          2  stresses:  Pollution, lack of water, compacted soil

          3  and abuse.  They need to be inspected regularly to

          4  see what effect these stresses are having.  Are they

          5  loosing their limbs and leaves?  Have they become

          6  susceptible to disease?  If a problem is solvable,

          7  it should be solved before the death of the tree.

          8                 In addition, pruning of trees in

          9  park- like settings should not be a rare occasion

         10  and dead limbs should not be a common sight.

         11                 Parks and Recreation has taken back

         12  its playgrounds. Now it is time that the City gives

         13  Parks and Recreation the tools it needs to take back

         14  its trees, because people not only think about

         15  playgrounds when they think about parks.  They also

         16  think about trees.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 MS. COOKE:  Thank you, and I would

         19  like to introduce Jane Sturtevant, who is the Head

         20  of the East Village Parks Conservancy.

         21                 MS. STURTEVANT:  Actually, I'm only a

         22  Board member. We're a volunteer, all volunteer

         23  organization in the East Village. We have no office,

         24  and for this reason I apologize, I have not brought

         25  copies, but I will had in the original when I finish
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          2  speaking.

          3                 In my remarks, today, I would like to

          4  distinguish between parks where there are still

          5  substantial numbers of American Elms, and parks

          6  where they have already been eliminated by Dutch Elm

          7  disease.  As you know, mature American Elms are the

          8  most beautiful and valuable trees in the lucky parks

          9  that still have them, such as Tompkins Square, that

         10  I'm interested in, Riverside Park, and Prospect

         11  Parks.  The protection of elms requires additional

         12  measures beyond normal tree care.

         13                 In Tompkins Square, our Conservancy

         14  and the Parks Department have a real success story

         15  to tell.  You might be interested in a success story

         16  today.  Tompkins has lost a third of its elms since

         17  1981.  Then after two years of a rigorous sanitation

         18  program, last summer we did not lose one elm.

         19                 With a program like ours for elms,

         20  you can fairly expect a loss rate of only one or two

         21  percent a year.  The sanitation program consists of

         22  regular pruning of deadwood, frequent inspection of

         23  the trees during the summer, and a rapid respond to

         24  symptoms, either cutting out the infection or

         25  removing the tree.
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          2                 In Tompkins Square, we are fortunate

          3  to have a squad of trained volunteers who inspect

          4  the trees.  Everything else has been done by Parks.

          5  We make a lot of noise and we probably get more than

          6  our fair share of the resources, as has been

          7  mentioned here this morning, but what we get is what

          8  is needed in parks with elms and no volunteers,

          9  Manhattan Forestry does its best, but they can't

         10  inspect every elm in Manhattan, and they should not

         11  have the resource, they would not have the resources

         12  to treat them all if they did.  I'm not here to tell

         13  you what it would cost to institute such an elm

         14  preservation program throughout the City.  There are

         15  others far better qualified than I am to do that.

         16  But I can tell you with assurance that it works, and

         17  that these magnificent trees can be saved.

         18                 I have some more here, I'm going to

         19  forego it.  It's simply urging you to mulch and

         20  water and take care of our trees.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  If you will give

         22  us a copy of your statement, we will - -

         23                 MS. STURTEVANT:  I will give this to

         24  you, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sergeant, would
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          2  you make copies of her statement, please, for each

          3  of the Council members?

          4                 MS. STURTEVANT:  Thank you very much,

          5  Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          7  much for testifying, and I want you to know that we

          8  are deeply concerned about the problem.

          9                 MS. COOKE:  Councilman Foster, is it

         10  possible for me to speak for three minutes now in

         11  support of Resolution 492, which is a totally

         12  separate issue.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You can only

         14  testify on one issue, Ms. Cooke, until we have heard

         15  other people.  The answer is yes, but not right now.

         16                 MS. COOKE:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Ms. Cooke, you

         18  and I have been friends for many, many years, I'm

         19  trying to say that there are other folks I want to

         20  hear first and then we will come back.

         21                 MS. COOKE:  I fully appreciate it,

         22  Sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right,

         24  understand me?

         25                 MS. COOKE:  Yes, thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Rooney, Mr.

          3  Westphal, Ms. Christine Foreman.  I won't forget

          4  you, I will come back. Christine Foreman, is she

          5  here?  All right, thank you.  All right, Mr. Rooney,

          6  please, identify yourself, this is being recorded?

          7                 MR. ROONEY:  Good morning, Mr.

          8  Chairman and Council members.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good morning.

         10                 MR. ROONEY:  My name is John Rooney.

         11  I'm here representing the Staten Island Greenbelt

         12  Stewardship Council, which is a ad hoc information

         13  clearing house and advocacy group.  Its members are

         14  civic associations and park support groups on Staten

         15  Island.  It has been in existence since 1984.  I'm

         16  also representing protectors of Pine Oak Woods,

         17  which is Staten Island's 25- year- old, 2,500 member

         18  land conservation organization.  We're all

         19  volunteer, no office, no staff.

         20                 I have been asked to read a statement

         21  also from the Metro Forest Council, and specifically

         22  the Metropolitan New York Forest Equal System

         23  Council, which is an organization of - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  This is a part

         25  of your three minute testimony?
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          2                 MR. ROONEY:  Yes, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. ROONEY:  It's a good statement.

          5  They're an organization of professionals largely and

          6  forest managers.  And the topical is, Funding for

          7  Care of Forest and Parklands in New York City, of

          8  which everyone should be realizing that that is one-

          9  third of New York City's parkland.

         10                 Metro Forest Council is a not- for-

         11  profit organization providing leadership for

         12  protection and research, restoration and management

         13  of Forest Equal Systems in the New York Metropolitan

         14  Region.  We're working with the Regional Plan

         15  Association to increase the health and conservation

         16  of forest land in New York.  We are concerned with

         17  the degradation occurring in the Forest Parklands in

         18  New York City.

         19                 Of the 205,000 acres within New York

         20  City's border, only 5,000, less than 2 percent is

         21  protected forest.  None of New York City's parks'

         22  budget is used to manage this forested land, which

         23  is losing biological diversity to invasive plants,

         24  dumping, off- road vehicle activity, erosion, and

         25  arson.  There are many acres where the forest under
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          2  story has been completely destroyed down to bare

          3  soil that erodes into adjacent water bodies

          4  degrading water quality.  Virtually all the Forest

          5  Restoration Projects that served to reverse these

          6  problems are privately funded.  We believe it is

          7  incumbent upon the City to start contributing to the

          8  health and maintenance of its forested land.

          9                 The Metro Forest Council urges the

         10  adoption of Resolution 438, which would provide some

         11  modest funding for care of parklands in New York

         12  City, forested parklands.

         13                 Again, just to remind everyone, that

         14  is one- third of New York City's parkland, it gets

         15  virtually no dollars from the City.  In the

         16  Greenbelt where we come from over 1,000 acres there

         17  is no professional management, there is only a WEP

         18  crew that does litter picking.  All the work that

         19  goes on in the Greenbelt itself, in terms of forest

         20  management is done by privately funded and

         21  volunteers.  By the way, tomorrow is our 28th

         22  monthly Forest Restoration Workshop at Ladarette

         23  (phonetic) Park, it's sort of like gardening, in a

         24  way, we remove, we will be removing invasive vines

         25  from trees which were planted in the past.
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          2                 On Staten Island we think we need a

          3  10- person team with a wetland specialists, a

          4  botanist, a wild life specialist, a field manager,

          5  and a field team to be the core for Staten Island's

          6  3,000 acres of natural areas.  And they would be a

          7  team which would be used to leverage volunteers and

          8  privately funded resources.

          9                 I realize we only have three minutes,

         10  so I will just end it there, if you have any

         11  questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Before we hear

         13  from Mr. Westphal, the very fact that you are here

         14  on this day, and I hope the press will take note of

         15  this, that you are concerned about your City, you're

         16  concerned about your parks and about trees.  I will

         17  talk with my Committee and perhaps we can have later

         18  hearings where the various components will come

         19  separately, but I think that it worked out well so

         20  that we can let New York City see how concerned you

         21  are that you came here in such large numbers on this

         22  day to be heard.

         23                 Mr. Westphal, would you, please?

         24                 MR. WESTPHAL:  Thank you.  My name is

         25  Dart Westphal, and I'm President of the Bronx
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          2  Council for Environmental Quality. The Bronx is

          3  frequently referred to as the Borough of Parks.

          4  Bronx County is 24 percent parkland, since the

          5  creation of the Bronx Park System in 1888, it has

          6  provided a recreation resource for the entire City.

          7  Indeed, in many ways the Bronx itself was created to

          8  be an open space for a growing New York, what one

          9  writer at the beginning of this century called the

         10  magnificent distances of the North Side of town.

         11  Probably the most magnificent of those distances are

         12  those covered by the boroughs natural areas, the

         13  wetlands, the meadows and forests.  Unfortunately,

         14  the forest, in particular, have been cut through

         15  with railroads, highways and other infrastructure,

         16  assaulted by misuse, such dumping and inappropriate

         17  motorized recreation and damage by runoff and other

         18  pollution.

         19                 There has been consequent damage to

         20  the forest of the Bronx and the rest of the City.

         21  This damage though can be mitigated.  Highways and

         22  railroad cuts create edges where invasive vines

         23  proliferate and kill trees, there are ways to stop

         24  this. Dumping and inappropriate uses can be

         25  discouraged both physically and through legal

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  enforcement actions, and highway runoff can be

          3  treated or diverted.

          4                 Our large parks and the greenways

          5  that connect them, such as Marshalar (phonetic)

          6  Parkway, the Kissena Park Corridor, Ocean Parkway,

          7  and the Staten Island Greenbelt, combined to provide

          8  us with some sense of the natural magnificence that

          9  greeted our predecessors 100 years ago.  It is a

         10  legacy built of vision and concern for those who

         11  would come after and that is us.  It would be tragic

         12  and to our shame if instead of building on that

         13  vision we left the trees die.

         14                 And I would just like to say that two

         15  ways we can with the question of having people want

         16  there to be trees, because I understand that is a

         17  concern that folks think that it brings dogs, and

         18  the leaves are hard to clean up, and litter collects

         19  by the roots, I hear this, that I got started caring

         20  about the environment in New York City working 20

         21  years ago in a program called the South Bronx Open

         22  Space Task Force, building community gardens in the

         23  South Bronx, and getting people into gardens to do

         24  actual growing of living things makes people care

         25  more about trees.             And the second one was
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          2  the illusion I made to Greenways, that perhaps if we

          3  could look at some of the Greenways that connect our

          4  large and natural areas as avenues and as examples

          5  of how beautiful tree lined streets can be, that

          6  would be a second way to do that.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          9  much.  We are happy to announce that Council Member

         10  Stanley Michels from the Borough of Manhattan has

         11  joined us.

         12                 Thank you very much, and believe me

         13  everything that you're saying is taking seriously

         14  and we appreciate what you're giving us in writing.

         15  We are going to study it and I promise you we will

         16  get back to individual groups later, if it is a will

         17  of this Council, and I believe it is their will.

         18                 Thank you very much.  Any questions,

         19  Council members?  All right, thank you very much.

         20  Mr. Joseph Bernardo, okay.  Susan Gooberman, thank

         21  you very much, I'm glad my mother made me learn to

         22  read.  Is this Aldon James?  Aldon James, thank you,

         23  no "t" on it.  Now that is not to drive you away,

         24  please, if I did not say that first name correctly,

         25  if you're from 15 Gramercy, please, Aldon James, and
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          2  Leslie Lowe.

          3                 Council Member Lopez must be excused

          4  for another commitment, she will be back shortly.

          5                 Please, now, identify yourself for

          6  the record?

          7                 MR. BERNARDO:  My name is Joseph

          8  Bernardo.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And this Intro.

         10  20, someone from the Administration as well as from

         11  someone from the Borough President's Office desirous

         12  to speak on these issues as well.

         13                 If you have printed material already,

         14  the Sergeant will pass it out, if you need some

         15  copies, they will do that as well.  All right, start

         16  again, Sir.

         17                 MR. BERNARDO:  Yes, my name is Joseph

         18  Benardo.  I'm a Director of Urban Forestry for Trees

         19  New York, an non- profit organization.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What borough are

         21  you from, Sir?

         22                 MR. BERNARDO:  I live in the Borough

         23  of Staten Island, presently.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Mr.

         25  Michels just fell when you introduced yourself, so I
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          2  was wondering if you were from his district and had

          3  something to say.  Thank you very much. Continue.

          4                 MR. BERNARDO:  I'm here to speak in

          5  support of two items, one being Intro. 185, which

          6  allows the Department of Parks and Recreation to go

          7  on private properties and other properties not under

          8  their jurisdiction in order to take care of

          9  infestation by insects or by diseases that are

         10  affecting our trees.  As was brought up earlier this

         11  morning, we had a dire infection of a insect known

         12  as the Asian Longhorn Beetle, which attacked the

         13  community of Greenpoint, Brooklyn.  The Parks was

         14  stymied in its way of protecting the trees because

         15  they were only allowed to work on trees that were in

         16  the streets or trees that were under Parks

         17  jurisdictions.  They were not allowed to look on

         18  private property or trees that are under other

         19  agencies.  I believe this resolution being passed

         20  would allow the Parks Department to take better care

         21  of the trees, especially when we are hit by these

         22  diseases.

         23                 We learned in the late fifties when

         24  Dutch Elm Disease hit New York City that although we

         25  maintained all trees and took care of all trees that
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          2  were on Parks properties, it was those trees that

          3  were on other properties that contributed to the

          4  further of decay and failing of the trees.

          5                 So therefore, I'm in support in this

          6  part of this introduction.  I am hard though in

          7  regards to the penalties that are inflicted by this.

          8    The penalties states that a person if caught

          9  removing a tree or disrupting a tree will be fined

         10  no less than $100 and no more than $1,000.  It also

         11  points out that if people want to remove a tree they

         12  should get a permit from the Department of Parks,

         13  and the trees would be replaced as per the

         14  Commissioner stating his replacement policy.

         15                 Local Law #29 states that trees

         16  removed will be replaced on an inch per inch basis.

         17  Meaning, a 30 inch tree removed has to be replaced

         18  by 10, three- inch trees, at a cost of $400 per

         19  tree, that amounts to $4,000.  Commissioner Stern

         20  would also like to have a basil area replacement,

         21  meaning, if you replace, if you remove a tree of 30

         22  inches in caliber, you have to replace it with 100

         23  trees.  Now at $400 per tree, we're now up to

         24  $40,000, well, it pays then for some contractor to

         25  just indiscriminately remove trees on the chance
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          2  that I may get caught. If I take out a permit, this

          3  is a drastic cost.  However, if I take the chance,

          4  remove the tree, all I'm going to get fined is a max

          5  of $1,000 per tree.  So in that part of the

          6  resolution I'm not in favor.

          7                 In regards to Resolution No. 20, I

          8  feel and like to commend the Parks Department for

          9  finally getting a bona fide inventory of our trees.

         10  I traveled the City, I traveled the State, and this

         11  whole country, and I countlessly hear the comment,

         12  oh, you're from New York City, your employment is

         13  trees, that can't be, New York City doesn't have any

         14  trees.  And they will say, oh wait, yes, wait,

         15  Central Park does have some trees.  Well, finally,

         16  this here inventory census has shown that New York

         17  City has 500,000 street trees, and they're all in

         18  New York City, and as that late great singer, who

         19  sang the song, "New York, New York," if you make it

         20  here in New York City, you can make it anywhere.

         21  Well, our City are the true New Yorker.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Posner, Mr.

         24  Gerald Posner, is he here?  All right, continue on

         25  then.
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          2                 MS. GOOBERMAN:  Good afternoon.  My

          3  name is Susan Gooberman.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just bring it a

          5  little closer to you so they can hear you.

          6                 MS. GOOBERMAN:  Hello.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, Ma'am,

          8  thank you.

          9                 MS. GOOBERMAN:  Okay.  My name is

         10  Susan Gooberman. I'm the Education Director of Trees

         11  New York.  We are very pleased with the interest

         12  expressed by the Council members in the State of our

         13  Urban Forest documented by the Regional Plan

         14  Association Environmental Action Coalition Report:

         15  Keeping the Green Promise. Trees New York views

         16  trees as a living component of the City's living

         17  structure.  Consequently, trees need to be

         18  approached as an important infrastructure entity

         19  requiring a reasonable and adequate budget, long

         20  range planning, and an insightful approach to

         21  planting partnered with adequate maintenance.  While

         22  these concerns were addressed in the RPA EAC Report,

         23  we, at Trees, believe that the solutions proposed in

         24  the document are unrealistic and largely unworkable

         25  within the framework of the present City Charter.
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          2                 Specifically, we are opposed unwieldy

          3  size of the proposed Urban Forestry Board.  Such a

          4  board would be politically unworkable.  We would

          5  substitute a much smaller group of professionals

          6  that would work with the Commissioner.

          7                 We applaud the resolution to hold

          8  hearings on this document however, so that the issue

          9  of our Urban Forest will be publicly discussed and

         10  all sides of this issue examined.  A more informed

         11  and knowledgeable public would be of great benefit

         12  to the City and its Urban Forest.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Sir, identify yourself.

         16                 MR. JAMES:  How much time, Mr.

         17  Chairman, do I have? Aldon James, President of the

         18  National Arts Club.  We would like to piggyback also

         19  on Trees New York.  We have worked with the

         20  distinguished, non- profit, and have experienced

         21  their full professionalism and commitment to the

         22  area of trees.

         23                 We want to comment on what happened

         24  on one of New York's most historic areas, Gramercy

         25  Park, April 5th, 1994, in Manhattan, we lost 12

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  historic trees to buzz saws because one woman

          3  decided to rearrange the City's only private park as

          4  one would rearrange a living room in a residence.

          5  There never was any evidence that the trees were

          6  dead, dying, or diseased.  All qualitative reviews

          7  standards of the National Society of Arborers were

          8  violated.  Trees by nature, we believe, belong to

          9  everyone, even though their roots might issue from

         10  property under the legal control of one individual

         11  or group.

         12                 The National Arts Club believes

         13  strongly that we do not have the option to ignore

         14  trees, unless the City has the white star line

         15  approach to icebergs.  The National Arts Club in

         16  Councilmanic District 2 and New York institution

         17  dedicated to arts education, celebrating its

         18  centennial, has attempted through New York Supreme

         19  Court and now its Appellate Division to redress the

         20  irreparable damage to its neighborhood from this

         21  arborcide.

         22                 Trees beyond their vital

         23  environmental role are the oldest living entity in

         24  the world.  They help define a person's sense of

         25  place.  An environment of steel and concrete needs
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          2  the soul of wood for balance.  Trees enrich the

          3  human spirit as nothing else can.  The Club

          4  membership loves and cherishes trees in all seasons

          5  and now in winter the twists and turns of the

          6  branches and twigs reveal and endless variety of

          7  shapes.

          8                 The Chief arborist of New York City

          9  Parks Department under Mayor Edema Koch, William

         10  Lowe, who is now with Trees New York, has stated for

         11  the record the selection of species, the quality and

         12  their placement of trees by the Chairwoman of

         13  Gramercy Park, Sharon Benison, defy all arboreal

         14  standards.  At the current time, one woman controls

         15  what survives and is plated in one of the most

         16  historic districts in the City, and her connection

         17  to the neighborhood is demonstrated by the fact that

         18  the 12 trees cut down in April 1994 was the very day

         19  of the meeting planned to discuss the renovation of

         20  the park without prior notice.

         21                 The National Arts Club in the

         22  tradition of Governor Samuel Jones Tilden, a former

         23  trustee of Gramercy Park, itself, believe that the

         24  City Council must follow the lead of other

         25  municipalities in protecting each and every tree
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          2  from personal whims.  Providing future generations

          3  of New Yorkers a strong population of trees is the

          4  most conservative gesture current leadership can

          5  make.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          8  much.  Any questions?  Council Member Reed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chair.  And perhaps this question is directed to

         11  everybody that has testified, although I don't want

         12  you all to come back to the table, perhaps to the

         13  future.  I have been listening to this and I know we

         14  have a collection of introductions, and I think

         15  that, as usual, our Chair has been wise in trying to

         16  move this as a kind of collective conversation, but

         17  also as a fluid conversation.  I'm curious if the

         18  advocacy groups that are doing this great work, I'm

         19  hearing a lot of individual groups, I'm hearing a

         20  lot, I'm hearing sort of one voice, but I'm not sure

         21  that all of you have been working together in as

         22  broad a coalition as possible, but more importantly,

         23  I guess the question from a personal standpoint or

         24  from your organizations, have you had the

         25  opportunity to interact with the Parks Department

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            95

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  and talk about what issues, sort of work out some of

          3  these issues, or is this the only forum in which you

          4  get to have the opportunity to talk to the Parks

          5  Department?

          6                 MR. JAMES:  No, the Trees New York

          7  was originally called the New York City Street Tree

          8  Consortium, and this was a group of environmental

          9  principals throughout the whole City that felt that

         10  they needed a way to take care of our trees in the

         11  City and could not do it by themselves.

         12                 When Commissioner Gordon Davis was

         13  Parks Commissioner, all right, he entertained these

         14  environmental groups coming to him and asking him to

         15  set up - -

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  I don't mean to

         17  interrupt you, let's just stick with the present

         18  Administration.

         19                 MR. JAMES:  Present Administration,

         20  what I'm just trying to say is that, yes, it is a

         21  group made up of all of the groups that are in the

         22  environmental.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  And are you

         24  having conversations with the Parks Department?

         25                 MR. JAMES:  Yes, we do.  I'm a former
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          2  member of the Department of Parks who worked 38

          3  years.  All right?  I'm in forestry 45 years, and

          4  the odd thing is I grew up in Little Italy, I should

          5  have been a hood or a stevedore, not a tree person,

          6  and my love for the tree and my respect for the

          7  tree.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Not everyone in

          9  Little Italy are hoods or stevedores.

         10                 MR. JAMES:  All right, but the thing

         11  is that - -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You don't mean

         13  that, do you?

         14                 MR. JAMES:  Pardon?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You don't mean -

         16   -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Say, you don't.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: - -  that

         19  everyone who lives there are hoods or stevedores?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  No, I don't.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm sure of

         22  that.  Thank you very much, all right, now continue.

         23                 MR. JAMES:  But it is made up of a

         24  group and we do have conversations with the

         25  Department of Parks and with all the groups, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  So the issue is

          3  resource management both in the Parks Department and

          4  outside in the private/public partnership, and not,

          5  I'm aware that the Parks Department in and of itself

          6  with all of its obligations has not nearly as much

          7  money as it needs to do this work.  In fact, we will

          8  be hearing shortly in a month or so that they're

          9  basically going to have a zero budget, and then they

         10  have to start from square one with the Parks

         11  Department.  So I think a lot of these comments need

         12  to be directed to the Administration in terms of

         13  their budget priorities.  I mean, certainly the

         14  Council is sensitive to what we're saying, what

         15  we're trying to do, but the baseline budget for the

         16  Parks Department and certainly as it relates to tree

         17  maintenance and all of the things that we're talking

         18  about today, the baseline budget starts on the other

         19  side of this building, it doesn't start here.  And

         20  what in my short tenure here I have learned is that

         21  we're basically obliged to put all the money back in

         22  for the Parks Department or they would have none,

         23  and we always end up with a little less than we had

         24  the year before.

         25                 So while I think it is useful for you
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          2  to be bringing this debate to us and, you know, I

          3  will be candid with you, I haven't made up my mind

          4  quite yet about this issue on private land what we

          5  should, whether the City should decide what to do

          6  with the tree, I understand the issue in that

          7  particular park, but then again, I could have an

          8  issue with that park being private, so that is

          9  another story.  But I would just, please, advise,

         10  suggest, and implore, that all of you that are doing

         11  this great work to try to give us some trees in this

         12  community, make sure that before the end of this

         13  month that you tell the other side of this building,

         14  the Administration, that there ought to be enough

         15  money in the Parks Department's Budget to do the

         16  work that needs to be done.

         17                 MR. JAMES:  This is being done.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, thank

         19  you very much. Council Member Michels.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  Yes, the

         21  issue appears to be coming down to private as

         22  opposed to public property and as to whether or not

         23  we have jurisdiction over private property, which is

         24  a legitimate, legal question.  However, there is

         25  something to be said for the fact that trees do

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  produce something for the environment, mainly

          3  chlorophyll that helps keep our air clean, and that,

          4  therefore, we all have an interest in whether or not

          5  its on private property or public property and adds

          6  to the beauty, very often we complain, as you know

          7  about people doing things to their private property

          8  which diminishes the value of other people's private

          9  property.  So I sort of come down on the side of the

         10  fact that we have some right to say something about

         11  private property. Do you have any further comment on

         12  that issue.

         13                 MR. JAMES:  In fact, Councilman, we

         14  have had a woman representing residents of Gramercy

         15  Park over five decades, have said publicly in local

         16  papers, that they're willing for the park now to go

         17  public to give protection to our greatest resource,

         18  the plantings, and forego the private nature and let

         19  the gate swing so we can have our natural resource

         20  protected.  That has been in the paper and it's

         21  receiving ever larger support.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  I know that

         23  your organization does a lot for the public and has

         24  always been very open to the public.  So I can

         25  understand your position about the park.  But let me
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          2  ask you this, what legally has to be done in order

          3  to make that park public, if you know?

          4                 MR. JAMES:  Well, we're talking about

          5  an 18/31 Trust.  Right now we're in the Appellate

          6  Court to redress, as my written statement - -

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  You're

          8  redressing a grievance of somebody, who illegally in

          9  your opinion, cut down some trees.

         10                 MR. JAMES:  That is correct.  We

         11  think if we would have concern and enlightened

         12  individuals on the Trust governed along the line of

         13  Trees New York and a heightened environmental

         14  awareness, we would be protected.  But we also feel,

         15  the National Arts, that the park has to serve a

         16  larger public interest role, and right now that is

         17  the policy that is in conflict with the current

         18  leadership of Gramercy Park.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  I know where

         20  I'm at on that issue.  Thank you very much.

         21                 MR. JAMES:  Thank you very much,

         22  Councilman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, Mr.

         24  James.  Thank you, Council member.  The governmental

         25  representatives now, the Borough Presidents, the
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          2  State representatives, would come at this time?

          3  Frank, Howard Graubard.

          4                 MR. GRAUBARD:  I'm on 377.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Pardon me?

          6                 MR. GRAUBARD:  I'm testifying on 377.

          7                 MR. PERS:  Yes, he is on the gardens?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is that for the

          9  gardens?

         10                 MR. GRAUBARD:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right.

         12  Frank, what are you for?

         13                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Community Gardens.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right.

         15                 MR. PERS:  Well, that is what we're

         16  up to, we're starting on that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We're starting

         18  the Community Gardens now.   Let me just say that to

         19  all of you, it is very difficult for us to be fair

         20  with everyone, we're coming back to you, everyone is

         21  going to be heard, everyone is going to be heard.  In

         22  the meantime, gentlemen, say what is on your mind,

         23  please?  Okay, thank you.  Thanks, Frank.

         24                 MR. VERNUCCIO:  Good afternoon,

         25  Chairman Foster.  On behalf of Borough President

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Ferrer, my name is Frank Vernuccio. Resolution 377's

          3  call for a hearing on the Administration proposal to

          4  auction off 100 community gardens within our City is

          5  certainly appropriate.  This potential loss of over

          6  one- fifth of all these neighborhood edens with no

          7  restriction on how the sights are to be used must be

          8  brought to the attention of all New Yorkers.

          9  Indeed, Borough President Ferrer has just submitted

         10  legislation with the assistance of Council Member

         11  Carrion, which would prohibit the sale of community

         12  gardens, unless the property is to be immediately

         13  used for the development of low or middle income

         14  housing.

         15                 Specifically, the legislation would

         16  oppose the requirement that any City property

         17  currently used as a community garden under any

         18  recognized non- profit program, such as Operation

         19  Green Thumb, may not be sold, auction, exchanged,

         20  leased or otherwise alienated, unless the property

         21  is to be used for the purpose of immediately

         22  constructing housing.  The Administration has

         23  characterized community gardens as essentially ad

         24  hoc arrangements.  However, neighborhoods throughout

         25  our City have taken both pride and comfort in these
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          2  extraordinary endeavors.

          3                 Urban community gardens are an

          4  American tradition with roots going back over a

          5  century.  They first appeared, in fact, in Detroit

          6  in 1893 as a proposal and a means to reduce economic

          7  and social discomfort in bad economic times.  The

          8  concept spread rapidly throughout the United States

          9  and firmly took hold here in New York City.  These

         10  treasured plots of land were known as liberty

         11  gardens during the first World War, and victory

         12  gardens during the second World War.  During and

         13  following the 1970s, community gardens were a

         14  valuable resource that only for individual

         15  neighborhoods, but for the City as a whole as they

         16  became a vital means of turning trash strewn and

         17  neglected lots into attractive assets.

         18                 By the 1990s, 500 of these focal

         19  points of local prod existed throughout the five

         20  boroughs.  Both the scale and the nature of this

         21  potential wholesale diminution of New York City's

         22  community gardens requires intensive review.

         23  Borough President Ferrer supports Resolution 377 and

         24  urges the Council to act quickly and favorably upon

         25  his proposed community garden legislation.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Identify

          4  yourself, please?

          5                 MR. GRAUBARD:  My name is Howard

          6  Graubard.  I will be giving the testimony for State

          7  Senator Minority Leader Martin Connor.

          8                  "I am testifying in opposition to

          9  the current procedure under which the City

         10  authorizes the auction of properties currently being

         11  used as community gardens under the Green Thumb

         12  Program.

         13                 Unlike many who are testifying today,

         14  I am not among those whose position is that every

         15  community garden must remain as such in perpetuity.

         16  I am not in every case opposed to community gardens

         17  being to other uses, in fact in the past have been

         18  instances where I believe higher and better uses

         19  existed for certain properties, such as the

         20  development of affordable housing. I do not rule out

         21  that such instances may recur in the future.

         22  Moreover, I'm aware that some community gardens are

         23  really such in name only and are actually more in

         24  the nature of private preserves for one or two

         25  individuals.  Given that I hold such a position, my
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          2  opposition to what is taking place speaks volumes

          3  about the magnitude of the wrong that is being

          4  committed in the current process.

          5                 It is not enough for the City to say

          6  that community gardeners have known all along that

          7  their leases on these properties were on a temporary

          8  basis.  Some of  these gardens, including Parque de

          9  Tranquilidad and the All People's Garden, both

         10  located in the district I represent, are over 20

         11  years old; they are, as the New York Times pointed

         12  out, graced with mature trees and wrought- iron

         13  fences.  They have become part of the fabric of the

         14  community.  The City, by allowing interim leases to

         15  run for over 20 years, has created legitimate

         16  expectation interests on the part of the community.

         17  I dare say that, while under no legal obligations,

         18  the City has acquired a moral obligation concerning

         19  how it treats such venerable public institutions.

         20  At the very least, the standard by which the City

         21  considers the future of a 20 year- old garden must

         22  be a different one than that applied to a garden

         23  which has existed for six months.

         24                 Moreover, the standard by which a

         25  City removes a garden from the Green Thumb Program
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          2  so that it can be used for affordable housing or

          3  another community use should be a different one than

          4  the standard it uses when deciding to remove a

          5  garden from the Green Thumb Program so that it can

          6  be auctioned off to the highest bidder.

          7                 However, while it would rankle me if

          8  the City were applying one unyielding standard in

          9  removing gardens from the Green Thumb Program, that

         10  is not the problem that is facing City residents.

         11  The problem is that the City appears to be applying

         12  no standards whatsoever.  Has anyone from the City

         13  actually inspected any of the sites it has proposed

         14  for auction?  Has any planning at all taken place

         15  before such land sales were announced?

         16                 The City has stated that the sites it

         17  proposes to auction do not require a Uniform Land

         18  Use Review Process.  While such a statement is

         19  legally true; it is both rationally and morally

         20  obtuse.  Over half the sites recently proposed for

         21  auction went through ULURP over 15 years ago.  In

         22  many cases, the conditions underlying these land use

         23  reviews have changed radically. Certainly, the

         24  neighborhoods I represent affected by these proposed

         25  auctions have in some cases changed to the point
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          2  where they would be unrecognizable.  If land use

          3  review is to have any real meaning, if it is to be

          4  regarded as more than a nuisance to be overcome,

          5  than the City is obligated in some manner to review

          6  each of these sites on a case by case basis

          7  considering the issues affecting the interested

          8  communities in the year 1999.  Instead, they appear

          9  to be holding a clearance sale.  The philosophy

         10  underlying these actions seems not to be what is

         11  best for the most, but rather, everything must go.

         12                 It is time for the City to undertake

         13  a comprehensive review of existing Green Thumb

         14  leases to determine which gardens are immediately

         15  worth of permanent status, and it is time to

         16  institute a set of standards for reviewing the

         17  status of gardens it seeks to use for other

         18  purposes, incorporating consultation with local

         19  community boards.

         20                 Thank you."

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  From the

         22  Manhattan Borough President's Office.

         23                 MS. CAVALUZZI:  Yes, good afternoon.

         24  My name is Angela Cavaluzzi and I'm Director of Land

         25  Use.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How do you say

          3  that?

          4                 MS. CAVALUZZI:  Cavaluzzi.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MS. CAVALUZZI:  I am Director of Land

          8  Use for the Manhattan Borough President, C. Virginia

          9  Fields.  I will read her testimony.

         10                  "Members of the Committee, last

         11  April I opposed the request by the Department of

         12  Housing Preservation and Development for the

         13  emergency hold and transfer of 741 City- owned

         14  properties of which most were community gardens.  At

         15  that time, I stated that while the development of

         16  affordable housing for low and middle income is one

         17  of my highest priorities, I had serious concerns

         18  about the magnitude of this request and the lack of

         19  information on plans of individual sights.  I also

         20  encouraged that these sites should be part of a

         21  comprehensive planning initiatives for each

         22  neighborhood that include clear criteria for

         23  identifying development sites and preserving and

         24  expanding garden sites.

         25                 For example, even by the City's own
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          2  admission, lots 4,000 square feet or smaller in area

          3  are not feasible for residential development.

          4  Therefore, including such properties in a wholesale

          5  auction will not add to the affordable housing

          6  stock. However, such relatively small lots can be

          7  neighborhood gardens, as such, these lots are

          8  valuable, community resources.

          9                 Many of these lots went through the

         10  ULURP 10 or 15 years ago.  While the law says that

         11  once a property has completed the ULURP process, it

         12  could be legally disposed of, common sense tells us

         13  that a community's needs change over a number of

         14  years and these decisions should be reviewed with

         15  community input and representation.

         16                 This past Wednesday I testified at

         17  the public hearing, encouraging that these community

         18  gardens not be put up for auction.  I hope that the

         19  City will heed the sentiment of the community and

         20  all of us here today and not go forward with the

         21  auction.

         22                 Thank you."

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         24  much.  Any questions, Council members?  All right,

         25  thank you very much, express to the Borough
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          2  President our appreciation of sending you here.

          3                 Whether we are talking about gardens

          4  or talking about trees, we are all here for the sake

          5  of New York City and in support of each other.  So

          6  if we go around the merry- go- round, we're still

          7  going to come to the same conclusion that we need

          8  help.

          9                 Toby Joan Brandt, Anthony DeSimone,

         10  if I mispronounced your name, you can help me

         11  correct it, please.  Lisa Grandelli, Federico

         12  Savini.  All right, you have more?  All right, and

         13  Diane D. Buxbaum, thank you very much.  All right,

         14  would you please identify yourselves for the record

         15  and begin your testimony?

         16                 MS. BUXBAUM:  Hello, my name is Diane

         17  Buxbaum.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Speak directly

         19  into the microphone, please?

         20                 MS. BUXBAUM:  I represent myself, and

         21   - -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is it on?

         23                 MS. BUXBAUM:  I'm sorry.  I represent

         24  myself and the people whose names are attached, and

         25  I'm not going to reiterate everything about the
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          2  trees, this is for Resolution 438.  You have my

          3  statement, I do want to emphasize that having

          4  diverse and plentiful tree population in the City

          5  will enable, especially the diversity the trees may

          6  survive disease and predation and severe climate

          7  variations.  I also would like to encourage the

          8  planting of native trees wherever possible.

          9                 Trees are one of our most significant

         10  sources of oxygen, I think we have to think about

         11  the scientific and the biological means that why we

         12  need to increase trees in the City, and trees are

         13  also a very important way of producing global

         14  warming.  There are many, many programs throughout

         15  the world right now for reforestation and any carbon

         16  sequestration that we can encourage in the City will

         17  certainly be of value to all of us.  And as other

         18  people have stated, trees do filter out pollutants

         19  both in soil and in the air.

         20                 I'm also going to do something

         21  unfair, in terms of Resolution 377, I support the

         22  resolution for community gardens, I think that we

         23  have done something terrible in this City in taking

         24  them away from the people, and I would strongly,

         25  strongly support not having the auctions at this
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          2  time.

          3                 Thank you very much for your time and

          4  your help.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          6  much, the next person.

          7                 MR. DESIMONE:  Council members, thank

          8  you for the opportunity to speak here today.  My

          9  name is Anthony DeSimone.  I represent the Point

         10  Community Development Corporation located in Hunts

         11  Point, New York.

         12                 The Point Community Development

         13  Corporation, located in Hunts Point section of the

         14  South Bronx, has undertaken an initiative called,

         15  The Hunts Point Re- Envisioning Project.  One of the

         16  goals of the Re- Envisioning Project has been to

         17  improve the Hunts Point Peninsula's physical

         18  appearance in order to stimulate investment, as well

         19  as tangibly increase the value of the land for

         20  property owners.  We believe the intrinsic value of

         21  the peninsula, by its proximity to Manhattan, major

         22  thoroughfares and access to the waterfront, affords

         23  Hunts Point with the requisite criteria for both

         24  environmentally sound industrial growth and a

         25  beautiful residential setting.  However, our
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          2  community reflects the serving trends of the past,

          3  rape of the land and disproportionate concentration

          4  of undesirable industry as a consequence of under

          5  representation of the people.

          6                 Trees are an important component in

          7  the revitalization of any area.  They not only

          8  beautify an area, they raise property values and

          9  form the foundation for re- establishing a healthy

         10  ecological system.  Trees contribute to the health

         11  and control of wetland water table, provide local

         12  and migratory wildlife with nesting sights, help

         13  cool the land in the summertime and break or deflect

         14  wind in the winter, and help produce noise

         15  pollution.  And finally, trees possess inherent

         16  properties that help cleanse the air.  In an area

         17  like Hunts Point where residents live daily with the

         18  effects of overwhelming diesel truck emissions, the

         19  presence of many noxious waste- related facilities,

         20  and a childhood asthma hospitalization rate that is

         21  12 times the national average, trees are a necessary

         22  addition that will naturally improve air quality in

         23  our community.

         24                 One of the first steps we have

         25  undertaken, has been to survey the trees of the
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          2  peninsula and procure saplings for planting.  This

          3  project has taught us much more than we initially

          4  expected.  The Hunts Point Peninsula Tree Survey

          5  completed in June of 1998, documented only 695

          6  street trees on 690 acres, a one tree per acre of

          7  ratio, of which, approximately 30 percent were in

          8  fair to poor condition.  Community Board #2, which

          9  includes Hunts Point, has less trees and open space

         10  than almost any other community board in the City.

         11  However, the survey located 1,867 potential plots

         12  for street trees.  Based on our data, we recommend

         13  that certain areas in the community be given

         14  priority in the selection process for the creation

         15  of a Greenbelt barriers, i.e., a tree line buffering

         16  the residential section of the peninsula from the

         17  commercial traffic, composed of a high percentage of

         18  diesel trucks, ringing the peninsula.

         19                 At this point, we would like to

         20  publicly acknowledge and thank Council Member Pedro

         21  Espada for recognizing the needs of his constituents

         22  and appropriating funds for 1,000 trees for the

         23  Hunts Point Community.  There are many people who

         24  have participated in this project, and although we

         25  are still on fairly early stage, however, there are
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          2  several individuals and organizations to whom we

          3  would like to publicly acknowledge our gratitude for

          4  their support, Pratt Institute Center for Community

          5  and Economic Development; Hunts Point Childhood

          6  Asthma Health Initiative; MHRA and New York City

          7  Department of Health; Jenny Hoffner, Bronx River

          8  Coordinator for Partnerships for Parks; the

          9  Environmental Action Coalition and the Green

         10  Guerillas; and community residents who participated

         11  in clean ups, surveys, and tree care, and who are

         12  committed to a sustained effort to revitalize their

         13  neighborhood.

         14                 Thank you, again, for this

         15  opportunity to present our work in progress.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, next

         17  person, please, thank you.

         18                 MS. GRANDELLI:  Hi, my name is Lisa

         19  Grandelli.  I represent the Earth, that is called

         20  the planet we live on, in case any of us forgot.  I

         21  just have a few things to say, I have never done

         22  this before, so I'm very nervous and we need teepees

         23  down there, not stars.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You need what

         25  down there?
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          2                 MS. GRANDELLI:  Teepees, for decor

          3  instead of stars, teepees, the natives.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, thank you.

          5                 MS. GRANDELLI:  Okay, you're welcome.

          6    There was a woman who was sitting over here and I

          7  don't know her name, sorry, but she - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Council Member

          9  Margarita Lopez.

         10                 MS. GRANDELLI:  Lopez, okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, she had

         12  another meeting. The problem with most of us on

         13  several committees and we have to be at other

         14  places, so she will be back.

         15                 MS. GRANDELLI:  Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We will tell you

         17  spoke highly of her or critically of her, whichever.

         18                 MS. GRANDELLI:  Well, it wouldn't be

         19  critical of her person, but of just something that

         20  she said that I think was misrepresented, and that

         21  is, that some areas didn't have trees, and this was

         22  forest, this was native land.  I mean, it was the

         23  Earth, it wasn't buildings and concrete, and it's

         24  not good for any of us, rich or poor, whether we're

         25  part of the one world order or not, it's not good
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          2  for any of us.  And there were trees here before, so

          3  it's not like communities didn't have trees, and now

          4  there aren't trees and people want to put trees in,

          5  and now the poor people what are they going to do

          6  with the tree on their curb, there were trees here

          7  all over the place.

          8                 Okay, curbside trees suffer from

          9  chemical fertilizers used by homeowners.  So I think

         10  that as a community, never mind the government, we

         11  need to realize what we're doing to our own selves.

         12  We do still have some rights left and we don't have

         13  to chemically fertilize our lawns and kill the cats

         14  and the dogs and ourselves.

         15                 The Parks Department has made a lot

         16  of these things impossible to go down and now

         17  they're hiring people for a lot less money who are

         18  going around cleaning up garbage on the street

         19  because people are littering.  So as a community we

         20  cannot litter, hopefully not smoke, but if we do,

         21  not throw the butt on the ground.  If trees are

         22  curbside and there are leaves, we don't have to leaf

         23  blow.  Leaf blowers have, I think, it's 100 times

         24  more per unit of gasoline put out than a car and

         25  there are no controls on them.  They should be
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          2  illegal.

          3                 People who are experts who have

          4  spoken here, I think, we should let them speak.  I,

          5  also, think that we all need to be able to speak,

          6  and as long as this takes, and I don't know if it is

          7  legal or not, but I think everyone should be able to

          8  speak, and if it takes 10 years, we should all be

          9  able to speak.

         10                 Taxes for community, not for bombing

         11  Iraq, not for nuclear weapons.  Our taxes have been

         12  taken for years, all of us, the people here, all of

         13  us, this is a planet we live on, food, not bombs, et

         14  cetera.

         15                 We need trees to breathe.  I was

         16  asking here today, am I allowed to breathe, they

         17  kept moving me around, I can't go here, I can't go

         18  here, I was like, permission to breathe, please?

         19                 We could have leaf pickups like there

         20  used to be for the leaves that the Sanitation

         21  Department used to come around and pickup the leaves

         22  so that we just didn't throw them in garbage bags

         23  and put them in the landfill where they get no air,

         24  and they can be used for mulch on the wetlands, not

         25  on the wetlands themselves, but in those areas, and
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          2  for mulch and to make compost.  We need organic

          3  things to control the insects of the trees, not

          4  chemical things,              And I just want to end

          5  with one thing, which is, I was in Chelsea baby

          6  sitting a dog for about two weeks, and I went to the

          7  nearby park to walk the dog.  And there were tons of

          8  children playing, and all these parks, like I don't

          9  know if it was parks, but those people who get

         10  absolutely no money that new thing that was

         11  instituted, they came in and they were leaf blowing

         12  and there was gasoline filling the park visibly and

         13  all these little children were playing.  I said, my

         14  God, you know, where I do live that no one sees this

         15  and everyone is just putting up with it, even the

         16  parents with their children.  So I went over to them

         17  and I said, you know, this is an Auschwitz, these

         18  are children, you're gasolining them.  So I think we

         19  just need to think a little more about the

         20  environment.

         21                 I appreciate your time and listening

         22  to me and I'm going back to the woods while it's

         23  still here.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MS. GRANDELLI:  You're welcome.

          4                 MS. BRANDT:  My name is Toby Brandt.

          5  I represent Neighborhood Open Space Coalition, and

          6  I'm speaking - -  Pardon me?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What is your

          8  name?

          9                 MS. BRANDT:  Toby Brandt.  And I

         10  represent Neighborhood Open Space Coalition, and I'm

         11  speaking, of course, for community gardening.

         12                 In the 1960s and 70s, the population

         13  of New York was declining for a variety of reasons.

         14  A result of this decline was the abandonment of much

         15  housing and mostly in neighborhoods where there was

         16  less than appropriate housing.  The land largely

         17  fell into the hands of the Municipal government,

         18  creating an opportunity to partially right some of

         19  the wrongs of the original housing stock, much of

         20  which did not happen.

         21                 And what happened was the abandoned

         22  housing became garbage strewn lots in many

         23  instances.  As of those lots, what happened was the

         24  re- birth of community gardening.  In those garbage

         25  strewn lots individuals and community groups joined
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          2  hands to transform these blights into community

          3  areas.  Gardens that not only grew vegetables and

          4  flowers, but gardens that grew friendships, gardens

          5  that grew self- help movements, gardens that grew

          6  neighborhood assistant programs and so much more.

          7                 Now that our population and our

          8  property values are again on the increase, some

          9  elected officials are looking to cash in on City-

         10  owned property instead of making a comprehensive

         11  neighborhood- based planning effort that can provide

         12  housing and open space.  Instead of rewarding the

         13  successful community gardeners, they are being

         14  penalized for their hard work and initiative.  Thus

         15  our community gardens, waterfront land, parks and

         16  park- zoned spaces are now being threatened with

         17  development without thought.

         18                 The community gardens are almost

         19  always in neighborhoods with significant open space

         20  deficits, even  compared to New York's general bad

         21  open space deficit.  The South Bronx, Harlem and the

         22  Lower East Side, almost all of Brooklyn, and much of

         23  Queens fall into what the New York State Open Space

         24  Plan identifies as significantly underserved

         25  communities.  The communities with a large number of
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          2  gardens generally have less than an acre and a half

          3  of public open space per thousand residents.  Given

          4  that the gardens cost the City almost nothing, and

          5  provide the citizenry with so many public services,

          6  we can only guess that there is not enough awareness

          7  of what is going on in the public gardens and the

          8  value amongst our government.

          9                 Community gardening brings

         10  neighborhoods together and provides social lubricant

         11  often across artificial bounds of ethnicity, age,

         12  and economics.  Gardens also provide the extra eyes

         13  on the street, eyes that is always insistent of

         14  reducing a street problems.

         15                 This Council invests money in the

         16  City in so many social programs, some of which may

         17  be less successful as our community gardens and the

         18  gardens may be a better place to put some money.

         19                 One of the best kept secrets of

         20  community gardens is that it is more about community

         21  than about gardening.  While gardeners often discuss

         22  their crops, and more than one- third of the gardens

         23  supplement their food supply, it is by working

         24  together to beautify their City that neighbors are

         25  brought together to discover how much we all share
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          2  the same values.  The City's community gardens are

          3  often built in a way that encourages many uses of

          4  the spaces, including picnics, game courts, children

          5  play areas, community- based cultural events.  The

          6  gardens, over the years, have become the mortar that

          7  builds a stronger, more cohesive and friendlier

          8  community.

          9                 Community gardens, well, someone else

         10  spoke about the fact that the community gardens have

         11  been here, in America, since the middle 1800s, and

         12  were originally used to bring people together, and

         13  they serve once again.  But now time is running out

         14  for our gardens, if you the Council, the

         15  representatives of the New Yorkers cannot or will

         16  not help us, we are in great trouble, we are in

         17  danger of losing these gardens.  We ask that you

         18  join us, that you help us, that you let us help you

         19  we must save the gardens.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Let me ask you a

         22  question, you said some or a few, I don't remember

         23  how you said it, elected officials, what was that

         24  statement, they're going to benefit?

         25                 MS. BRANDT:  What I said was that I
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          2  think some of the elected officials don't

          3  understand, they only look at the auction as lots

          4  and block numbers.  These lots and block numbers are

          5  community gardens.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, that is not

          7  what I referring to.

          8                 MS. BRANDT:  All right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I think you

         10  mentioned how some of them are going to profit from

         11  this or do - -

         12                 MS. BRANDT:  No, no, no, not profit,

         13  no, no, no, I didn't mean that, I didn't mean

         14  personally profit, what I said was that now that the

         15  value of the property has gone on they want to sell

         16  the lots for profit.  But for profit I meant - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I understand.

         18  You see because every elected official's record is

         19  made public and I just wanted to make sure everyone

         20  knew that.  Thank you very much.

         21                 MS. BRANDT:  Well, I was not in any

         22  way - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, thank

         24  you, no, no, no, I appreciate that.

         25                 MS. BRANDT: - -  casting dispersions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I appreciate

          3  that.  All right, thank you very much, next person,

          4  please.  Is that Mr. Savini?

          5                 MR. SAVINI:  Yes, Federico Savini

          6  from the Forsyth Garden Conservancy.

          7                 Several years ago, a few summer weeds

          8  and largely neglected London Plane trees were the

          9  only reminders that section C of Sara Delano

         10  Roosevelt Park was once a pleasant public space. The

         11  London Plane trees, debilitated by a fungal disease

         12  were slowly dying and empty tree pits were

         13  conveniently filled with cement.

         14                 In 1994, Anna Magenta and I founded

         15  the Forsyth Garden Conservancy, a community- based

         16  organization with the mission of improving

         17  environmental and social problems in our

         18  neighborhood. Caring for the existing trees and

         19  planting new ones became an important part of our

         20  strategy from the beginning.  We came to view the

         21  trees as more than an outdoor adornment, we

         22  considered them a symbol of continuity and

         23  permanence.  We planted Birches, Hemlocks, Lindens,

         24  Crab Apples, American Hollies, Cypresses, an Oak,

         25  two Honey Locust, a Sour Wood, a Ginkgo, a Sweet
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          2  Gum, a Pine, a Franklinia and a Red Maple.  Some of

          3  these trees are common in the City; some are rarely

          4  seen.  We planted them in and around our community

          5  gardens, and in our neighborhood.  Every year we

          6  fertilize, prune and water them, and other trees

          7  around our gardens and buildings as well.  All these

          8  trees are in excellent condition and they look much

          9  better and much healthier than the ones that

         10  struggle on their own.

         11                 When I walk through the streets of my

         12  neighborhood, I see a mixed picture.  In some cases,

         13  trees are planted over and over again in the same

         14  pit, and over and over again they are destroyed.

         15  Sometimes they are destroyed by store owners that

         16  don't want to lose store front and sign visibility,

         17  other times by cars and very often by trucks much

         18  taller than the young trees themselves.  In other

         19  cases, I see beautiful healthy trees protected by

         20  tree guards.  Some tree guards double as benches,

         21  while others become beautiful sculptures and some

         22  guards also protect a well- tended miniature garden

         23  around the tree base.  On the Lower East Side many

         24  of those well cared trees are growing around our

         25  community gardens.  There is a network out there, an
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          2  army of volunteers fighting the odds of tree

          3  survival, like myself, these are the same people

          4  that fought drugs in their neighborhood, that

          5  rebuilt their houses with their own sweat and cared

          6  for the trees because they saw them as a symbol of

          7  permanence and sustainability.

          8                 I am here today to support

          9  educational and outreach programs that involve the

         10  community, especially geared toward the youth of our

         11  community to care for their urban forests.  I am

         12  here to support more public parks and community

         13  gardens where trees can grown in a protected

         14  environment, and finally, I am here to support a new

         15  set of effective tree protective measures for newly

         16  planted trees.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         19  much.  I'm just sorry that the press is not here in

         20  larger numbers because they would have you believe

         21  and have New York City people believe that you're

         22  not interested in trees and open space.  The very

         23  fact that you are out here on this so- called bad

         24  weather day is proof that you are interested and

         25  concerned.  Thank you very much.
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          2                 David Lutz, Lutz, thank you, I'm

          3  sorry.  Jane Weissman, we're going to hear everyone.

          4    If I don't call you in the order you think I

          5  should, I don't mean any harm, I'm just trying to do

          6  the best I can.  Terri Drach, is that it?  All

          7  right, would you please, those names I have called,

          8  and Sandra Allen.  Ms. Weissman, is she here?  Has

          9  she gone?  Mr. Lutz, is he gone?  Ms. Allen, I'm

         10  glad I have called your name, because you kept

         11  looking at me as though I would never call you.

         12                 MS. ALLEN:  No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, thank

         14  you.

         15                 MS. ALLEN:  I was just paying

         16  attention.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right, would

         18  you ladies continue?  We're going right down the

         19  list.  Make sure you're close to the mic.

         20                 MS. DRACH:  Good afternoon, my name

         21  is Terri Drach. I'm also President of the Community

         22  Garden Coalition.  I would like to thank our

         23  honorable Council members for holding this hearing,

         24  it's been a long time in coming.

         25                 I would like to let you know that
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          2  gardening is America's fastest growing recreational

          3  activity, and it is every bit as recreational as

          4  basketball or baseball.  Every block deserves a

          5  community garden.  It's one of the only forms of

          6  recreation that kids of all ages can play, whether

          7  they're 3 or 103, and you don't have to have a great

          8  vertical leap to get picked for the team.

          9                 Gardens are run by caring volunteers,

         10  I'm glad someone appreciates the analogy, they're

         11  run by caring volunteers,- -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  It's not lost,

         13  we heard you.

         14                 MS. DRACH: - -  who spend their own

         15  hard- earned money to help their neighborhoods look

         16  better, while growing fresh wholesome food, and even

         17  as a side light, keeping local out of trouble.  A

         18  kid too tired from digging, hauling water, planting

         19  and weeding, is a kid too tired to hanging out on

         20  the corner until midnight and get into trouble.  And

         21  this is very important, we don't need our young kids

         22  to end up in places like Riker's Island, and gardens

         23  are a key method, or proven to keep them out of

         24  places like that.

         25                 New York City's 20,000 community
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          2  gardeners working only 10 hours a week, sometimes

          3  more in the summer and sometimes less in the winter,

          4  52 weeks a year, at minimum wage, which is $5.15 an

          5  hour provide over $53,960,000 a year in volunteer

          6  labor alone to their communities.

          7                 Scientifically proven benefits of

          8  gardens, and if you would like the studies, I can

          9  provide them, include reduced crime, community

         10  cohesion, cleaner air, reduced asthma, and even

         11  increased property values.  The City Council needs

         12  to permanently preserve all the community gardens.

         13  Maybe some gardens don't have the British manicured

         14  look, however, they meet real community needs

         15  without asking for handouts.

         16                 A permanent garden preservation

         17  vehicles, such as a garden run community garden land

         18  trust where parks should be explored, or movement of

         19  parks, run by gardeners, a community garden land

         20  trust would be responsible for the day- to- day

         21  operations as well as overall responsibility for the

         22  land trust. Land trust for community gardens have

         23  been done in other New York State urban areas, such

         24  as Troy, and could be easily replicated here.

         25  Community gardening in New York should be expanded
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          2  to include a garden on every block, as I mentioned

          3  earlier, it's even part of the New York Solid Waste

          4  problem, as we have all heard so much about garbage,

          5  community gardens compost, meaning you take your

          6  kitchen scraps, your potato peels, your apple cores

          7  and you compost them and turn them into perfectly

          8  good dirt, keeping them out of the waste cycle, out

          9  of trucks headed for Staten Island and on barges

         10  headed to places like Virginia.

         11                 I urge the Council to pass Resolution

         12  377 as well as enact legislation which would make

         13  community gardens a permanent part of New York's

         14  landscape.  Further, any legislation should include

         15  a provision to provide two for one replacement

         16  square footage of garden space prior to a garden

         17  destruction.  Cities around the world are nurturing

         18  and protecting gardens, this great City of New York

         19  cannot be left behind.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         21  much.  One thing that you could do is advise people

         22  to do that might help is just to eat the cores as

         23  well as the apple, and they won't have to use

         24  laxatives.  That is for real.  Ms. Allen.  Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MS. ALLEN:  Thank you very much, Mr.

          3  Foster and the City Council for allowing us to come

          4  here and speak.  I'm speaking on behalf of the

          5  Manhattan Neighborhood Council, which consists of

          6  residents throughout New York City who represent

          7  diverse groups, who voted to adopt the following

          8  resolution.  We, the Manhattan Neighborhood Council,

          9  call on New York City to preserve and protect for

         10  the future generations through the creation of the

         11  community garden land trust, the over 200 acres of

         12  open space and over 750 community gardens.  These

         13  gardens are less than 10 percent of the City's

         14  inventory of over 11,000 vacant City- owned lots and

         15  hundreds of abandoned buildings.  Community gardens

         16  are created by the community garden volunteers, who

         17  donate thousands of hours to make their

         18  neighborhoods a cleaner, safer, more beautiful

         19  space.

         20                 We urge the City to refer to the

         21  community gardens by name rather than by block and

         22  lot number as is currently the case.  These are not

         23   "vacant lots."  We call on the City Council's Parks

         24  Committee and City Council to pass Resolution 377,

         25  which currently is in front of the Parks Committee.
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          2  This resolution calls for the "appropriate Committee

          3  of the City Council of New York to hold hearings on

          4  the transfer of the Green Thumb Community Gardens

          5  from the Parks Department to HPD's Asset and Sales

          6  Unit, and further, calling upon the City to maintain

          7  and expand the community garden program based on its

          8  significant contribution to the revitalization and

          9  quality of life of New York City."

         10                 We oppose any transfer of any City-

         11  owned gardens to New York City Economic Development

         12  Corporation for an accelerated sale.  We urge the

         13  creation of new, permanent community gardens to also

         14  be included under the Community Garden Trust in

         15  response to the nation's highest asthma rates and

         16  the City's perennial failure to meet Federal Air

         17  Quality Regulations.  We urge the City to analyze

         18  existing infrastructure including open space before

         19  the decision is made to build additional housing on

         20  any currently open space or "vacant land" which

         21  currently houses a garden.  The 750 community

         22  gardens constitute a third community managed and

         23  maintained botanical garden, at no cost to New York

         24  City.

         25                 All across the United States
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          2  community gardens are nourished by municipal

          3  governments who recognize the numerous benefits that

          4  community volunteer, design, and maintain gardens

          5  provide, such as fresh air, safety, recreation, a

          6  healthier environment for all, educational

          7  opportunities, community cohesion, crime prevention,

          8  increased property values and tax receipts.

          9                 Now is our chance to rethink our

         10  urban environment for the 21st Century.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Thank you both.

         13    Elizabeth Cooke, Eugenia Flatow, Sandra Chapman,

         14  Susan Chambers, Christine Foreman, in that order,

         15  please.  Did you hear me, I repeat, Eugenia Flatow,

         16  Sandra Chapman, Elizabeth Cooke, and Susan Chambers?

         17    Oh, you're here, all right, thank you.  Christine

         18  Foreman, I called as well, is she here?  Ms. Flatow

         19  is here, Sandra Chapman, she is not here.

         20                 MR. PERS:  Ms. Chapman is right here.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, thank you,

         22  I'm just trying to identify you.  Did I mention

         23  Chambers, yet, are you Chambers?  Cooke, did I

         24  mention, all right.  Is that it?  Foreman is not

         25  here, right?  All right, would you begin please?
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          2  Ms. Cooke, why don't we start with you, and then go,

          3  or either way you want to do it, I will be here all

          4  day.  Ms. Flatow, would you like to do it, please?

          5  Let me designate you, since you ladies are having a

          6  vote on it, all right?  I'm nominating you, all

          7  right?

          8                 MS. FLATOW:  My name is Eugenia

          9  Flatow, and I appear today as a Trustee and Chair of

         10  the Environment Committee  of The City Club of New

         11  York to register our strong support for open space

         12  and community gardens as a vital component  of

         13  neighborhood quality of life for all New Yorkers.

         14                 For over 108 years, the City Club has

         15  served a non partisan "watchdog" on City government,

         16  working to make New York City a better place for all

         17  of us to live and work.  Our policy on open space an

         18  community gardens is long standing.  Eight years

         19  ago, when a similar debate over affordable housing

         20  and community gardens took place on the Lower East

         21  Side, we adopted a position which I attach for the

         22  record.  Let me just read a brief summary from the

         23  first paragraph:

         24                  "the Trustees believe that existing

         25  open and available spaces, primarily City- owned,
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          2  should become the foundation of every neighborhood's

          3  open space network in collaboration with the several

          4  City Planning agencies, where feasible.  Open space

          5  and community gardens are essential to the

          6  community's welfare both socially and culturally,

          7  and for its total environment.  Therefore, a policy

          8  of promotion and development of open green space is

          9  essential to every community's healthy growth."

         10                 Just this week, however, the Board of

         11  Trustees reaffirmed and extended to the entire City

         12  the position I have just read to you, and directed

         13  me to pledge our support to work cooperatively with

         14  all stakeholders to resolve the dilemma in which we

         15  now find ourselves.

         16                 Our commitment is this:  The Board of

         17  Trustees of the City Club of New York has directed

         18  its relevant committee chairs to work with the

         19  Council, the Department of Parks and Recreation, the

         20  Department of Housing Preservation and Development,

         21  and all stakeholders and gardeners, to seek a

         22  rational strategy to retain those community gardens

         23  that are preservable and seek a Community Board

         24  process that fairly represents local priorities for

         25  land use decisions.  We make this commitment because
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          2  we believe that a rational, non- partisan, balanced

          3  approach can find local solutions which recognize

          4  the considerable effort contributed by neighborhood

          5  volunteers to improve their communities.  The need

          6  for both more open space and affordable housing

          7  inevitably increases tensions, particularly in

          8  communities where competing interests must struggle

          9  over limited resources.  Both priorities command our

         10  respect.  We hope to be useful in helping to diffuse

         11  polarization and to seek less hasty and more

         12  reasonable approaches to evaluating competing needs.

         13                 And I endorse what has been said

         14  about the fact that this auction is absurd, as well

         15  as a detriment to all that many of us have worked

         16  for, for many years, and I put my age on the table

         17  as proof of that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  May I say that

         19  there are those who say you can't fight City Hall,

         20  you could also write to City Hall, and you were kind

         21  enough to write to the Speaker, and we appreciate

         22  that.  All right?  Thank you.

         23                 MS. CHAMBERS:  Good afternoon,

         24  everyone.  I have read Resolution 377 and understand

         25  it to mean that its purpose is to determine the
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          2  appropriate Committee to hold a hearing.  This

          3  Committee is appropriate, but I suggest that the

          4  Community Garden issue also be heard by the

          5  Committees of Aging, Economic Development,

          6  Education, Environmental Protection, Finance,

          7  General Welfare, Governmental Operations, Health,

          8  Housing and Buildings, Land Use, Public Safety,

          9  Standards and Ethics, State and Federal Legislation,

         10  Women's Issues, and Youth Services.  That would

         11  about cover it and serve to familiarize perhaps - -

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  In other words,

         13  you want to be heard.

         14                 MS. CHAMBERS:  You know, we do.  That

         15  would about cover it and serve to familiarize

         16  perhaps all members of City Council, firsthand, with

         17  this issue.

         18                 Of course, a moratorium on the

         19  destruction of all community gardens and the removal

         20  of all gardens from the auction, RFQs, RFPs, et

         21  cetera, until this issue is fully heard is only

         22  proper.

         23                 Two days after the first round of

         24  public hearings on the May Auction containing 126

         25  community gardens, we are speaking about this
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          2  resolution.  Community gardeners were not fearful

          3  that the City would auction the gardens, we knew

          4  they would, some of you knew they would too.

          5                 I feel for all members of each and

          6  every one of these gardens.  I understand too well

          7  the pain of this.  Our garden, the 16- year- old

          8  Brooklyn Bear Community Garden was bulldozed in

          9  September 1997 for a Sneaker Stadium.  The last

         10  thing we needed in Brooklyn was another place to buy

         11  sneakers.  We fought a tough battle and won a small

         12  part of our garden, we struggle to come back.  We

         13  are a proud nine- month- old garden.

         14                 Included in the May Auction are the

         15  six remaining community gardens in Community Board

         16  6.  I fail to see how the commercial development of

         17  these six single lots could have any meaningful

         18  impact on the economy or that housing on them would

         19  miraculously solve the housing shortage.  Their

         20  destruction will have an impact on the already low

         21  open space ratio.

         22                 Combined these six gardens equal 103

         23  Operation Green Thumb licensed years.

         24                 Perhaps we need a new Committee of

         25  Council members. This Committee will attend all the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            140

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  vigils and garden funerals. They will stand with us

          3  and watch the bulldozers claw at the trees. They

          4  will explain to the children how a tree is interim.

          5  An when the children point to the boarded up HPD

          6  buildings and ask, "Why don't they fix them?"  And

          7  when they point to the vacant lots and ask, "Why

          8  don't they build over there?  You will all have the

          9  answers, right?

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Ms. Chambers,

         12  thank you for your testimony.  You said some of us

         13  knew about an auction,  I don't know of anyone on

         14  this Committee, I don't know about other Council

         15  members, but let me just say this, this Committee

         16  over the years, since I have been Chairman, have

         17  gone out of their way to try to be fair with

         18  everyone and be honest with each other.  We're here

         19  today because we want to hear you, and a lot of

         20  things that people expect the Council members to do,

         21  can't be done on this side of the Hall.  I think the

         22  Council members, most of them are on your side, a

         23  lot of things we will have to change the Charter, if

         24  we want other things done that some people would

         25  like done, or some things done.
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          2                 I appreciate your testimony, I just

          3  want you to know, I don't know about other Council

          4  members, but I know of this Committee, and they are

          5  a group of fair- minded individuals, who came here

          6  on this day and most of them spoke to me before you

          7  started writing me about holding this hearing so

          8  that you could be heard.  I just want you to

          9  understand that.  They are individuals, who will

         10  make up their own minds, they have the material that

         11  you're giving up, they are going to read it over,

         12  Counsel is going to be here to tell us what we can

         13  do and what we cannot do under the Charter.

         14                 And I can assure you, for myself, and

         15  I think I speak without contradiction from any of my

         16  members, that we are going to try as fair with you,

         17  as honest with you, because you see the City that

         18  you're talking about is our City as well.  Community

         19  gardens that you are talking about are in all of our

         20  districts. The trees you're trying to plant would

         21  benefit all of us.  So we're here as friends to

         22  support you, but we have to sit here and listen, and

         23  then after we have listened, we have got to work

         24  within a budget that only by Charter the Mayor can

         25  project, and that means we cannot change, take money
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          2  from that budget.  We may move money from one

          3  department to another, but when the tree advocacy

          4  say give us more money, than the Youth Committee

          5  will say give us more money, the senior citizens

          6  will say, what about our money.  So what we have to

          7  do is to take one pile of money and do the best we

          8  can with it as members of the City Council.  All

          9  right, thank you. This is not a debate.

         10                 Yes, Ma'am, Ms. Cooke.

         11                 MS. COOKE:  Thank you, Reverend

         12  Foster.  And I want to mention that I wanted to

         13  refer to Eugenia Flatow and have her go first,

         14  because included in her many, many excellent years

         15  of wonderful civic work in New York City, she is a

         16  former Trustee of the Parks Council.

         17                 I would like to speak just very

         18  briefly in support of Resolution 492, which is

         19  calling for increased inspections and maintenance of

         20  large parks in New York City, and because I have

         21  spoken to you about the content of this report in

         22  the past, I just want to make a few, brief remarks

         23  in response to the Parks Department testimony this

         24  morning.

         25                 We did this report, partly because
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          2  when I come to testify before you, before members of

          3  the City Council on Parks Department Budget Hearings

          4  and ask that some funds be restored, total funding

          5  of parks in New York City is down over 30 percent in

          6  the last 10 years, you have, some of you have asked

          7  me very reasonable questions that I couldn't answer.

          8    You said, how much more money do they need, Ms.

          9  Cooke, and what do they need it for? And so we did

         10  this report and we did it with two expert sets of

         11  partners.  One expert partner was we went to

         12  Columbia University to make sure we had a

         13  methodology that would stand up to scrutiny, and

         14  then we went to the Friends of Parks Groups,

         15  themselves, and ask them to join us in these

         16  inspections.

         17                 And the Parks Department, this

         18  morning, said that they found some of our findings

         19  perhaps not accurate.  I would like to, first of

         20  all, say to you, we were in those parks, and if you

         21  go back there today, maybe some of the circumstances

         22  are changed, but we never claimed that it was

         23  anything but that, and it isn't so much to speak

         24  about what circumstances are particularly there on a

         25  given day, but to say that the City, itself, was not
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          2  inspecting parks, except for less than 15 percent of

          3  its parkland, we hope that by doing regular

          4  inspections we will all be able to document better

          5  what is needed, what funds are needed for in parks,

          6  and we are delighted to hear that the Parks

          7  Department, itself, is now willing to begin a

          8  process of taking on parks.

          9                 I think this is in direct response to

         10  the City Council's interest and actions on this.  I

         11  want to thank you and I want to encourage you to

         12  continue to pass Resolution 492, and to try to help

         13  us keep good public attention, public light, and

         14  more information open to the public on this matter.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 MS. COOKE:  I have submitted

         19  photographs of some of our inspections in the

         20  materials I gave to you.

         21                 MS. CHAPMAN:  Good afternoon,

         22  Chairman Wendell Foster and members of the Council.

         23  My name is Sandra Chapman, Assistant to Borough

         24  President Golden.  I would like to read the

         25  following on behalf of the Borough President in
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          2  regard to the 55 Brooklyn Community Gardens that the

          3  Division of Real Estate Services proposes to sell at

          4  its next public auction.

          5                  "It is unacceptable that these

          6  community gardens have been included in the auction

          7  process without notification to my office, the

          8  affected Community Boards and the Community

          9  Gardeners.  Previous meetings and correspondence

         10  between key members of the Department of Housing

         11  Preservation and Development, the agency having

         12  jurisdiction over these properties, and my office

         13  indicated that no action would be taken on community

         14  garden sites without prior notification.  I was also

         15  assured that HPD would review with the local

         16  Community Boards any plans that may utilize garden

         17  sites.  To date, none of this has occurred.

         18                 Although community gardens originated

         19  as interim uses, they provide vital open space in

         20  communities underserved by traditional park land.

         21  Some gardens have evolved into focal points for

         22  community- based organizations and residents.  These

         23  properties should be withdrawn from auction so that

         24  their usage may be reviewed in a comprehensive

         25  fashion.  If the City cannot utilize community
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          2  gardens for either residential or commercial

          3  development, these properties should be retained as

          4  gardens through either long term leases or sales to

          5  the individual gardens or not- for- profit

          6  organizations.

          7                 An opportunity must be given for the

          8  community and its elected officials to review and

          9  analyze what is most needed for their respective

         10  communities.

         11                 My office recently completed a study

         12  which discovered that once sold, most vacant lots

         13  remain undeveloped, or worse, becoming dumping

         14  grounds for unauthorized vehicles and garbage.

         15  Approval of this disposition of these parcels would

         16  result in the loss of these valuable community

         17  facilities.  Based on my study, it is unlikely that

         18  a majority of these properties will continue as

         19  productive uses.  They will most likely become eye

         20  sores, as they once were to many Brooklyn

         21  neighborhoods.

         22                 The decision to continue community

         23  gardens should be made on a case- by- case basis, in

         24  a process that includes the affected Community

         25  Board, City Council member, and Borough President.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            147

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  This process should not be unilaterally carried out

          3  by a City agency.

          4                 I urge the Council to seek the

          5  withdrawal of all community gardens from auction,

          6  until a thorough review can be completed on the

          7  community impact of each garden.

          8                 I would welcome the opportunity to

          9  work cooperatively with the Council and appropriate

         10  agencies to achieve these goals.

         11                 Thank you."

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Thank you,

         13  ladies.  We have requested the Administration to be

         14  present, was it two or three departments, and they

         15  did not respond.  Al, we will give you five

         16  questions, if you could convey it to them and see if

         17  they would, at least, give us the courtesy of

         18  answering them in writing?  Now we could, perhaps,

         19  seek from our legal counsels, whether we should

         20  subpoena these officials or not, but you know that

         21  in this Administration oftentimes you subpoena

         22  officials and they will still sit there and say

         23  nothing.  And we can't force people to say what they

         24  don't want to say, but we will do what we can to get

         25  answers for you, because when we get answers for
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          2  you, we get answers for ourselves and the people of

          3  New York City.

          4                 Thank you very much.  Al, I will give

          5  you these before you leave.

          6                 Our representative from the

          7  Administration here, but he does not have, I don't

          8  believe, the authority to speak for these

          9  Commissioners.  We will convey information to him

         10  that you have given us, and then we will be getting

         11  back to you.  All right, thank you.

         12                 Diana Signe Kline, Susan Livingston.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         14  much.  Tom Twente, is that correct, am I saying that

         15  correctly?

         16                 MR. TWENTE:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         18  Barry Benepe, Barry, how do you say that?  B- E- N-

         19  E- P- E, is that right?   Michael, how do you say

         20  your last name?

         21                 MR. MCAULIFF:  McAuliff.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  McAuliff, all

         23  right, thank you. And Andrea McAuliff, are you the

         24  same people, do you know him? You're going to sit

         25  beside him?  Okay, apparently not, all right, thank
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          2  you very much.  Let's see now, Ms. Livingston

          3  declines to speak, two of them, it's Twente and

          4  Barry Benepe, anyway you know when I'm trying to say

          5  your name, if you're not here, all right. And Diana

          6  Signe Kline, you're here.  Thank you very much.

          7  Would you read your testimony, Ms. Kline, would you

          8  begin?

          9                 MS. SIGNE KLINE:  Hi, my name is

         10  Diana Signe Kline. I am currently the President of

         11  the 6BC Botanical Garden.  I have been a member of

         12  this garden for 13 years.  6BC is situated between

         13  Avenues B and C in Manhattan.

         14                 In the early 1900s, tenement

         15  buildings were built on this block, to pack in, like

         16  sardines, some of the huge influx of immigrants.  At

         17  that time very little concern was given to quality

         18  of life in terms of the adequate needs for air and

         19  light, not to mention open space, for these people

         20  in this ghetto.

         21                 After several cycles of newcomers and

         22  many years of neglect, in 1963, more than 35 years

         23  ago, the buildings at 624- 628 East 6th Street were

         24  demolished, leaving the site thoughtlessly derelict,

         25  ignored and in total decay by the City and
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          2  developers for 18 years.  It was not until the

          3  Spring of 1981 concerned community members and

          4  Operation Green Thumb cleared the lot and created

          5  the 6th Street Community Garden.  Today, the garden

          6  on this site is called the 6BC Botanical Garden, it

          7  is a beautiful sanctuary, a green oasis, which has

          8  helped breathe life into the East 6th Street.

          9                 6BC is deeply honored, by the

         10  possibility of becoming a part of the New York City

         11  Parks Department, to be their first, Manhattan-

         12  based, Botanical Garden.  We are humble, that our

         13  work has been so respected by the City, and our

         14  leadership has been recognized.  But, today, I am

         15  here to ask for the support of this City Council for

         16  Resolution 377, on behalf of all of the community

         17  gardens in New York City.

         18                 The City has not planned for much

         19  needed open space for future generations in many

         20  communities.  It is cutting funds for parks and

         21  recreation.  In community gardens we have already

         22  organized private caretaking of public open space.

         23  We have a rare opportunity to continue to enhance

         24  all the lives of people living near and

         25  participating in community gardens without costing
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          2  the City large amounts of money.  Each garden

          3  creates synthetic corners providing much needed air

          4  and light for adjacent properties.

          5                 Community gardeners are committed to

          6  community well being:

          7                 We care about the way our

          8  neighborhood looks.

          9                 How it feels, to walk down the

         10  street.

         11                 Where to find a calm and tranquil

         12  spot, amidst the hustle of the City.

         13                 As community gardeners, our mission

         14  is to provide a responsible community stewardship of

         15  a public space.  We have created a place where every

         16  day citizens can take responsibility for their City.

         17    We firmly believe that we have done that and our

         18  work will continue to do just that.

         19                 Our work involves three areas:  Cross

         20  cultural communication, horticultural beautification

         21  and environmental education.  We want to be able to

         22  give people the opportunity to learn about beauty

         23  and nature right here in New York City.

         24                 Our vision of the promise land is to

         25  have all the community gardens open to the public
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          2  every day of the year.

          3                 We believe that our work is a gift to

          4  the neighborhood and the neighborhood, in turn, is

          5  giving it to the City and the City is giving a

          6  preciously gift to the world.  We all give to each

          7  other to make this a better block, a better city, a

          8  better world.

          9                 And it is with this spirit of giving

         10  that we ask you to help save our beautiful oases.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         13  much.  Who is next?

         14                 MR. TWENTE:  Good afternoon, my name

         15  is Thomas Twente, and I am here on behalf of Our

         16  Lady of Peace/Gil Hodges Memorial Garden.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Twente, in

         18  addition to your testimony, we have a correspondence

         19  from Reverend Crispo.

         20                 MR. TWENTE:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MR. TWENTE:  And several other

         24  people.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.
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          2                 MR. TWENTE:  I represent PS 372, the

          3  Children's School PTA, today.  Councilman Foster and

          4  members, I thank you for supporting the gardens on

          5  the May auction list.  I am here to urge you to pass

          6  Resolution No. 377.  I think those of us here know

          7  and agree on the benefits of community gardens.  For

          8  the sake of brevity, I submit this American

          9  Community Gardening monograph on the benefits of

         10  community gardens.

         11                 In all due respect though, I believe

         12  this a Land Use issue and should be heard before the

         13  Land Use Committee.  There are over 10,000 truly

         14  vacant lots in this City, and let Mayor Giuliani

         15  follow the dedicated example of community gardeners

         16  and clean those up first and build on them, before

         17  putting community garden on the auction list.

         18                 Please, continue to represent us in

         19  this manner, for someone who was recently quoted in

         20  the press as saying, that the error of Communism is

         21  over, Giuliani is acting very much like a dictator.

         22  And I urge you to please do battle on our behalf.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Twente, two

         25  comments, brief ones.  The Speaker convenes the
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          2  Chairs of all of the Committees to discuss among

          3  themselves issues that did come and will come before

          4  them.  Therefore, when you suggest that this go to

          5  Land Use Committee or the Youth Committee, et

          6  cetera, all of the Committed Chairs will hear what

          7  we have to say in our report to them, and it

          8  probably will be heard by them.

          9                 Also, just one other thing, I try to

         10  be, I have to be sensitive to a lot of things, I

         11  don't like, and I'm not reprimanding you, I'm just

         12  trying to tell you how this Chairman feels, I don't

         13  like for people to be referred to in uncomplimentary

         14  terms, even if they may be true, it's not fair, as

         15  one who lives daily, goes to bed with dispersions,

         16  gets up and sleeps with them and has dreams and have

         17  nightmares, I just don't like that.  I say that in

         18  the same light that I said a while ago, when someone

         19  mentioned that had he been in a certain neighborhood

         20  he could have been a thug or a hoodlum rather, or a

         21  stevedore.  I believe that people who lived in the

         22  community and who do live in that community, who

         23  still do live in that community are not all thugs

         24  and not all stevedores.  I just hope that we will be

         25  kind to each other, understand what I'm trying to
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          2  say.  I'm not reprimanding you, that is just my own

          3  feelings.

          4                 Next person, please?  Council Member

          5  Reed had a comment, thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair, and I certainly concur with your remarks and

          8  I know that the community of citizens, sometimes

          9  this is the first time you have come to the Council,

         10  so the ways of it are all a mystique, as sometimes

         11  it is to the Council members too.  But what the

         12  Committee is hearing, I think the Chairman is

         13  absolutely right, the issue is resounded with all of

         14  the Council members.  My staff in trying to respond

         15  as many of you have to this thing that was put on us

         16  by the Administration, according to my staff, 23 of

         17  the 45 lots located in Manhattan that are up for

         18  auction in May are in my district, over 50 percent

         19  of them are in my district.  And I think that is

         20  probably just on the east side of the district that

         21  I have.

         22                 And in trying to address this issue,

         23  and I'm asking you actually a question in your

         24  testimony, I agree with you completely that we need

         25  to reassess, we need to have more community gardens,
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          2  we need trees, all of everything what is being said.

          3  However, there are problems in some communities with

          4  what are called community gardens and they are not

          5  community.  It might be a garden, but they are not

          6  community, one, two, three people have access to

          7  these, lock them up, some of them are ill

          8  maintained, some of them look worse than they did

          9  before they were given to the community group.  Not

         10  everybody has to say Amen, but, so, I mean, today we

         11  are all hearing from activist, from people who were

         12  involved with their gardens, but there is a problem

         13  in certain communities.

         14                 I spoke to people on my Community

         15  Board and it might have been a flip remark, but it

         16  was, half of those gardens could be bulldozed and

         17  the community would be better off.  So I ask you in

         18  your comments to give us suggestions, because that

         19  is part of the problem that gives the license to the

         20  Administration to say that we ought to get rid of

         21  these in their wholesale approach.  I'm trying to

         22  look as a member of this Committee and a member of

         23  this Council to not respond in an alternative

         24  wholesale, if you understand what I mean, but to

         25  find an intelligent way to address the issue of
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          2  keeping the gardens that work and how do we address

          3  the issue of access of the public, because, in fact,

          4  these are public lands.

          5                 So, if in your comments, I know

          6  you're telling us all your gardens are great, all

          7  gardens are great, but they ain't. Okay, so let's be

          8  serious.  So, just tell me, how do we balance this

          9  stuff?

         10                 MR. TWENTE:  Community gardens are

         11  not permanent things necessarily all the time.  What

         12  needs to be taken into account is the direction the

         13  Administration has taken community gardening

         14  overall.  Green Thumb has always been an organic

         15  program that brings gardens into fruition and others

         16  die.  But what this process does, and I agree with

         17  you there are gardens that aren't up to standards

         18  and maybe would serve better uses, where people have

         19  let them go, but what we need to realize is that

         20  with the way the Administration is going, there

         21  won't be any new gardens to come in and take their

         22  place.  And I urge you to keep that mechanism in

         23  place by supporting the Green Thumb Program.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Well, I don't

         25  necessarily need, I appreciate your answer, and my
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          2  question is to the following of you who will be

          3  testifying.  But my question also is, how do we

          4  ensure access of the public, this is public land

          5  leased to organizations, so don't feel it necessary

          6  for you to respond, but you gave me one part of the

          7  answer, but I'm saying this is a broad issue.  It is

          8  not just a blanket statement.  So, two other people

          9  are testifying, I know we have a lot more to hear,

         10  but you might incorporate that into your testimony,

         11  not everybody has to feel obligated.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Councilman Reed,

         13  I think what, may I just say, to get back on what

         14  you said, that very often we do get complaints that

         15  community gardens lock themselves in against the

         16  community, I think that is what you're referring to.

         17    And people, not just those who are part of a

         18  Committee should be allowed in; is that correct?

         19  All right, she would like to respond, thank you.

         20  Thanks, Councilman Reed.

         21                 MS. SIGNE KLINE:  The gardens

         22  themselves are an evolutionary process, so when

         23  someone is talking about a well maintained 20- year-

         24  old garden, you know it took 20 years to get there,

         25  and the organization grows too, it's not just the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            159

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  plants, the trees grow within the people and the

          3  strength.  And it's really a matter of saving this

          4  open space, because there just won't be anymore.

          5  And so while a garden may not be perfectly organized

          6  today, with a little, you know, cooperation all

          7  around, they could be beautiful, public, open every

          8  day, kind of deals in the near future.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  They could be,

         10  they're not is what he is saying, I believe.

         11                 MS. SIGNE KLINE:  It's a process that

         12  happens over time, it needs time to develop and

         13  maybe this is wake- up call.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, I

         15  think that is what he is giving you.  Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 MR. MCAULIFF:  Hi, I'm Michael

         18  McAuliff, and I'm representing the Lincoln Berkley

         19  Garden.  And my remarks have, I guess - -

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  And where is

         21  Lincoln Berkley Garden?

         22                 MR. MCAULIFF:  Lincoln Berkley is in

         23  Park Slope, Community Board 6.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  This is a whole

         25  City, not all of us are familiar with every borough.
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          2                 MR. MCAULIFF:  That is right, okay.

          3  My remarks sort of address that, and I think the

          4  City has the right to dispose of and to decide what

          5  to do with its property, but I think an evaluation

          6  process needs to happen, and there doesn't seem to

          7  be any kind of evaluation process that is going on

          8  right now.  You can look at the gardens and you can

          9  easily see which ones are maintained, and used, and

         10  have access by the surrounding community. And I

         11  don't think it would be very hard to make access

         12  easier simply by putting a little phone number on a

         13  garden and a little instruction about how you can

         14  join, it is a pretty simple thing to do.  And as the

         15  evaluation process goes on, which I hope you folks

         16  can find a way to require, I think you should look

         17  at, also, the economic impacts of these gardens

         18  because our Mayor seems to think that it is more

         19  appropriate to develop them than to maintain them as

         20  green spaces.

         21                 And just as a personal very specific

         22  anecdote there are eight or ten or twelve buildings

         23  that face this particular garden on my block and

         24  they all have windows that look out on the garden,

         25  and when I purchased my co- op in that building it

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            161

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  was worth another $20,000 to me to be looking out on

          3  a garden.  And if it weren't there or if I knew it

          4  could, tomorrow, turn into a parking lot, it would

          5  have been worth a lot less than that to me, and that

          6  kind of economic impact raises property values in

          7  the City and it's a good thing all around when that

          8  happens.

          9                 And that is all I have to say,

         10  thanks.

         11                 MS. MCAULIFF:  Hi, good afternoon.

         12  My name is Andrea Cola McAuliff.  I was not going to

         13  speak today, but when I went to first plant bulbs at

         14  the community garden, I think I would wind up in

         15  City Hall either, so I am going to say something

         16  very briefly.  I think that laws can help stop

         17  people from littering, but I think the Mayor and

         18  other politicians would be very interested to hear

         19  of a way to get citizens and members of the

         20  community to bend down and pick up somebody else's

         21  litter.  That is a leap that it is very difficult to

         22  get people to make in the City, and it's leap that

         23  in the community gardens made people make.  They got

         24  people together and got them to improve their

         25  communities and take responsibility for their own
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          2  quality of life, and I think that is something that

          3  should encouraged not discouraged.

          4                 And I think that by planning these

          5  auctions the City sends the message that civic

          6  responsibility doesn't pay, and that in a year with

          7  a billion dollar surplus concerned citizens will

          8  reap nothing but pain for their efforts over 20

          9  years.  I think these gardens represent the

         10  opportunity to endow a public green space that is

         11  worthy of Frederick Law Homestead and if the City

         12  holds these auctions, that opportunity will never

         13  come again.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         16  much.  You may be excused, thank you.  Irene Van

         17  Slyke, Francine Rogers, Haja Worley, Parlee Scott,

         18  is that correct, 26 Hunter.  Matt Power, is he here?

         19    Susan Howard, did I call that name before?  Okay,

         20  thank you very much.

         21                 Ms. Van Slyke would you begin,

         22  please, thank you?            MS. VAN SLYKE:  My

         23  name is Irene Van Slyke, and I live in Downtown

         24  Brooklyn.  My neighbors and I have worked in the

         25  David Foulke Memorial Garden for 27 years.  The
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          2  garden now is part of the Brooklyn Alliance for

          3  Neighborhood Gardens and we have also started to

          4  work with the Neighborhood Open Space Coalition, and

          5  while I have prepared some remarks, to answer the

          6  question of Councilman Reed, I just want to give you

          7  some answers.

          8                 About 15 years ago there were several

          9  City- owned lots in my neighborhood, and they were

         10  for sale, and the neighborhood residents discussed

         11  if we should stay a public community garden or

         12  should we try to privatize it.  And one part of the

         13  neighborhood decided to privatize the park, and the

         14  other one to keep it public, and the reason being

         15  that a public community garden would be public, it

         16  would be public land and it would be open to all

         17  under certain assumptions when it is public.  The

         18  other garden became, I don't know how they bought

         19  it, but I think through the Trust for Public Land or

         20  something like that, that has really become a

         21  private garden for one or two gardeners.  While ours

         22  has always, it has had its ups and downs, I will say

         23  that, but it has always been public, and the

         24  community, sometimes people stepped in when other

         25  people died or moved on, people said, this is a
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          2  public garden and they continued it.

          3                 And what it is happening in our

          4  garden and why it is often an emotional issue is

          5  that we have dedicated the planting of trees to

          6  people who either inspired us to keep the garden or

          7  who died.  For example, David Foulke was a gardener

          8  who took care of the garden for many years and he

          9  died of AIDS, and we named the garden after him.  We

         10  planted, about a year ago, a Quantson Cherry Tree

         11  for the late Noel Pointer, a jazz violinist, who

         12  lived right across from the garden, and he used to

         13  play the violin every Christmas when we sang

         14  Christmas carols in the garden.  We also dedicated a

         15  tree to the person who initially inspired us to

         16  start the garden and to clean it up.  So I think

         17  that is the difference between a community garden

         18  and a private garden.

         19                 I also have some suggestions on how

         20  we could address this.  We should look at all the

         21  gardens and see which ones are active and which ones

         22  are not, which ones can be developed and which ones

         23  cannot.  Ours is very small, it's 100 feet by 30, I

         24  think.  It's not economically feasible.  We also

         25  urge to look into Garden Trust or Land Trust or

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            165

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  whatever they call it, that they have in other

          3  cities where a community- based organization that we

          4  have in our neighborhood, the Fifth Avenue

          5  Committee, it's a Housing Preservation Company, they

          6  have told us they're willing to work with us to

          7  manage the community gardens in the area, some of

          8  the gardens you have heard from today.  And we have

          9  never had any money from the City, we raise the

         10  funds and built the fence, we planted and bought the

         11  trees.  I don't remember any money that ever went to

         12  us.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         15  much, and I commend you for naming something for

         16  Noel Pointer, a most worthy individual.  Francine

         17  Rogers.

         18                 MS. ROGERS:  Thank you for giving a

         19  chance to speak. My name is Francine Rogers, and I

         20  have been a community garden for over 15 years at

         21  the Neighborhood Advisory Community Garden, on East

         22  151st Street in the South Bronx.  I'm tempted to

         23  turn in this, I wrote out and gave you copies,

         24  because I also was, I would love to respond to

         25  Councilman Reed about the concern of gardens being
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          2  locked up.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Why don't you

          4  read your statement, then just refer to him, all

          5  right?

          6                 MS. ROGERS:  All right.  I am here in

          7  favor of this resolution which calls for the

          8  hearing.  The reason why I'm for this resolution is

          9  very personal and based more on my experiences over

         10  the years on East 151st Street with my fellow

         11  gardeners than on any analysis of the workings of

         12  City government or the Mayor's mind- set or his

         13  political ambitions.  I'm not a full- time gardener,

         14  although our little plot needs plenty of work.  I,

         15  like my fellow gardeners, answered the call in the

         16  seventies and the eighties to work to improve my

         17  neighborhood, we cleaned out our abandoned lot that

         18  the City had no use for and saved it from becoming a

         19  dumping ground to rival Fresh Kills on Staten

         20  Island.

         21                 All these efforts were performed

         22  without expectation of reward or betrayal.  Yet

         23  betrayed is exactly how I have felt since May 1998.

         24  These transfers of garden leases, their non renewal

         25  and then the massive listings of gardens for auction
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          2  without any real consultation, inquiry,

          3  collaboration or neighborhood planning by City

          4  officials with the people in each neighborhood is

          5  unjust and insulting.  Instead of the City asking

          6  what the people of the neighborhood want or need,

          7  they are telling us what we are going to get or

          8  lose.

          9                 All I want to do is garden, like the

         10  lady said, all I want to do is just put bulbs in the

         11  ground and water trees. Instead, the City by its

         12  inconsiderate actions is forcing me to come to

         13  impersonal, inconvenient meetings to be further

         14  harassed, ignored and insulted by the City's hard-

         15  heartedness.  Not to say that, the thing was I'm so

         16  happy to actually see City Council members here, I

         17  thank you so much.  It means an awful lot to be able

         18  to speak to you in person.  The City meeting I went

         19  to, last Wednesday was one person who did nothing to

         20  respond to the people and was just a representative

         21  paid to be there, and you knew nothing was being

         22  heard because there was no response.  So I can't

         23  tell you how happy I am, it makes me feel so great

         24  that I can talk to you, and I know you have been

         25  responsive to our letters and our phone calls, but I
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          2  just can't tell you, I'm going to go home feeling so

          3  much better, because I feel horrible about all of

          4  this, this is really bothering me, and all the

          5  people in my neighborhood.

          6                 Well, anyway, it has been very

          7  confusing to read about how energetically the Mayor

          8  has used the City's resources to improve the quality

          9  of life and at the same time to be so determined to

         10  rid the City of some of its sources of natural

         11  beauty and peace, neighborhood gardens.  His

         12  reactions to gardeners' pleas for help are the same

         13  as he gives to owners of porn shops.  Are gardeners

         14  of no value in a neighborhood?  Not according to the

         15  actions of the Giuliani Administration.

         16                 So I am here today because I want

         17  Resolution 377 to be passed, but I know that is not

         18  enough.  I want this done, I want legislation to

         19  protect the gardens, to set up some kind of vehicle

         20  to evaluate gardens, I know that needs to be done,

         21  but I just can't let this auction or any of the

         22  other auctions that are planned to go ahead.

         23                 I implore members of the City Council

         24  to have a hearing about why these gardens were

         25  transferred and are now being sold when there are so
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          2  many other vacant, unused lots available for

          3  auctions.  You all know that gardens are a source of

          4  fresh air, beauty and stability in our

          5  neighborhoods.  Blossoming fruit trees and spring

          6  flowers have always been a sign of hope to those

          7  within or just passing through our streets.

          8  Everyone, whether they work in the garden or not,

          9  enjoys the garden, they see it.  Why are these

         10  symbols of hope being taken away from us and

         11  replaced by bulldozed, empty lots again?  Do we not

         12  need these signs of hope especially today?

         13                 Please, pass Resolution 377, soon,

         14  immediately, to send a message to City planners that

         15  we need and want the Community Garden program

         16  maintained and expanded.

         17                 And that is my statement, but the

         18  other thing is, we lock our garden in our

         19  neighborhood.  Not when we're gardening there, but

         20  we have to lock it.  Things are stolen, people are

         21  for the garden, but there is always some people who

         22  want to take the tools and jump in and steal things.

         23    So that, I get frustrated when I hear, oh, the

         24  gardens are locked, why don't you leave them open?

         25  We can't, and we're all part- time gardeners, so we
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          2  can't be there all the time.  So we have to lock

          3  them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is there anyway

          5  that you can perhaps have people, allow people to

          6  come in there while some of you gardeners are in

          7  there?

          8                 MS. ROGERS:  They do, we do.  I'm

          9  sure there are instances of individuals who don't,

         10  but we have been told and it always has been the

         11  policy of City gardeners, when we try to post hours

         12  and when people are there gardening, anybody is

         13  welcome to come in, anybody.  They're encouraged, we

         14  love them to come in, please, come in and help or

         15  enjoy the flowers and see our fruit trees.  And

         16  sometimes, and no offense, but I know in my

         17  neighborhood sometimes people are like leave it open

         18  so that when you leave we can come in and drink our

         19  beer or do some drug action, so we can't, we can't,

         20  we have to speak up about that.

         21                 And what worries me when I hear that

         22  is that they use that and that is the excuse then,

         23  because that is your private garden, and it's like

         24  it's not, it's not like that at all.  So, I think

         25  there is a way, we have already been encouraged to
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          2  make it more accessible, to be there more often,

          3  but, again, when people are working and if there is

          4  no one there to watch it, you don't want to leave it

          5  wide open, because we're responsible for what

          6  happens in there, and sometimes people are not doing

          7  the right things in there, and that is why it is

          8  locked unless we're there.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm glad you

         10  said that there will be a way that you can work out

         11  a way.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED:  Council member,

         13  I just want to comment that certainly I think most

         14  of these community gardens are more accessible to

         15  the public than City Hall is these days.

         16                 MS. ROGERS:  Thank you, thank you,

         17  that is exactly correct.  Thank you.  That is a good

         18  point.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  It was a

         20  realistic illustration.  All right, Mr. Worley, and

         21  then Ms. Howard, I believe; is that right?  Thank

         22  you, and then Mr. Power.

         23                 MR. WORLEY:  Good afternoon.  My name

         24  is Haja Worley, and I represent Project Harmony

         25  Incorporated, which I am Co- Director.  We are
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          2  located in Harlem in Community Board #10.  I

          3  appreciate the opportunity to be able to speak to

          4  this Council this afternoon.

          5                 I would first like to say that we

          6  began to, our efforts, which turned out to be a

          7  garden, we didn't start out to garden.  We started

          8  out because we wanted to see a cleaner, more secure

          9  community, and we began to do the gardening because

         10  that was one way for us ensure that that would

         11  happen.  We not only gardened though, we became

         12  block watchers, we instituted a street patrol, which

         13  we became involved in with the 28th Precinct.  One

         14  of the things that I think has been overlooked by

         15  the City, by the municipality about the whole aspect

         16  of gardening and community gardening is that it has

         17  afforded many people in the community an opportunity

         18  to get involved in something in the community which

         19  said I care, you know.  But, you know, putting

         20  something on the ground which says I care about my

         21  community, I care what happens to my community, and

         22  sometimes there are not many ways for us to do that.

         23                 And so when I hear that the community

         24  gardens are now being sold off in mass, it troubles

         25  me, because, you know, first of all, I wonder if
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          2  people really understood how much pain and how it

          3  causes to see what you have helped to develop over

          4  the years, we're have been in existence for 12

          5  years, before we began to clean off that site, I

          6  mean, it was like many other sites throughout the

          7  City, it was filled with garbage, you know, to the

          8  top.  I mean, it had abandoned cars, there were

          9  abandoned vehicles, it was used for drug activities,

         10  it was, you know, the caucuses of dead animals was

         11  found there, as well.

         12                 I am really concerned about

         13  Proposition 377 because I think that, as I said, as

         14  I was getting ready to say, that it really needs,

         15  the idea really needs to be looked at of what the

         16  people in the community really give to the community

         17  and if there is a way to salvage what people give to

         18  the community through instances like community

         19  gardens, I think it should really be, you know,

         20  rather than being swept away, it should be

         21  encouraged.  And I wonder how we could be

         22  encouraged, one of the things I would like to ask,

         23  pose to this Council is how can our efforts be

         24  encouraged rather than stomped out, because some

         25  officials and some people act as though gardeners
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          2  are somehow in the way of progress.  As I said

          3  before, we started this thing because we are

          4  concerned about our community.  Nobody promised us a

          5  garden when we started out, we started out because

          6  we're concerned about our communities, and we are

          7  still concerned about our communities, and we want

          8  to do something.

          9                 So while we are here today, we hope

         10  that the Council will take into account the efforts

         11  of all the people throughout the City who have

         12  gotten involved, the thousands of people who have

         13  gotten involved in community gardening as a means to

         14  an end of demonstrating how much they really care

         15  and love their communities.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  That

         17  is why this Committee is here so that we can hear

         18  you and show you that we committed and concerned.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 Ms. Susan Howard.

         21                 MS. HOWARD:  Yes, hi, good afternoon.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good afternoon.

         23                 MS. HOWARD:  I did just arrive, and

         24  that is why I probably should have had a longer time

         25  waiting to speak.  I'm from Met Council on Housing.
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          2  I'm on the Board of Metropolitan Council on Housing.

          3    I am with CHARAS Community Center on the Lower

          4  East Side, and I'm with the Lower East Side

          5  Collective, an activist groups on the Lower East

          6  Side.

          7                 I am here because not only am I

          8  supporting community gardens as a housing advocate

          9  and saying that the whole idea of housing groups

         10  opposed to community gardens and pitting them

         11  against each other is a farce and it's a spin to

         12  sell them off as quickly as possible under the guise

         13  of affordable housing, which there is no plan for in

         14  this City or federally.

         15                 I am with CHARAS Community Center and

         16  it was sold at the July 20th Auction after 20 years

         17  committed to the community, and I ask before that

         18  sale is finalized that that is stopped in its

         19  tracks.  I am hoping that City Council can regroup

         20  and stop the auctioning process altogether, because

         21  I have sat, sadly, at the DCAS hearings on Wednesday

         22  and listened to one issue, one issue, community

         23  gardens, and what it has given this City, and the

         24  exclusion of community in the process, the wholesale

         25  process of selling off now, probably 14,000 parcels
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          2  of land, that is going to include everything, that

          3  is going to have community centers on it, it's going

          4  to have gardens on it, it's going to have

          5  playgrounds on it, it's going to have things that

          6  the community has made use of, and things that the

          7  community wants involvement in, and to just

          8  irrelevantly sell them to the highest bidder is

          9  denying the community input.  This is public land,

         10  it belongs to us, we paid for it, we maintain it, we

         11  are the City of New York and we demand inclusion to

         12  the process of what comes into our communities.

         13                 The whole process of finding out

         14  about an auction and being able to speak against it

         15  is impossible because it is not made public.  The

         16  City Record is impossible to find, if you are a

         17  working person, you can't get to a City building, of

         18  which again we own, you can't get to a City building

         19  in order to get a copy of that because the buildings

         20  are opened at 9:30 and closed at 4:00, it's not on

         21  the Web, it's not accessible to us, we are lucky to

         22  have found out that these gardens are for sale.

         23  They were first transferred to HPD under the guise

         24  of housing and now they're put on the auction block

         25  and who knows what he wants to sell them for.
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          2                 I'm asking that the process of

          3  auctioning be changed, and I'm also asking that

          4  there have to be some new review. Twenty years of a

          5  commitment to a community, when it was first

          6  reviewed for disposition is now a completely

          7  different community and the things that are on those

          8  parcels should be rewarded and acknowledged for

          9  being there, not only does it not consider what has

         10  happened with that land in those 20 years, it is not

         11  considered the impact of what was on that land and

         12  taking it now away from that community.  That

         13  process has to be stopped.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you, Ms.

         15  Howard.  Mr. Power.

         16                 MR. GERVARDI:  My name is actually

         17  Irish Gervardi and I'm speaking on behalf of Matt

         18  Power.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Excuse me.

         20                 MR. GERVARDI:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  It's procedure

         22  that if anyone is having someone speak on their

         23  behalf, it is transferred through us first.  We will

         24  not have procedures for someone speaking on behalf

         25  of others.  We do have a procedure where you can
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          2  pass out testimony of other people.

          3                 MR. GERVARDI:  Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Now I will look

          5  at my Council members, shall we follow the

          6  procedures and just pass it out or just hear it.

          7  All right, he said it's going to brief, because

          8  there are other people here.  Okay, thank you,

          9  understand.

         10                 MR. GERVARDI:  Okay, I will just read

         11  his testimony.

         12                  "The destruction of the," and this

         13  is from the More Garden Coalition, he is a writer

         14  and a garden advocate.  "The destruction of the old

         15  Penn Station in the early 1960s will go down in

         16  history as one of the worst mistakes in urban

         17  planning, an event that galvanized the Historical

         18  Preservation Movement.

         19                 I ask that the present City

         20  government not make a similar mistake by martyring

         21  our community gardens.  To quote yesterday's New

         22  York Times, to do so would be an act of community

         23  violence.  We have a great opportunity today to

         24  serve hundreds of thousands of people in this City

         25  by passing Proposition 377 and giving community
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          2  gardens, all gardens, not just those with Green

          3  Thumb leases permanent, unthreatened park status.

          4                 I have spent many, many weekends

          5  working in the Cherry Tree Garden in the South Bronx

          6  and have seen firsthand dozens of inter- City

          7  children, many of whom have not been outside of New

          8  York, learning how to plant seeds and make them

          9  grow.  This is a lessons in stewardship of the land

         10  that could never could be taught by a parking lot or

         11  a body shop, which is exactly what many of these

         12  gardens will be turned into.

         13                 The need for community green space in

         14  the City is clear, it fights air pollution, it

         15  fights asthma, which costs the City millions of

         16  dollars every day, every year.  Gardens unite a

         17  community and instill civic pride.  And now I have

         18  visited many other gardens around the City, in

         19  Harlem, in the Lower East Side, in the Upper West

         20  Side, they will serve the same purpose in their

         21  communities, uniting people of all races and ages in

         22  learning a love and respect for nature.

         23                 And now over 100 of these beautiful"

         24   - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Excuse me, if
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          2  you have that in writing, we will copy it and pass

          3  it out, please?

          4                 MR. GERVARDI:  Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So that we may

          6  go on.

          7                 MR. GERVARDI:  All right, I will

          8  summarize this, basically it says we need more

          9  gardens.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I thought you

         11  were summarizing in the beginning?

         12                 MR. GERVARDI:  Well, I - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  All right,

         14  summarize quickly, please?  Thank you.

         15                 MR. GERVARDI:  All right.  This says,

         16  we need more gardens, not less, and every block

         17  should have a garden.  And I ask the City government

         18  to follow its conscience and serve its people. And I

         19  advocate to the Council that there should be

         20  hearings on how to create more gardens, not just to

         21  try to save them, about how to add more gardens, and

         22  also, about timing, maybe the City should pay the

         23  people to be there for extra hours when the

         24  gardeners are not there.  That is something that I

         25  would advocate for those hours.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          3  much.  Carmen Pahon, Amando Perez, Catherine Orrok.

          4  Is it Louise Kruger?  Alice Morris, and you know who

          5  you are when you write these things, we have to

          6  interpret what you're writing, so write them so we

          7  can understand them.  Magenta, all right, Magenta,

          8  thank you.

          9                 For those of you who, and Mr. Perez,

         10  I think you are one of those that mentioned you had

         11  been here earlier, I want to apologize for that.

         12  What I'm going to recommend out of this long

         13  hearing, and I want to explain the reason, we want

         14  everyone to be heard because so many people felt

         15  that we didn't want to hear you. Now what I will get

         16  with my Committee and ask later for them, perhaps,

         17  let us reconvene the groups, present their own

         18  suggestions of testimony, et cetera.  But we did not

         19  wish to exclude anyone, as I said before, because if

         20  you take trees only, parks, what about us?  We're

         21  going to try to get a better system so that when you

         22  get here early, you will be called early.  However,

         23  we still have a system where it's first notice given

         24  in the press, people do have the right to call in or

         25  write in to be heard.  And I apologize if we have
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          2  kept you so long, I haven't even had breakfast

          3  myself.  I was thinking about asking you to take to

          4  me lunch, when this is over.  No wonder I mentioned

          5  that cheesecake earlier, thank you.

          6                 All right, either one of you.  Why

          7  don't you begin since you were the one that

          8  mentioned how late they kept you here?

          9                 MR. PEREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         10  Good afternoon. My name is Armando Perez.  I'm the

         11  Democratic District Leader in the Lower East Side in

         12  the 63rd Part B.  I am also a member of Community

         13  Board for the past nine or ten years or so.  And I

         14  am also the Chairman, Co- Founder, and Artistic

         15  Director of Charas/El Bohio, the Arts Organizantion

         16  that has been in that building for the last 20

         17  years.  During that time we have estimated that we

         18  have put over $2 million in sort equity, over $1

         19  million in monies that we have raised in order to

         20  bring that building to where it is now. We only use

         21  half of the building, and the only reason that we

         22  use only half of the building is because we have

         23  been on a month- to month lease for the last 20

         24  years.  If we would have been given the opportunity

         25  in the past, qualified for capital improvement
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          2  monies, unfortunately, that wasn't the case, and we,

          3  at least, are able to say that we are at a point

          4  that we do use half of the building.

          5                 I heard earlier, Mr. Chair, when you

          6  referred to someone that called Giuliani a dictator,

          7  and I myself am not one who likes to call anyone

          8  names, but I have to really look at what Giuliani

          9  and his Administration has done in the last 5 years

         10  or so that he has been in office, and it has been

         11  horrendous.  If we look at the fact that the people

         12  of New York City came out in 1997 to speak against

         13  the, I'm sorry, yes, '97, to speak against the

         14  auction that took place as Charas.  There was no one

         15  there that spoke in favor of the auction, but, yet,

         16  there were many, many people that came and spoke

         17  against the auction, which went on deaf ears,

         18  because our illustrious Mayor did not listen to

         19  that.

         20                 In the last year and a half or so

         21  there have been many, many letters that have been

         22  sent to Giuliani and his Administration asking him

         23  not to sell this building, not only by the people of

         24  this City, but people of this country and different

         25  parts of the world have written to this man asking
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          2  him not to do this.  Our elected officials also

          3  urged the man not to do this, and, yet, he went

          4  ahead and did it anyway, and finally the building

          5  was sold.  After the building was sold, our elected

          6  officials again came out and asked him to rescind

          7  the sale.  Those letters that were sent to him have

          8  gone unanswered, the letters that were sent by the

          9  people of this City have gone unanswered.  And so

         10  when someone says that Giuliani is running this City

         11  as a dictator, I must agree with that person,

         12  because he damn well is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  The statement

         14  was, he was a Communist, that is what I objected to.

         15                 MR. PEREZ:  Oh, I'm sorry.  All of

         16  that for - -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF:  Mr.

         18  Chairman, I may observe that, in fact, this hearing

         19  is about community gardens and trees and a few other

         20  items.  I'm not sure whatever the merits of the

         21  current subject that the witness is addressing,

         22  whether it is completely germane to today's specific

         23   - -

         24                 MR. PEREZ:  The reason I bring this

         25  across is because they intertwine.  First of all, -
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          2   -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just a minute,

          4  Mr. Perez.  I must agree with Council Member

          5  Eristoff.  What we want to talk about is the

          6  gardens, we know what the Mayor does, we know how he

          7  operates, et cetera.  I just rather that we

          8  concentrate on what you're saying, what we need to

          9  do to save your buildings and these other buildings,

         10  and see if we cannot get ourselves involved and get

         11  the City involved to see some of the things that you

         12  see and that you're saying.

         13                 MR. PEREZ:  I understand that and I'm

         14  trying to get to a point.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         16                 MR. PEREZ:  And the point is that

         17  they do intertwine.  First of all, the buildings

         18  that are being sold that house our community

         19  centers, are the places where people go to for help

         20  in any type of injustice that has taken place, such

         21  as selling the gardens.  The gardens that are being

         22  sold, are being auctioned off, are auctioned off and

         23  what is going to built there is market rate housing,

         24  luxury housing, there is not going to be affordable

         25  housing built there.  And I mean, when I say
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          2  affordable, I mean real affordable housing.

          3                 The people of New York City are being

          4  displaced, and I'm talking about the poor people and

          5  the working class people of New York City are being

          6  displaced, whole families are being torn apart

          7  because there is no affordable housing left in the

          8  Lower East Side, left in Manhattan, and even the

          9  surrounding boroughs.  It is just not there, and so,

         10  what I'm saying is that these gardens and all of the

         11  land that is owned by the City, a moratorium has to

         12  be put in place in order to stop this before it

         13  continues and we get to the point where this City

         14  finally realizes that there is a shortage of

         15  affordable and that we do need affordable, but there

         16  is no where to build it because it was all sold away

         17  to developers, to greedy developers that only want

         18  to build market rate housing and luxury housing.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Next

         21  person, please?

         22                 MS. PAHON:  My name is Carmen Pahon.

         23  I live on the Lower East Side at Lillian Ward Houses

         24  for 46 years in the neighborhood.  I'm doing

         25  volunteer work, I raised a family of eight children,
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          2  and I decided to do volunteer work in the community.

          3    I take over of the lot at 8th Street and Avenue C

          4  to do a garden for the elderly people in our

          5  neighborhood and the children.  Right now I'm

          6  feeling so sad, because I put my time, my strength

          7  in that garden to keep it for the elderly.

          8                 I'm from Saint Bridgit's Church and

          9  we have a good neighborhood and good elderly that

         10  work in that garden, and I would like to see if they

         11  don't serve that place for that we could keep it for

         12  the children and the elderly, because the elderly

         13  don't have no place to go.  And that garden is

         14  something use it as a therapy for everybody that go

         15  in that garden, we do a lot of activities in that

         16  garden for Christmas, for Thanksgiving, and we help

         17  the homeless people.  I fed the homeless people for

         18  three years by giving food from that garden, and I

         19  would like be a happy to keep that garden for the

         20  elderly, they have no place to go.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 MS. ORROK:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         25  Chairman and City Council members.  My name is
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          2  Catherine Orrok, and I garden at Prospect Heights

          3  Community Farm in Brooklyn.  I am her today to speak

          4  out against this apparent effort to destroy

          5  community gardening in this City.

          6                 When Green Thumb was initially

          7  transferred to the Department of Housing

          8  Preservation and Development, we were all assured

          9  this was simply administrative, and HPD issued

         10  public relations statements with titles such as,

         11   "HPD is Open to Ideas about Open Spaces."  Ever

         12  since this action, we have all wondered what the

         13  outcome would be.  Those who might have sounded

         14  alarmist back in May when they accused Mayor

         15  Giuliani of planning to destroy all community

         16  gardens, now appear to have understood the situation

         17  all too well.  This is no longer about using City-

         18  owned land for affordable housing, or any other

         19  issue involving the community.  In fact, the

         20  communities have been left out of this process

         21  altogether.  Green Thumb gardens should be returned

         22  to the jurisdiction of the Parks Department.

         23                 In every communication with HPD we

         24  are told we have interim use status, that we all

         25  should have known this was temporary.  However,
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          2  there are 20- year- old gardens on the auction list,

          3  gardens that provide neighborhoods with social

          4  cement that brings people together.  These

          5  communities then become safer, more hospitable

          6  places to live.  This interim use status should not

          7  be broadly applied to all gardens, to do so ignores

          8  the needs of communities and to blindly adhere to

          9  this policy without any review of individual

         10  properties is at best close- minded.

         11                 Finally, if this is just about

         12  dollars and cents, I find it hard to believe that

         13  the negligible revenue generated by auctioning off

         14  community gardens could be worth the loss of the

         15  benefits provided to the neighborhoods, and the

         16  entire City of New York.  We need creative thinking

         17  on the part of our elected officials in order to

         18  keep New York City a vibrant and diverse place that

         19  is still full of possibilities.  Please help us save

         20  the gardens.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         23  much.  All right, Ma'am, identify yourself for the

         24  record, please?

         25                 MS. KRUGER:  Is this on?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, Ma'am, it's

          3  on.

          4                 MS. KRUGER:  All right, my name is

          5  Louise Kruger, and I am speaking for Albert's

          6  Garden, and I have heard a lot of eloquent pleas for

          7  the gardens today, and we are very much in support

          8  of the idea of taking the gardens off the auction

          9  block and finding some permanent status, but with an

         10  examination of them garden by garden.  And I think

         11  I'm going to leave it at that.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MS. MORRIS:  Hello, my name is Alice

         16  Morris.  I am speaking in regard to Alberts Garden,

         17  which is block 458, lots 40 and 41.  I am speaking

         18  in support of Resolution 377.  Alberts Garden is

         19  located at 16- 18 East 2nd Street Between 2nd Avenue

         20  and the Bowery, in Manhattan.

         21                 Alberts Garden has existed as a

         22  public space since 1973, for about one year as a

         23  basketball court and the rest of the time as a

         24  community garden.  It was created by a small group

         25  of neighborhood residents, one of whom was Albert
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          2  Eisenlau, after whom it was named, another one was

          3  Louise Kruger, who is still an active gardener and

          4  spoke just now about the garden.

          5                 Thirty years ago, this space produced

          6  only refuse and ugliness.  Today it provides

          7  beautiful plantings, as well as a neighborhood

          8  center, where all may come to rest, read, relax,

          9  enjoy and garden.

         10                 We, the members of Alberts Garden,

         11  believe that this garden should be granted permanent

         12  status, as part of the New York City Parks

         13  Department.  Our request is based on Alberts

         14  Garden's longevity, a public space, its proven

         15  record as a community garden for more than a quarter

         16  of a century, documentation provided on request, and

         17  its small size making it inappropriate for

         18  commercial development.  At the DCAS Public Hearing

         19  on January 13, 199, it was stated that a lot must be

         20  4,000 square feet minimum to be commercially viable,

         21  Alberts Garden is well under that square footage, at

         22  2,700 square feet.

         23                 This City of New York has a wonderful

         24  system of parks and open space areas.  We, the

         25  members of Alberts Garden, believe that our garden
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          2  can and should augment these other park areas.

          3  Please, use your influence to support Alberts Garden

          4  and the other community gardens as additions to our

          5  system of parks in New York City.

          6                 And further, I would like to respond

          7  to the Council member who was over here, I think he

          8  raised some very good points about how one

          9  substantiates the value of a particular community

         10  garden to a community.  Many of these community

         11  gardens, and Alberts Garden is one of them, have

         12  proven track records, and as was stated in the New

         13  York Times' Editorial, as of yesterday, January

         14  14th, each garden should be assessed on its own

         15  merits, in terms of its longevity as a garden, its

         16  accessible hours, the kinds of community events that

         17  it hosts, et cetera.  In addition to which even

         18  though a particular community garden may not be open

         19  at all times it is still a value as a viewing

         20  garden, which can be seen by all and enjoyed by all,

         21  even when it is locked.  These kinds of

         22  considerations should be documented by a particular

         23  garden, and all we're asking is that the City

         24  Administration consider each garden on its merits

         25  and look at this kind of documentation.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          4  much.  Jennifer Kalb, K- A- L- B.  Michael Shenker,

          5  S- H- E- N- K- E- R, Shenker.  Dimas Cepeda, Alice

          6  Johnson, Lesley Heathcote.  She has already

          7  testified, I didn't call you again.  Excuse me, I

          8  will speak to you about it later, speak to Mr. Pers

          9  about it, will you please?  All right, those names I

         10  called.  Those persons who have spoken before and

         11  would like to speak again, at the conclusion of all

         12  testimony, I will call each and every one to speak

         13  as long as I get out before four o'clock.  All

         14  right, Sergeant, let them begin, please.  All right,

         15  just identify yourselves and begin your testimony?

         16  Mr. Shenker, Jennifer Kalb, Jennifer is first, where

         17  is she?  Would you begin, please?

         18                 MS. KALB:  Okay, I'm Jennifer Kalb.

         19  I'm testifying on behalf of Saint Mark's Block

         20  Association in Prospect Heights, Brooklyn, located

         21  in Community Board #8, on behalf of our community

         22  garden, which has been in place for 20 years, at

         23  least, we haven't been able to document exactly when

         24  it began, but we know it replaced a small house on a

         25  25 foot lot, and that is the space we're gardening
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          2  in now.

          3                 I took over the running of this

          4  garden when I became Block President in the mid-

          5  eighties, and as everybody who lives in Downtown

          6  Brooklyn, and as any of the urban neighborhoods

          7  know, that was a very difficult time in New York

          8  City, we had a crack epidemic, a lot of bad things

          9  were going on, conditions were very difficult.  And

         10  working in this garden, I was reluctant to take it

         11  on when I began, because it seemed more like a

         12  burden than a benefit to me, personally.  I have a

         13  yard of my own, and cleaning up after other people,

         14  cleaning up rubbage, construction debris, leavings

         15  of other people's dogs, garbage bags, crack vials,

         16  because we have to take care of the frontage of

         17  these gardens, as well as maintain them inside the

         18  fence.  It wasn't much of a pleasure for me.

         19                 But I have come to love this garden,

         20  through the Grace of God, we don't have as many

         21  crack vials, we don't have as much garbage as we did

         22  10 or 12 years ago.  We have a growing neighborhood,

         23  and we have growing opportunities to make a good

         24  garden there.  Our garden is beautiful, I think, you

         25  can see from the pictures we have provided that it
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          2  does provide beauty to our neighborhood, they're

          3  between 25 and 50, depending on how you count it,

          4  active gardeners in our garden at this point.  We

          5  have built beds outside of our fence, very

          6  substantial beds outside of our fence so that the

          7  garden extends beyond the fence into the community.

          8                 And I'm very pleased to say that

          9  despite the hundreds of different varieties that we

         10  grow and all of the many interesting and exotic

         11  plants we grow in those beds, we have had absolutely

         12  no theft, we have had no destruction.  The community

         13  feels respect and love for the garden that we have

         14  created.

         15                 But finally, of course, I'm here to

         16  support the resolution and anything else.  This

         17  resolution doesn't have any legal effect, even if

         18  the Committee holds hearings and goes forward with

         19  this, I'm not, you know, I can look at the

         20  resolution and see that it's not compelling on

         21  anyone to do anything.  Obviously, we're asking you

         22  to do more, we're asking you to pursue all of the

         23  avenues of influence on the Administration that you

         24  have, politically.  We're asking you to pursue

         25  legal, by legal, I mean legislative means if
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          2  necessary to preserve these gardens.

          3                 But the last thing I wanted to say

          4  was about our community.  It's often harden in an

          5  urban community to get your hands around what the

          6  community is.  There are lots of tenants, there are

          7  lots of people coming and going, and those of us who

          8  have been there for a long time sometimes are

          9  frustrated with the lack of community.  Well, the

         10  one thing I can say for sure having worked in

         11  policing, having worked in police activities in our

         12  precinct, having worked in this community garden and

         13  in other civic matters, is that these gardens are a

         14  prime incubator of concerned community citizens in

         15  our neighborhoods.  There are so many people who

         16  come through these gardens, who may just be tenants,

         17  who may just be living there planning to live in our

         18  communities for a year. Because it is very difficult

         19  to live in our communities, you know, these are

         20  impacted urban communities.  And, yet, these gardens

         21  connect them to us and for some reason these people

         22  stay, and I have to say that these gardens are one

         23  of the things that have built our communities, have

         24  brought, I know everyone has said this today, but I

         25  have experienced it personally, over and over again,
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          2  with young professional people, ex- offenders,

          3  children, people come into this garden and they

          4  connect.

          5                 Churches connect people in some

          6  communities, maybe some communities have senior

          7  centers that connect people, in our communities it's

          8  institutions like these community gardens that hook

          9  people who have never been hooked before into their

         10  community. And I have to say to you that this is a

         11  resource that the City shouldn't destroy.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 MR. SHENKER:  Hello, my name is

         16  Michael Shenker. I'm from the Lower East Side of

         17  Manhattan, and I would sincerely, sincerely like to

         18  thank any Council members who have taken the action

         19  to initiate this Resolution 377, I believe the

         20  number is. And I would like to implore those of you

         21  who are seriously considering endorsing it or

         22  possibly being engaged in it in some capacity to do

         23  so.  Community gardens as they function within a

         24  community are fascinating.  I would think as

         25  politicians and as social scientists, and people are
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          2  fascinated with government that they would propose a

          3  lot of potential questions which we could spend a

          4  lot of time looking at.

          5                 But I have prepared a statement, but

          6  today I am humbled to sit under this statue here of

          7  this great figure, Thomas Jefferson.  And I think

          8  that Thomas Jefferson would support community

          9  gardens.  I think that Thomas Jefferson would

         10  actually think that what we did was the natural

         11  response to a crisis, to the crisis of abandonment,

         12  to the crisis of crime, to the crisis of lack of

         13  community, and I would like to share this quote of

         14  Thomas Jefferson's with you.  In a letter which he

         15  wrote to James Madison, and I have said this quote

         16  here before in this City Council Chamber and I will

         17  probably will say it sometime again in the future.

         18   "Whenever there is in any land or any country

         19  uncultivated lands, it is clear that the laws of

         20  property have been so extended as to violate natural

         21  rights."

         22                 Now in a City which seems to be

         23  dominated by what I like to term as the real estate

         24  party, I think that the powers of property and the

         25  degrees of extension of the powers of property have
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          2  exceeded healthy boundaries.  I mean, we have,

          3  obviously, if we look at the rent situation, so it

          4  is natural that people would assume any of these

          5  vacant lands and do what is natural to people.

          6                 In that American spirit I ask you to

          7  please support your communities, get behind

          8  Resolution 377, get on the band wagon of Resolution

          9  377.  Peter, your Speaker, recognizes the potential,

         10  the actual popularity of this issue, and its for us

         11  that it's going to build momentum into the next

         12  century.  If you read the paper today, Speaker

         13  Vallone assumed the bully pulpit and began to speak

         14  out in favor of community gardens.  Now I understand

         15  you have limited, you have almost no power, unless,

         16  except by passing a law, which would require two-

         17  thirds majority of your Council people, because you

         18  would have to overturn the Mayor's veto, but I would

         19  suggest that you lead with some ideas, get on that

         20  band wagon, do good old style American politics and

         21  assume the bully pulpit, and follow your Speaker in

         22  the support of community gardens.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Shenker,

         24  thank you very much.  Thomas Jefferson was a great

         25  American, he believed in freedom for everybody
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          2  except for African and Indians.  All right? Next

          3  person, please.

          4                 MR. SHENKER: I'm aware of that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, he did all

          6  he could to keep Africans enslaved and destroy

          7  Indians.

          8                 MR. SHENKER:  Put a motion out to

          9  remove this statue.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I would.

         11                 MR. SHENKER:  Then do it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  If I could, I

         13  would move that one with a lot of others.  All

         14  right, thank you, who is the next one?  Mr. Cepeda,

         15  and then Ms. Johnson and Ms. Heathcote.

         16                 MR. CEPEDA:  Thank you, Mr. Foster

         17  and all members of the Committee.  My name is Dimas

         18  Cepeda.  I work for the community that is two years

         19  already in this New York.  When I came from Puerto

         20  Rico my coaches was my plants, my fruits, trees, and

         21  all that.  So I came to this program, green town

         22  program 18 years ago, we found this garden, Batey

         23  Borin Cano, we take the same garden and we put it in

         24  the Smithsonian in Washington, D.C. We get kids in

         25  the music to perform in the plans.  I have got more
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          2  than 200 senior citizens in my community that are

          3  going to the job, planting.  You don't have nothing

          4  to do in the house, you don't have nothing to do,

          5  you know, I'm a retired electrician, so my

          6  conscience goes to my garden, planting with the

          7  other person that have nothing to do.  We doing a

          8  lot of work for the Police Department, we put the

          9  crime in this neighborhood down.  In a lot of this

         10  neighborhoods, we don't have no place to go to

         11  plant, and if there are no place to go, so we get

         12  this garden three years ago. Now it take one of our

         13  garden and put it in auction, six months ago, now if

         14  you going to that job, forget it, it's stolen cars

         15  again, a lot of harlots in that area.

         16                 So the other thing I would like to

         17  say to please, go to our neighborhoods and you're

         18  going see our citizens in the street is no good.

         19  When I retired I would go to my garden, that is my

         20  life, you know, that is life.  I'm telling these

         21  kids from the school of PS 22, all these kids how to

         22  plant a tree, how to plant vegetables.  I mean this

         23  is our country and our culture for our Puerto Rico.

         24  You don't plant that means you don't eat the next

         25  day, because you don't have nothing to eat.  So we
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          2  proceed this in New York.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MR. CEPEDA:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Your

          7  neighborhood is my neighborhood.  Ms. Johnson, then

          8  Ms. Heathcote.

          9                 MS. JOHNSON:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman and other

         11  board members.  When I first came down here this

         12  morning at 9:30, I had no intentions of speaking

         13  before this Committee.  But once we had arrived, we

         14  were told that unless you speak, then no one will

         15  know that you were here.  We came to support the

         16  Green Thumb Operation.  Tuesday at Planning Board

         17  #3, Dudley, our Chairperson said that you were

         18  having a hearing today, and that we should come.  So

         19  you can imagine when I looked outside my window this

         20  morning with the ice, I said, I don't want to go,

         21  but I knew we had to be here.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Neither did I.

         23                 MS. JOHNSON:  Yes, I know.  So out of

         24  this, people that came from my community I drew the

         25  short straw, so that is why I'm sitting here today.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So you're in

          3  support?

          4                 MS. JOHNSON:  Yes, I am.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MS. JOHNSON:  So I don't have a - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That is all

          9  right.

         10                 MS. JOHNSON: - -  polished speech, I

         11  don't have a planned speech.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  This lady over

         13  here is recording everything you're saying.

         14                 MS. JOHNSON:  I know.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  It will haunt to

         16  your grave and back.

         17                 MS. JOHNSON:  I know.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         19  much, Ms. Johnson.

         20                 MS. JOHNSON:  Okay, so I'm just here

         21  to say I support Resolution 377, Morrisania

         22  Concerned Citizens support Resolution 377, and also,

         23  the Jackson Forest Community Garden that was created

         24  15 years ago, also support it, and we work very hard

         25  in that area on Jackson Avenue with the children,
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          2  with the older folks.  And I submitted a folder, we

          3  only had one folder to show you where the garden was

          4  before and where the garden is now.  And if you are

          5  ever over in that area, you will see that our garden

          6  is in full operation.

          7                 And I may add that I'm a country

          8  girl, and I know how to tell all the men over there

          9  when they should plant, what they should plant, and

         10  how they should plant it.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Mr.

         13  Cepeda and also for Ms. Johnson, when she said that

         14  she wants you to see, they excluded me because it is

         15  my community and I do see it almost daily.  Thank

         16  you very much.  Ms. Heathcote, thank you.

         17                 MS. HEATHCOTE:   Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman and City Council representatives for this

         19  chance to speak.  My name is Lesley Heathcote, and

         20  I'm Co- Chair of the Sierra Club Community Garden

         21  Committee.  I am here to speak in support of

         22  Resolution 377. The name of your Committee, Parks,

         23  Recreation, Cultural Affairs and Intergroup

         24  Relations could be a list of the many benefits that

         25  community gardens provide.
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          2                 The Sierra Club has over 12,000

          3  members City- wide who are incensed about the threat

          4  to community gardens.  With over half the members of

          5  the City Council having gardens in their districts,

          6  which are in immediate danger of being auctioned in

          7  May, we urge you to take active measures to preserve

          8  these valuable community spaces.

          9                 The Sierra Club's position on this

         10  issue consists of three major points.

         11                 1.  All community gardens should be

         12  preserved as permanent open space.

         13                 2.  The City needs to develop an open

         14  space plan, which includes expansion of the

         15  community garden program in areas that are

         16  underserved by open space.

         17                 3.  City Council needs to hold the

         18  line and prevent any transfers of community gardens

         19  into the development process.

         20                 We understand that the City Council

         21  does not act in isolation and the Sierra Club is

         22  mobilizing on state and regional levels also.  We

         23  have received support on this issue from members of

         24  the State Assembly and State Senate as well as

         25  Congress.
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          2                 We urge you to pass Resolution 377

          3  and move forward in preserving and expanding the

          4  community garden program.  To quote an editorial in

          5  yesterday's New York Times, "Selling off the surplus

          6  lots may be fiscally prudent for City Hall, but

          7  bulldozing a working garden is an act of

          8  neighborhood violence."

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Mr. Rafael Marrore, Mr. Marrore, thank you.

         12  Marilyn Singer, Constance Lesold, Margaret Hughes,

         13  Joanna Williams.  Constance Lesold, Margaret Hughes,

         14  Joanna Williams.  All right, Marilyn Singer I did

         15  call.  Emily Nobel- Maxwell, Salvador DeCaires, is

         16  that the way you say it?  Amin Morrah from Ralph

         17  Avenue.  Okay, I don't know, someone name Preston,

         18  what was the first name, Viris?  Okay, thank you,

         19  would you sit there.  Gary Baum, is he here?

         20  Sergeant, may I have another chair here, please?

         21                 I believe, Mr. Marrore, you're the

         22  first name I called, would you begin your testimony?

         23                 MR. MARRORE:  Hello to the Council.

         24  My name is Rafael Marrore.  I'm representing Papo's

         25  Community Garden, located at 218- 20 East 119th
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          2  Street.  I'm here to give you an idea of what Papo's

          3  Garden is all about.

          4                 The garden is like an institute for a

          5  group of kids from PS 96, and a group of senior

          6  citizens from Caseate Maria. Every year they come to

          7  the garden and they start picking up the boxes, I

          8  mean, what I mean by the boxes, I mean the beds,

          9  which you plant, and they start picking those beds,

         10  and one said to me, to the rest of the gardeners

         11  they said, I like these two boxes, the other guy

         12  said, yes, I want these two boxes, and by the time

         13  they have finished they have taken over 52 boxes

         14  that I have got in that garden.  These people are so

         15  deep into it, every time they come to the garden,

         16  the only thing you hear is, when are we going to

         17  start doing planting?  And then I tell them, we got

         18  herb, as soon as we can, because with this problem

         19  that we are now, in this option, the City is taking

         20  over the gardens.

         21                 And the same thing, the same thing

         22  happened with two groups of kids that I have from

         23  120 PS 25, they keep asking me every year, when are

         24  we going to start?  And I mean this year, especially

         25  this year they are asking me, when are we going to
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          2  start?  And the only thing I can tell them is that

          3  we don't know yet because of the reason that our

          4  garden is in option, I hope that that could be

          5  stopped.

          6                 The members of the garden hope that

          7  HPD come to their sense and see the harm they will

          8  do to these kids and the group of senior citizens

          9  that they come to grow vegetables, things, something

         10  they love.  We, the community, hope that you

         11  consider our feelings and take Papo's Community

         12  Garden off the option list.

         13                 I would like to tell the Mayor that

         14  the City belongs to the people, and by taking the

         15  gardens away from us is taking part of our heart and

         16  destroying some of the beauty that the gardens give

         17  to the City.  If you love New York City, as you say,

         18  many times, please, don't take the gardens away from

         19  us.  We hope that you take this into consideration,

         20  Mr. Mayor.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         23  much.  Might I say this, please, to all of you, now

         24  I have to leave here in 30 minutes.  That is an

         25  absolute.  So I want to hear everyone, and that is
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          2  why I was saying earlier, you know, we should kind

          3  of bring it together in three minutes, and hold our

          4  applause, we're trying to get it together.  Thank

          5  you very much, Sir.  Ms. Connie.

          6                 MS. LESOLD:  My name is Constance

          7  Lesold, and I'm the founder of the Franklin Avenue

          8  Shuttle Garden with the help of many community

          9  agencies, such as the Haitian- American Day Care

         10  Center, Community Boards #8 and #9, and too many

         11  others.  It started as a project of a summer youth

         12  program and has completely taken over by the

         13  community through a non- profit agency and worked

         14  with Green Thumb, and I believe that we are now the

         15  oldest surviving community garden in the City of New

         16  York.  It's been an intrical part of the rebuilding

         17  of our Eastern Parkway Community, and intrical part

         18  of the reconstruction of Eastern Parkway, an

         19  intrical part of seeing to the reconstruction of the

         20  Franklin Avenue Shuttle, and an intrical part of the

         21  rebuilding of the housing in the area.

         22                 I beg of you, you know, to try to get

         23  back to the Mayor the idea that housing and gardens

         24  are not non- complementary. A civilized neighborhood

         25  needs open space along with its housing, it needs
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          2  recreation and environmental education.  I mean, we

          3  don't have enough environmental education in this

          4  City.  This project brought together people from the

          5  Brooklyn Botanical Gardens and the Shuttle Garden

          6  and the community boards in a more enriched way.  If

          7  we don't have environmental education in our cities

          8  going on at the grassroots level, you know, we're

          9  absolutely done for.

         10                 I'm trying to make this very quick,

         11  but as the former Chairman of the Parks Committee

         12  for Community Board #8 and still a member, I do want

         13  to say that it was my great pleasure to help in

         14  establishing many other gardens in Board #8, and I

         15  understand that some of them are on your list in

         16  Brooklyn, and I hope that they will be preserved,

         17  because as I say they really are an intrical part of

         18  rebuilding the neighborhood.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         21                 MS. PRESTON:  My name is Viris

         22  Preston.  I'm a member of Board #8 Association.  I'm

         23  also the President for the 150th Block Association.

         24  I came in Brooklyn at 15- 39 Park Place 1971, and I

         25  saw an empty lot there where people used to steal
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          2  cars and go there scrap it up, sell drugs, do

          3  everything that was very bad there.  And I went

          4  there one evening and talked to a lot of them there

          5  and asked them if they don't think that something

          6  better can be done, it doesn't look right for you to

          7  be selling drugs, doing all kind of rude things and

          8  stealing cars from poor people like yourself and

          9  selling it to poor people like yourself.  So stop

         10  that, they didn't stop.

         11                 So one day I went, me and my little

         12  grandson, and started to clean up the place, and

         13  when I started to clean it up, a lady came out with

         14  a shovel and hit me down with the shovel.  She said

         15  I had no right to come and molest the area.  I said,

         16  all right.  I said call the cops.  I came over and I

         17  went down to 77th Precinct and I explained to them

         18  what I wanted to do.  They said if I have a paper

         19  from the City to bring it to them and then I can go

         20  ahead.

         21                 And then I showed them my Green Thumb

         22  paper that I applied for Green Thumb to clean up the

         23  lot.  So she was so sad when the policeman went back

         24  and told her that I could do anything I wanted to do

         25  over there, because she was totally wrong, and she
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          2  came back and she apologized to me and says that she

          3  sorry.  But they wanted the lot for years to carry

          4  on with what they were carrying on with, and now I

          5  come on to stop it.

          6                 Anyway, I continue, when I brought

          7  that lot to something everybody around there came

          8  and said I congratulate you, because we didn't know

          9  that this could be done.  And my garden was so

         10  pretty that I went to Green Thumb and asked them to

         11  fence it for me, and Green Thumb sent and got it

         12  fenced, from 1971, '72, until '74, I opened a big

         13  establishment in that garden until I went to work on

         14  another lot, clean it up, in Saint John's and I weed

         15  it up, cleaned it up and bring it to another

         16  prosperous garden now.

         17                 And I want to say that when you have

         18  fresh food to eat, because when I plant the fresh

         19  food, I take it to the churches, to the harvest, I

         20  take it to the senior citizens home, and they say

         21  well, those foods that you bring that is fresh, it

         22  taste 100 percent better than the food that we buy

         23  in the other country and places.  So I always do

         24  that, so that is my main, chief point to come here

         25  to ask each and every one, sisters and brothers that
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          2  are here, members of the community to try to help us

          3  to keep the Green Thumb Gardens going so that we can

          4  all live healthy and strong.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          6                 MS. PRESTON:  The houses we need to

          7  live in and the food we need.  Thank you, please,

          8  help us.  Bye.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:   Ms. Preston, we

         10  nominate you as a Commissioner for Green Thumbs.

         11                 MS. PRESTON:  And I have a picture to

         12  show each and every one a part of what Green Thumb

         13  can do.  See?  That is my garden and that is my

         14  food, a part of it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We have 20

         16  minutes to conclude, and everyone must remember that

         17  you must give everyone else a chance.  Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Ma'am, Miss,

         20  what is her name?  The person that just finished

         21  speaking.

         22                 MS. PRESTON:  My name?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes.

         24                 MS. PRESTON:  Viris Preston.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  God Bless you,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            214

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  that is all.

          3                 MS. NOBEL- MAXWELL:  My name is Emily

          4  Maxwell, and I'm with Cherry Tree Garden in the Mott

          5  Haven Section of the South Bronx, and also with the

          6  More Gardens Coalition.  I wanted to read my

          7  statement and then I wanted to address a few points

          8  that were brought up while here, because Council

          9  Member Reed, though he has left asked a very

         10  interesting question.

         11                 There is a dearth of open space in

         12  New York City. The City's official open space

         13  standard calls for 1.5 per 1,000 residents, yet,

         14  this standard is applied disproportionately and

         15  disregarded in certain communities including the

         16  Lower East Side, where I live, which has only .7

         17  acres of official open space while having the second

         18  highest rate of asthma in Manhattan, and the South

         19  Bronx, which exhibits 12 times the national rate of

         20  asthma and has a mere .5 acres.

         21                 Community Gardens, if permanently

         22  preserved, would enable the City to fulfill its own

         23  standards.  I am here today to testify to the

         24  necessity of permanently protecting all land

         25  utilized by community members as gardens.  A
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          2  comprehensive community review process must be

          3  developed to evaluate current and future use of all

          4  land to which the City currently holds title.  No

          5  land should merely be sold to the highest bidder.

          6                 Specifically, I come here to support

          7  Resolutions #377 and 438.  It is imperative that the

          8  transfer of Green Thumb Gardens from the Department

          9  of Parks and Recreation to the Department of Housing

         10  Preservation and Development's Assets and Sales Unit

         11  be investigated.  What was the emergency that

         12  required a hold to be placed on those parcels?  Did

         13  holding those parcels address the emergency?   I

         14  don't understand that.  How is the funding for the

         15  Green Thumb program currently being directed?

         16  Resolution #377 is a positive step in the right

         17  direction.  Yet, it must be strengthened.  The

         18  Uniform Land Use Review Process must also be re-

         19  evaluated.  Many of the parcels proposed for sale at

         20  the next City Public Auction were ULURPed over 15

         21  years ago.  Although their ULURPs are surely

         22  obsolete in light of the evolving nature of

         23  communities, as of now, they remain having legal

         24  standing. Furthermore, the preservation and

         25  expansion of the community garden program must be
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          2  mandated rather than solely resolved and a specific

          3  action plan should be delineated and then evaluated

          4  by the public.

          5                 Resolution #438 also promotes

          6  positive benefits.  I am fully in support of any

          7  plan to plant more trees in the City, and it is

          8  wonderful that this resolution calls for more

          9  equitable distribution of trees.  We must expedite

         10  the actual planting of trees.

         11                 I would like to thank all those

         12  Council members who support these resolutions and

         13  urge others to endorse them to help heal our City.

         14                 To address what Council Member Reed

         15  said, and I am distressed at this, we cannot blame

         16  community gardeners, even if there are three of us

         17  in one lot, for having a private garden.  We must

         18  aid each other in creating a larger volunteer list.

         19  One of the problems with some of the community

         20  gardens that we see is that we have three or four

         21  incredibly, dedicated volunteers that no matter how

         22  dedicated they cannot be there 24 hours a day.  We

         23  need more volunteers to come all the time.  I see

         24  that as one facility to implement into the program

         25  that Resolution 377 calls for.
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          2                 Also, Chairman Foster, talked about

          3  problems in the other end of the building, in the

          4  administrative end.  I would like to personally

          5  know, beyond just writing letters, as many of us in

          6  this room do very often, how we, the constituents,

          7  can work with the Council together to then work with

          8  the Administration.  I don't want to place blame,

          9  but blame is being shifted from one unit of

         10  government to the next and then back to the

         11  gardeners for not keeping the gardens open.  We need

         12  to stop shifting blame and we need to do something

         13  positive.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I just

         15  want to make a comment in regard to the statement

         16  that you just finished.  The issue that we are

         17  confronting here right now is that these lots are no

         18  longer in the hands of the City Council.  And I

         19  believe Chairman Foster indicated that to you

         20  precisely for that reason.  Because under the

         21  circumstances that we are right now, is the Mayor

         22  who have the sole power over them.  I don't

         23  understand because I was not here when the other

         24  City Council member indicated to you the question of

         25  the membership in the volunteer group of people who
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          2  run the gardens, I don't understand what that issue

          3  is about.  I want to clarify for you that I agree

          4  with you that three, four, five volunteers should

          5  not be blamed for not having more volunteers dealing

          6  in the gardens themselves to be able to maintain

          7  them.  The problem that I have as a City Council

          8  member and a resident of my community is when the

          9  gardens are closed and locked and not allow people

         10  in.  And that is an issue that need to be resolved

         11  by the gardeners, eternal accessibility, not eternal

         12  participation from volunteers, but accessibility is

         13  an issue for me and it is a problem I have with

         14  that.

         15                 MS. NOBEL- MAXWELL:  The more

         16  volunteers that we have, the often we are able to

         17  keep gardens open, because as the one person

         18  addressed earlier, if a garden is open with no one

         19  to watch the garden, things have been stolen.  So it

         20  is an issue of balance and having more people to be

         21  in the garden and through gaining more volunteers,

         22  you have more people.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I have an

         24  emergency, I must leave, I'm here since early this

         25  morning, and I have a child stuck at an airport
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          2  since last night, so, please forgive me.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Mr. Gary

          4  Baum.

          5                 MR. BAUM:  Good afternoon, Council

          6  members.  I would like to wish Council Member Foster

          7  good luck with his family, and I submitted a written

          8  testimony, which I would like you to share with all

          9  the other Council members, including the one on top

         10  of the stack addressed to Mayor Giuliani,

         11  personally.

         12                 I would like to share with you, first

         13  and foremost, I am a native New Yorker and I see

         14  community gardens as an asset to the City as a

         15  whole, and I have taken time out of my carpentry

         16  business to be here today to state for the record

         17  that I am opposed of the transfer of Green Thumb and

         18  its gardens from the Department of Parks to the

         19  Department of Housing Preservation and Development

         20  (HPD).  I'm opposed to the sale or development of

         21  these valuable public green oases, without a current

         22  ULURP needs assessment, and current meaning maximum

         23  5 years old, and needs assessment should be done lot

         24  by lot and neighborhood by neighborhood.  And I also

         25  want to address the fact real quickly that there is
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          2  a lack of due process in this transfer, and that is

          3  upsetting to the City as a whole.

          4                 From my experience growing up in New

          5  York, I have seen many, many benefits from community

          6  gardens, including the inspiration of seeing

          7  something positive come out of literally a pile of

          8  rubble.  And as I have grown older one of the ways

          9  that I have given back to the City is by teaching

         10  carpentry workshops to people of all ages in

         11  community gardens throughout the boroughs. And

         12  consistently I have been impressed with the people

         13  who run the gardens and that are part of them and

         14  take part in community workshops.  And, for example,

         15  in Bedford- Stuyvesant and Williamsburg, I have

         16  worked with junior high school kids and their

         17  teachers to build an outdoor platform, which is a

         18  stage used as an outdoor classroom.  And here in

         19  their garden on Walton Avenue, which has raised beds

         20  and plenty of trees, they hold environmental science

         21  classes and biology classes.  And another project I

         22  have been involved in is with seniors in East New

         23  York on Livonia Avenue, helping them to build a

         24  grape arbor underneath the shadow of the elevated

         25  subway train.
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          2                 And the list goes on and on of the

          3  benefits of community gardens to the City as a

          4  whole.  First, again, as people have said, they

          5  make- up the need for green open spaces in the City.

          6  And as I have found out through my studies that New

          7  York has fewer acres of open green space per

          8  thousand people than any other city in the country.

          9  And so here people are taking the initiative to get

         10  the needs met.

         11                 Other needs are social programs for

         12  youth, for seniors, for cultural programs, places

         13  for gathering and they also provide watchful eyes on

         14  the street, and so crime rates in many neighborhoods

         15  has gone down directly because of the existence of

         16  community gardens.  And so dollar for dollar, the

         17  short time sale of garden lots does not make up the

         18  long- term benefit that community gardens supply to

         19  the City.

         20                 And one note that I do want to make

         21  clear, the term temporary has become, gotten raised

         22  again and again, or interim. The only thing from my

         23  knowledge of New York City that is interim about

         24  community gardens is the wording in the original

         25  Green Thumb Contract which was written over 25 years
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          2  ago.  And I see, as we all do, there is a resurgence

          3  going on in this City, and New York is becoming more

          4  crowded.  So the need for City residents to have

          5  safe, clean, and green open spaces, that is not

          6  temporary.  The need for generations of kids to have

          7  contact with nature, to have outdoor education

          8  programs, and a place to grow, that is not

          9  temporary.  The need for churches, seniors, working

         10  families, poor families, wealthy families, as well

         11  as musicians, civic residents, civic

         12  representatives, such as yourselves, and community

         13  groups to have a place to get together close to

         14  home, that is not temporary.            And finally,

         15  the commitment of people in their neighborhoods to

         16  maintain these valuable garden oases in their

         17  communities is not temporary.  This is why many of

         18  these gardens are over 10, 15, and 20 years old, and

         19  currently there are over 700 of them throughout the

         20  five boroughs.

         21                 And I see that this is important to

         22  the City Council because Resolution #438 addresses

         23  that about creating more green space in inner- City

         24  neighborhoods.  So I would like to urge the City

         25  Council to preserve and expand the Green Thumb
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          2  Community Garden program and keep it managed by the

          3  Parks, not letting it be transferred to HPD.

          4                 And I thank you very much for your

          5  time, and I would be willing to work with you in the

          6  future and share my experiences at any future date.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 MR. PERS:  Thank you.  Carolyn

          9  Ratcliffe, Felicia Young, Kim Iacona.  I'm at a

         10  complete loss of this, 537 East 6th, okay,

         11  Francoise, Joe Eisman, and Margie Green, William

         12  Halsey.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want to

         14  ask the people who are going to testify to be very

         15  clear about the timing, because I have to go back to

         16  the office, eventually, I have an appointment in my

         17  office with the district.  I am very glad that the

         18  people who are speaking now are from my district,

         19  but I want to understand that I have to enforce a

         20  timing in order to be able to finish these hearings.

         21    Okay?

         22                 MS. RATCLIFFE:  That is fine.  Would

         23  you mind if I let Felicia speak first?

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You have

         25  to us the microphone, I don't hear you.
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          2                 MS. YOUNG:  No, I have someone

          3  waiting for me on the street corner.

          4                 MS. RATCLIFFE:  Could Felicia speak

          5  first, please?

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.  It's

          7  no problem, I just want to warn everyone who is left

          8  that I'm going to enforce the timing.

          9                 MS. RATClIFFE  Thank you, we

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  As the

         12  Executive Director of Earth Celebrations, a non-

         13  profit arts organization on the Lower East Side, I

         14  have been active producing cultural events in the

         15  gardens and advocating for their preservation for

         16  the past nine years.  I ask you all to support

         17  Resolution 377 to maintain and expand rather than

         18  destroy the community gardens of New York City. It

         19  is a fact that many of the gardens in New York City

         20  are currently threatened with destruction by the

         21  mandate to transfer Green Thumb Gardens to HPD and

         22  plans to auction off 126 gardens this spring.

         23                 There has been no current public

         24  review for the transfer of 741 community gardens for

         25  further sale and development. This mandate will have
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          2  a disastrous effect on low- income neighborhoods

          3  throughout the City.  It deserves to be

          4  comprehensively reviewed by local communities and

          5  City officials taking into consideration the current

          6  needs, now in 1999 and the future, for both open

          7  space, low- income affordable housing, and the loss

          8  of irreplaceable services these gardens provide.

          9                 For those gardens that are being put

         10  up for auction, some were put through review 15

         11  years ago and need to be reviewed again now.  Other

         12  gardens went through ULURP five to six years ago,

         13  did not go through, these gardens did not go through

         14  a just and proper public review process.  In fact,

         15  gardeners in these neighborhoods were never notified

         16  by their local community boards, City agencies, or

         17  developers of their plans.  In addition, community

         18  boards and City agencies only listed the gardens by

         19  block and lot numbers making it difficult for

         20  community residents to track their gardens through

         21  the review process, and confusing for community

         22  boards and any City Planning Commission members to

         23  comprehend whether they were voting to release

         24  gardens or vacant lots for development.

         25                 Since 1995 on the Lower East Side we
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          2  were active translating community board agendas from

          3  block and lot numbers into names of gardens to be

          4  voted on, and we took it upon ourselves to notify

          5  gardeners to attend and speak at these meetings,

          6  despite the massive support for the gardens and

          7  opposition to their sale for development, the

          8  community voice was often ignored.  In some cases

          9  there was no public review process on a community

         10  level, and specific gardens were placed into the

         11  accelerated UDAP process.

         12                 These gardens have totally

         13  transformed neighborhoods riddled with abandoned

         14  buildings and neglected rubble strewn lots that had

         15  become dens of crime, drugs and toxic waste.

         16  People worked together out of their own volunteer

         17  initiative to improve their neighborhood.  Over the

         18  past quarter of a century, these gardens have also

         19  grown into more than needed open space, they have

         20  become living multi- cultural centers bringing

         21  people from diverse backgrounds together in

         22  neighborhoods that are often divided racially and

         23  culturally.

         24                 As the City slashes the budget for

         25  social services and cultural programs, these gardens
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          2  are providing millions of dollars worth of social

          3  services free of cost to the City.  These gardens

          4  function as outdoor theaters, art centers, providing

          5  numerous cultural programs, including concert

          6  performance, arts, crafts, poetry to the community

          7  for free, as well as outdoor environmental science

          8  classrooms for schools who have been gardening plots

          9  and who have woven these activities into their

         10  curriculum.  The gardens have also served as healing

         11  centers for the elderly, and those struggling with

         12  AIDS, and as sacred churches for weddings, funerals,

         13  and the practice of native religions, festivals and

         14  ceremonies.

         15                 I would also like to just point out

         16  that with the 11,000 vacant lots in the City and

         17  less than 800 community gardens, it seems clear that

         18  the gardens do not stand in the way of development.

         19  We can have both needed, affordable low- income

         20  housing and gardens.  Mayor Giuliani says, a deal is

         21  a deal, the City granted permits only for the

         22  gardens to be temporary. However, this deal was

         23  based on the City's needs 20 to 25 years ago, and

         24  there was no precedent to understand what the

         25  gardens would become to these neighborhoods and
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          2  residents throughout the City.  The community

          3  gardens have given the City a gift, just think what

          4  it would cost to construct public parks and services

          5  of this scope.  The gardens are exemplary model of

          6  urban improvisation that should become a plan for

          7  future cities in the 21st Century.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. RATCLIFFE:  My name is Carolyn

         11  Ratcliffe.  I'm a member of the New York City in the

         12  Lower East Side Garden Coalition.  I'm the secretary

         13  for the New 600 BC East 9th Street Block and

         14  Neighborhood Association, and the Garden Chairperson

         15  for La Plaza Cultural, which is on the southwest

         16  corner of East 9th Street and Avenue C.

         17                 I would like to the thank the

         18  Council, one, for having this hearing.  It is so

         19  desperately important that people be heard about

         20  what is happening to public space in New York City.

         21  There have been many eloquent, informative, and

         22  factual speeches made as to why community gardens of

         23  New York City should survive. Published statistics

         24  indicate that there are between 11,000 to 14,000

         25  truly vacant lots existing in New York City that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            229

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  could be developed before gardens were sold.  The

          3  same statistics also indicate that we have one of

          4  the lowest amounts of green space per capita of any

          5  city in the U.S., and one of the highest rates of

          6  asthma.  However, rather than be redundant and

          7  repeating the same facts over and over, perhaps we

          8  can consider some less well publicized facts about

          9  gardens and gardeners.

         10                 I wold like to direct your attention

         11  to a description of a typical New York City

         12  gardener.  Here you have an individual who has

         13  endured dirt, inclement weather, drought, rubble,

         14  pestilence, drug dealers, gangs, violence, apathy,

         15  discouragement, insults, slugs, pernicious weeds,

         16  voracious insects, injuries, and overwork.  The

         17  return for this has been some flowers, some

         18  vegetables, and an intense and unusual relationship

         19  with neighbors and fellow citizens of New York City.

         20    People who ordinarily would pass each other by on

         21  the street without a glance in other neighborhoods

         22  got to know one another, they noticed the change

         23  that it made in the lives of everyone in the

         24  neighborhood when the blocks looked better, when

         25  people felt that their common concerns were being

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            230

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  addressed, like physical safety from drug dealers

          3  and the assorted crimes that go with this particular

          4  disease, muggings, robberies, vandalism, physical

          5  violence and fires.

          6                 The gardens became safe havens with

          7  rules, such as no drugs allowed, enforced by

          8  gardeners for the sake of the children in the

          9  neighborhoods.  They became cultural centers where

         10  free dance, music, poetry, and theatrical

         11  performances were held, along with visual arts

         12  centers, crafts were taught, nature and

         13  environmental centers flourished.  Potlucks and

         14  meetings were also part of this.  It is virtually

         15  impossible to be a gardener and not know your

         16  neighbors, most especially the children who come to

         17  the gardens to run, play, plant, feed the fish,

         18  chase the squirrels and the birds, try to catch a

         19  frog that they saw go into the pond as a tadpole and

         20  grow to be a real frog, do arts and crafts, eat

         21  brownies and Halloween candies, listen to ghost

         22  stories, see plays, be in plays, make puppets, dream

         23  all the things that children should be allowed to

         24  do.  It's a lot better for them than drugs and

         25  violence, don't you think?
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          2                 If someone is silly and obstinate

          3  enough to survive all of the above and kept coming

          4  back for more, why you think that a gardener would

          5  give up and let the City do what is planned,

          6  slaughtering the gardens under the guise of, we need

          7  housing, it's a market economy and gardeners are

          8  only throwbacks to the communist era.  Political

          9  epithets are about as tasteful as religious or

         10  ethnic slurs.  Many New York City Community

         11  Gardeners have fought far tougher types.  We

         12  persevere.  We do not give up.  We believe that New

         13  York City can include green space in its planning

         14  and that it should.  We will not go away.  We vote.

         15  We will not forget how you vote.  And we will tell

         16  all of our friends what the City is doing and what

         17  they can do, vote, call, write thousands of letters,

         18  faxes, and emails.  This is a vital, important

         19  historical issue in front of you, do what is right,

         20  stop the sale of the gardens.

         21                 Because not all gardeners are

         22  developers, construction moguls, movers and shakers

         23  in the financial world or major donors to political

         24  types, does not mean that we are passive, weak, or

         25  unintelligent or lacking in courage or the wits to
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          2  stop this.  We are a very hardy breed and incredibly

          3  stubborn.  It comes with the turf.  If you too had

          4  been a community gardener, you could perhaps

          5  understand the tenacity and the endurance that is

          6  required for the job.  Perhaps you would even begin

          7  to understand what motivates people like us to dig

          8  out thousands of pounds of rubble, sifting it to

          9  make soil, composting, work days, cleaning, picking

         10  up garbage, shoveling snow, baby sitting someone

         11  else's children for free, tolerating insults and

         12  threats and risking our lives to have a community

         13  and a garden.  They are inextricably intertwined. It

         14  is part of the fabric of our community and our

         15  culture.  It would be praised in other settings, not

         16  denigrated as it has been in New York of late.  All

         17  the gardeners that I know have played a major role

         18  in the restoration of New York City in making it a

         19  great place to live.  We make good neighbors and

         20  good citizens.  We care very much about what happens

         21  in our City and we have all contributed.  We will

         22  prevail and New York City will have community

         23  gardens.  Vote yes on Resolution #377.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.
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          2    I need to remind people that if I don't enforce

          3  the timing, we are going to be forced to close the

          4  hearing without listening to everybody, and I would

          5  like everybody to have that opportunity.  Then

          6  forgive me, but I have to enforce the timing from

          7  now on.  Okay, thank you very much.

          8                 MS. IACONO:  Hello, my name is Kim

          9  Iacono.  I live at 10 Montgomery Place, Brooklyn,

         10  New York, 11215.  I am here to speak out in favor of

         11  the passage of Resolution 377.  It is of dire

         12  importance that the transfer of Green Thumb

         13  community gardens from the Parks Department to HPD's

         14  Assets and Sales Unit be investigated.  The Land Use

         15  Committee would be the most appropriate board to

         16  administer the hearings.

         17                 These beautiful gardens have been

         18  grown up out of urban wasteland, veritable breeding

         19  grounds for drugs and crime, by the people of New

         20  York City most willing to dedicated their lives to

         21  improving the quality of life in their

         22  neighborhoods.  The gardens absolutely function as

         23  critical safe- havens, oases of peace and

         24  restoration, in the neighborhoods of New York City

         25  that most desperately need such refuge.  Many of
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          2  these are also the neighborhoods of our City most

          3  starved of green space, oxygen breathing parks and

          4  trees.

          5                 The gardens are invaluable of their

          6  communities. This plan to destroy them is tantamount

          7  to a plan for fostering hopelessness and restoring

          8  an infestation of drugs and crime in each blessed

          9  place where the gardens have miraculously replaced

         10  urban blight.  They function in the neighborhoods

         11  that need them most as fountains of life and hope.

         12                 New York City holds over 10,000

         13  vacant lots.  Why have these 112, which are gardens,

         14  1 percent, been sentenced to death?  What is behind

         15  this action?  Why was the transfer of the gardens to

         16  HPD carried out in this clandestine manner?  Right

         17  action need never be hidden.  Why was there such

         18  confusion about the time and place of the first DCAS

         19  hearing held in a small room which left a great

         20  crowd of people standing out in the cold for hours

         21  waiting to testify?  Why were there 13 chairs empty

         22  of City officials to hear their testimony?  Why was

         23  the public given such paltry and short notice?

         24                 I can only suggest that the intention

         25  of New York City is apparently community dis-
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          2  empowerment.  This plan attacks the very citizens of

          3  New York who have labored greatly with love and

          4  success to rescue and renew their communities.

          5                 Members of the Council you are our

          6  voice.  We the citizens of New York adjure you to

          7  help us save our communities from this

          8  unconscionable public policy.

          9                 Help us to avoid a certain war of the

         10  forces of greed and destruction against the

         11  children, the elderly and an army of deeply

         12  committed and impassioned citizens who will not

         13  complacently allow the precious fabric of their

         14  lives to be torn apart.  With our common goal being

         15  justice and the true well- being of our City help us

         16  avoid war and continue to plant the seeds of peace

         17  by passing Resolution 377.

         18                 And I just want to note that it does

         19  say, "Let us have peace" right on the ceiling over

         20  there, and over here it does say that the government

         21  is for the people.  And I actually believe that

         22  probably everyone in this room is of one mind on

         23  this issue and that is what is so hard for me to

         24  understand.  This is so obviously wrong, it is

         25  unbelievably wrong, and you are our voice, you need
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          2  to help us.  And I also just want to state that I am

          3  not a gardener, I have been not working for years

          4  and years in a garden, but I have been moved to come

          5  here through a recent experience at a garden that is

          6  up for auction, The Cherry Tree Garden in the South

          7  Bronx.  And I can tell you that there are children

          8  in that neighborhood who have been in dire straights

          9  who now have a future from the things that they're

         10  learning from the people who teach them and care for

         11  them and give them a sense of their own value as

         12  human beings through the activities that are held in

         13  that garden.

         14                 I just want to address one thing that

         15  Councilman Reed had mentioned about availability of

         16  the gardens.  As has been mentioned the gardens are

         17  locked sometimes because there is not around- the-

         18  clock caretaker presence available.   But at this

         19  Cherry Tree Garden, for instance, they have a lot of

         20  activities going on regularly, on a regular basis,

         21  and everyone, people come from all boroughs of

         22  Manhattan, honestly, to go and take part in what

         23  goes on there on a regular basis.  And even though

         24  sometimes it is locked and it is only open part-

         25  time, it's, this place is contributing hugely and
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          2  freely to everyone in this City who wants to come

          3  and take part.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, I

          5  just make a comment about the accessibility issue,

          6  because I personally have a problem with that.  I

          7  cannot stand the idea of privatization of public

          8  land, and for me to keep a garden closed is the

          9  beginning of that kind of a concept, and I have a

         10  problem with that.  I want to see gardens, parks,

         11  that are public land that are there for the use, for

         12  the enjoyment, for the enrichment of our humanity to

         13  be open and not closed.  What is the way to do that,

         14  what manner can we accomplish that, we need to

         15  explore that, but it is not justification to close

         16  down public property and to be accessible to people.

         17    And I don't want an answer to that question, we

         18  need to move to the next person, because if not, the

         19  person will not be able to speak.

         20                 MS. CACHELIN:  Good afternoon.  My

         21  name is Francoise Cachelin.  I live on the Lower

         22  East Side, our community garden is 21 years old.

         23                 If we do not support Resolution 377,

         24  we are giving the Administration the power to

         25  continue the destruction of our community.  The
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          2  claim that the gardens must be sold to make way for

          3  affordable low- income housing is patently untrue,

          4  and land sold at auction will either be held for

          5  speculation or built with market rate housing.

          6                 For gardens that have been in

          7  existence for 10, 15, 20 years, the word temporary

          8  does not apply.  Destroying these gardens will bring

          9  great emotional harm to the members of the

         10  communities.  We must create a process to maintain

         11  these gardens and to expand the Green Thumb

         12  Community Garden Program.

         13                 And I'm going to stop here.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Next

         15  speaker.

         16                 MR. EISMAN:  Good afternoon.  Thanks

         17  for the opportunity to speak in support of

         18  Resolution 377.  My name is Joe Eisman, and I serve

         19  as community organizer for the Green Guerillas.

         20  We're a non- profit organization that is celebrating

         21  its 25th year in helping people revitalize and

         22  improve the quality of life in their neighborhoods

         23  through community gardening.  Over these years we

         24  have worked with hundreds of community gardening

         25  groups and thousands of volunteers and have
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          2  witnessed time and time again the incredible

          3  resources community gardens provide to the

          4  revitalization and community development of a

          5  neighborhood.

          6                 The benefits that community gardens

          7  provide, are probably well known to the members of

          8  the Council at this point. So with that in mind, and

          9  keeping in mind that the work of the gardens is

         10  funded by philanthropic and federal dollars and out

         11  of the pockets of community gardeners, themselves,

         12  it's cost the City virtually nothing.

         13                 And therefore, the City's current and

         14  aggressive policy of liquidating its inventory of

         15  vacant land is a bad deal for the neighborhoods who

         16  benefit by community gardens. Considering that two-

         17  thirds of the community planning districts fall far

         18  below the New York City standard of 2.5 acres per

         19  1,000 persons for open space, this seems like a bad

         20  deal for greater New York City as well.  The City's

         21  transfer of 741 Green Thumb garden lots to the

         22  Department of Housing Preservation and Development

         23  last April, and the termination of the Green Thumb

         24  licensing program has seriously jeopardized the

         25  security of the Green Thumb Program, and the
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          2  establishment of new community gardens to meet the

          3  current open space needs of our City's underserved

          4  communities.

          5                 On May 7th, 1998, after the transfer

          6  of the Green Thumb sites to HPD had occurred, a

          7  staff member representing HPD Commissioner Richard

          8  Roberts at the Executive Fiscal Year 1999 Budget

          9  Hearing for the City Council regarding HPD's

         10  intentions with the Green Thumb sites, he spoke and

         11  he stated, "First of all, I would like to clarify

         12  for you today what this transfer means for the

         13  program.  It is not a plan to terminate Green Thumb

         14  garden leases.  It is not a plan to accelerate

         15  development on Green Thumb garden sites, and it is

         16  not a plan to accelerate the sale of these sites for

         17  the development of housing, particularly luxury

         18  housing, as some have suggested."

         19                 Unfortunately, the 120 plus garden

         20  sites slated for auction this May, prove this

         21  testimony to be false.  A memo from HPD to the City

         22  Land Committee members dated April 24th, 1998,

         23  states, "that upon transfer of jurisdiction and

         24  management of the Green Thumb properties to HPD, the

         25  license agreement between DCAS and Parks dated
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          2  January 8th, 1996 is to be terminated." Termination

          3  of this agreement effectively terminated all Green

          4  Thumb garden leases.  Many of the transferred garden

          5  sites have been included in the DCAS May auction,

          6  demonstrating that HPD finds plans to accelerate

          7  development on Green Thumb sites quite acceptable.

          8  City lots on the May auction list are going for sale

          9  to the highest bidder for unrestricted use, so HPD's

         10  guess as to whether these lots will be developed as

         11  luxury or not, is as good as mine.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You have

         13  to wrap up.

         14                 MR. EISMAN:  Okay.  In June,

         15  Commissioner Roberts in a letter to an elected

         16  official mentioned that HPD has a long history of

         17  working collaboratively with local communities

         18  through their Community Board to determine how sites

         19  are used, and they will continue to work through

         20  this effort to address communities concerns

         21  regarding open space.  Community gardeners,

         22  community boards and the City's network of greening

         23  groups have clearly expressed their concerns and

         24  wishes to preserve community garden sites last year.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You have
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          2  to wrap up, and that means you have one second, that

          3  is what that means.

          4                 MR. EISMAN:  Okay.  Well, I will make

          5  this last point.  Green Guerillas is opposed to the

          6  auction in May.  We ask the City Council to support

          7  Resolution 377 and to preserve these sites.  We also

          8  ask them to support Council Member Leffler's

          9  recommendation that a five- year time limit

         10  restriction be instituted on all future ULURP

         11  dispositions of small properties, such as community

         12  gardens, and that Council Member Leffler recommends

         13  that City Council now calls on the Administration to

         14  ask each effected community board to hold a public

         15  hearing and make recommendations if changes in the

         16  effected community warrant an alternative to the

         17  previously approved ULURP disposition.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         19                 MR. EISMAN:  Thank you.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The next

         21  person.

         22                 MR. HALSEY:  Okay, my name is Bill

         23  Halsey, and I'm not a gardener, but I have been

         24  moved to come because ever since I have lived in New

         25  York for the last five years I have marveled at the
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          2  work that has gone into a lot of these community

          3  gardens.  And in particular, the one in Downtown

          4  Brooklyn that was destroyed to make way for a

          5  sneaker factory was an absolute tragedy for that

          6  neighborhood, because it was the one green spot, in

          7  all of that kind of freeway grid that goes, courses

          8  through Downtown Brooklyn on its way to Manhattan.

          9  And I think that everybody agrees after hearing

         10  these excellent, great speakers that have gone on

         11  before me, it's pretty obvious the benefits of

         12  community gardens, but I think what people don't

         13  realize is or they do realize it but they're afraid

         14  to say it, is, that what you're dealing with, is

         15  you're actually dealing with someone who really

         16  doesn't care what you think.  I mean people know

         17  that, but they don't want to come out and say it.

         18  Everybody knows what the right thing to do is, but

         19  what you need is the courage to act on that.

         20                 And in particular, the Council needs

         21  the courage not just to pass a resolution, but to

         22  actually pass a law.  You're dealing with someone,

         23  in Mayor Giuliani, and I'm afraid to differ with the

         24  person that left that you're dealing with someone

         25  who not only, he does not have any respect for laws,
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          2  but he will not bound by them.  So you, at least,

          3  need a law to prevent him from doing that because he

          4  doesn't respect what laws are on the books anyway.

          5  He hasn't respected the Freedom of Information Act,

          6  he doesn't respect it when the Federal government

          7  tells him he is breaking the law.  So the Council,

          8  as the Legislative Body, which is really the supreme

          9  authority in New York City, not the Mayor, the

         10  Council as the Legislative Body has a moral

         11  authority to fight, you know, and that does not mean

         12  to just have a meeting and say, oh, we wish we could

         13  do something, but we can't.  It means to actually

         14  realize that you're faced with someone that is

         15  burning up in a building you go in and save them.

         16  You may have to trespass to do that, but there is a

         17  higher moral authority involved here.

         18                 And that is what I would ask the

         19  Council to do, those members who stayed to see this,

         20  and to whoever sees it on the video tape, you know,

         21  you can't just debate endlessly, you actually have

         22  to do something to stop someone who is trying to

         23  destroy New York City.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 MR. PERS: Dagni Senzel, Mitchel

          3  Cohen, Maryann Kristoff, Celestine Heard, Brad Will,

          4  Jon Crow, Barry Benepe, and two people who testified

          5  previously on the other resolutions, it looks like

          6  Bruce McInnes and Naomi Zurcher, and that is all we

          7  have.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The first

          9  speaker that is going to speak, please, come

         10  forward?  I am going to ask the two persons who

         11  testified prior on the other resolution, not to

         12  speak until the other people speak first, and you

         13  can decide which one of you go first, it is

         14  irrelevant to me.  Thank you.

         15                 MS. HEARD:  Good afternoon.  Thank

         16  you for allowing us to be here to testify.  My name

         17  is Celestine Heard, and I am the Chairperson of The

         18  Warren Street/Saint Mark's Place Community Garden,

         19  Community Board #6, in Brooklyn.  Our garden is over

         20  20 years old and has many educational programs for

         21  our children.  In fact, our children have become

         22  entrepreneurs, they have raised money for a

         23  greenhouse, which we won't be able to put up if they

         24  destroy us, and they have a contract for the herbs

         25  that we grow with a local restaurant.  I would like
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          2  to read a statement that we have prepared.

          3                 The quality of life, like the quality

          4  of mercy in not strained.  It is enthroned in the

          5  hearts of our community.

          6                 There is no communist garden plot, we

          7  are not holding back the City of New York.  There is

          8  no misunderstanding of the use of temporary space.

          9                 We are encouraging the Mayor to hold

         10  a moratorium on selling any City property that

         11  houses gardens until the City Council can come up

         12  with, or proposed a procedure similar to Resolution

         13  377.  In fact, Resolution 377 should be investigated

         14  and made stronger.  Until that effort is done

         15  nothing should happen to any garden within the five

         16  boroughs.  We urge all to adopt Resolution 377, or

         17  formulate some new policy that can address the

         18  nature/preservation of community gardens.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         21    That was a wonderful testimony.

         22                 MS. HEARD:  Thank you.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have one

         24  question for you.  You said that the garden that you

         25  are involved are cultivating herbs.
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          2                 MS. HEARD:  Yes.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And there

          4  is a contract between you and - -

          5                 MS. HEARD:  There was a restaurant

          6  that had tasted our lemon grass and our basil, and

          7  because we had some basil that came in from Italy,

          8  Genovesi Basil, they liked it, and in order to keep

          9  us going with some of our education programs, had

         10  said, made a contract with us that if we grew this

         11  stuff, they would buy it from us this season.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Isn't that

         13  economic development?

         14                 MS. HEARD:  For our kids, yes.

         15  They're the ones that came up with the idea, and

         16  they say, out of the mouths of babes, so, basically,

         17  we are trying to work with that.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And with

         19  an innovative mind and a mind that would care about

         20  integrating development in a real manner and a real

         21  humane way, you will say that gardens also serve us

         22  an economic development issue in the community.

         23                 MS. HEARD:  Yes, it does, in addition

         24  to other things.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. HEARD:  And also, let me add, by

          3  the way, quicky, quicky, that we are open, even

          4  though our sign says noon to dusk on the weekends,

          5  we are basically open in the summer from can't see

          6  in the morning until can't see at night.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          8    Next speaker.

          9                 MR. COHEN:  Hi, my name is Mitchel

         10  Cohen.  I am representing the Green Party of New

         11  York, and I am a member of the Brooklyn Greens.  And

         12  I'm here actually to be the only speaker to speak in

         13  favor of the immediate transfer of community gardens

         14  to the jurisdiction of HPD, so that they can be

         15  immediately paved over and improve the quality of

         16  life in New York City.

         17                 We, Greens, support Mayor Giuliani's

         18  courageous plan to sell off, what last Monday he

         19  called the Communist Community Gardens or CCG.  The

         20  Mayor knows all too well that Carl Marx, himself, is

         21  buried in a Communist plot.  And then as President

         22  Reagan had said, "trees cause pollution," and so if

         23  we realize that trees take up valuable air space

         24  that could be used to derive revenue for this City,

         25  that is why we, Greens, support Mayor Giuliani's
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          2  plan to place advertising and surveillance cameras

          3  on trees, and to sell off, also, New York City's

          4  water supply system to the highest bidder.

          5                 But, Greens say, why stop there?

          6  There is far too much green space in New York City

          7  already, just look around, the beautiful vast grey

          8  asphalt sweep is interrupted by ugly, blotches of

          9  green here and there that could be used for much

         10  more productive concerns, such as places to dump New

         11  York City's surplus wastes now with the closing of

         12  Staten Island Landfill, there is going to be need

         13  for places to put toxic waste.  It could also be

         14  used for parking lots, for Disney stores, especially

         15  for new prisons, they're going to need a lot of new

         16  prisons to house all the activists who are going to

         17  be really upset about this and other issues that are

         18  going on in this City.  Also, maybe, perhaps small,

         19  decentralized nuclear power plants could be housed

         20  there at the garden sites, and garages for the new

         21  military tanks that the New York City Police

         22  Department has purchased.

         23                 So, the Mayor is right, we feel, the

         24  plan to sell off the gardens and to privatize

         25  everything is capitalism at its finest.  And if you
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          2  don't like it, Greens say, overgrow the government.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. CROW:  Jon Crow, and I'm with an

          6  organization called BANG, which is Brooklyn Alliance

          7  and Neighborhood Gardens. I have written testimony,

          8  I'm not going to read it.

          9                 We have been standing in front of our

         10  gardens getting petitions signed in the middle of

         11  winter.  And in one weekend I have about 300

         12  signatures on the petitions.  We can continue

         13  standing in front of our gardens, we can all winter

         14  long, in the middle of winter in the worst of

         15  weather, but we're not sure to what end, to who is

         16  going to listen to this?  But when you stand in

         17  front of these gardens and you ask people to sign a

         18  petition, everybody stops, nobody walks by and says,

         19  no, I don't care about these gardens.  When they see

         20  that you are trying to save the gardens, they stop

         21  and say, they want to take away this garden, why,

         22  and they come and they sign it, and they bring their

         23  friends over and say, sign this.

         24                 Also, I wanted to address here your

         25  point about accessibility for the gardens.  Every
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          2  garden has a sign on the gate, or most gardens do,

          3  and often it is the Green Thumb sign and it has a

          4  phone number there.  Anybody who wants access to

          5  that garden the sign is pretty clear.  You call that

          6  number, Green Thumb gives you the person's name or a

          7  contact person for the garden.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want you

          9  to know that I have tried myself to get into gardens

         10  in my community, and I have not been able.  I mean,

         11  I want you to understand that - -

         12                 MR. CROW:  Because you weren't able

         13  to get a contact name through Green Thumb?

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want you

         15  to understand this, I am a supporter of gardens.

         16                 MR. CROW:  Right.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But I have

         18  a serious problem with the accessibility because I

         19  have experienced the impossibility of getting inside

         20  of the place, myself.

         21                 MR. CROW:  Okay, but - -

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Now I am

         23  not saying with this, - -

         24                 MR. CROW:  In what way did you try to

         25  get in?
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  I am

          3  not saying with this that this problem has been

          4  caused or created on purpose. What I'm saying is

          5  that we have to resolve it, that gardens have to be

          6  accessible to the community, and that has to be

          7  resolved somehow.  That is all what I'm saying.

          8                 MR. CROW:  And you don't think by

          9  putting a phone number on, or contact person, that

         10  people will not make contact.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That

         12  doesn't work, I have tried.  I'm telling you, me, I

         13  have tried to get in some gardens on certain

         14  different occasions and it has been very difficult

         15  for me.

         16                 MR. CROW:  You weren't able to find a

         17  contact person?

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have not

         19  been able to find the person, I called the phone,

         20  nobody answered the phone in situations like that.

         21  And somehow this problem has to be resolved.

         22                 MR. CROW:  Okay, because we have

         23  volunteers coming all the time.  So somehow they're

         24  figuring out how to get in.  So maybe people need to

         25  try harder.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well, I'm

          3  telling you this problem has to be resolved,

          4  accessibility has to be resolved somehow.

          5                 MR. CROW:  Right, okay.  But you

          6  understand our concerns about the security of the

          7  gardens?

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I don't

          9  know if you understand that I am a supporter of

         10  green spaces.

         11                 MR. CROW:  Yes, right.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I don't

         13  know if you understand that part?

         14                 MR. CROW:  All right, good to know,

         15  thank you.

         16                 MR. BENEPE:  Good afternoon.  My name

         17  is Barry Benepe, and I'm representing the Fine Arts

         18  Federation of New York, which is a 104- year- old

         19  organization concerned with the appearance and use

         20  of public property.

         21                 Over 20 years ago, a group of us,

         22  including Tessa Huxley and Jane Weissman, joined

         23  Maria Grimaldi to advance the development of

         24  community gardens.  I entered a note of warning,

         25  reminding Maria that the gardens were only interim
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          2  and would one day be destroyed by the City.  "We

          3  will cross that bridge when we come to it," she

          4  replied.  "Right now we need the gardens."

          5                 She was right, and she is still

          6  right, but now we have come to that bridge.  We are

          7  facing a virtual armageddon of chain saws and

          8  bulldozers.  These gardens represent significant

          9  private financial investment.  They have had the

         10  unique benefit of bringing neighbors together,

         11  increasing security, and beautifying our City.  The

         12  City's proposal to eliminate these gardens carries

         13  no significant corollary public benefits to offset

         14  the losses. More parking lots are hardly needed in

         15  the City which already provides over a million free

         16  parking spaces.

         17                 In a City where only 25 percent of

         18  the revenues are derived from real estate taxes, any

         19  potential revenue would not scratch the cost of a

         20  day of overtime in the Police Department for a

         21  ticker tape parade.

         22                 Housing potential is often trumpeted

         23  as an excuse for selling off gardens, without any

         24  binding commitment to building housing.

         25  Furthermore, our citizens require more than housing,
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          2  sidewalks, parked cars and paved roads.  Our parks

          3  are too few and unevenly distributed to serve public

          4  need.

          5                 Gardens are unique in meeting this

          6  need.  They exist where people live and walk.  They

          7  allow us to find the earth under all that pavement,

          8  and to plant and reap the fruits of the earth.

          9                 There is a far greater public

         10  responsibility than a temporary financial fix

         11  through land sales.  There is a large difference

         12  between running a business and governing a City.  It

         13  is far more important to serve the long- term public

         14  good.  Not one active garden should be lost.  Please

         15  assure us of your support of Resolution 377.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you

         17  very much. Next speaker, please?

         18                 MR. PERS:  Ms. Magenta.

         19                 MS. MAGENTA:  Hi, I will just read

         20  part of what I wrote.  Rudolph Giuliani states that

         21  we, the community gardeners are not greedy, well, he

         22  is right, because we work for free and spend our own

         23  money to purchase, garden supplies, plants and food

         24  for our volunteers without a tax write off.

         25                 That is all I would like to say.
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          2  Thank you.  I'm sorry?

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Repeat

          4  your name again in the microphone.

          5                 MS. MAGENTA:  Oh, I didn't say it.

          6  Anna Magenta. Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          8                 MS. ZURCHER:  My name is Naomi

          9  Zurcher, and I'm addressing Int. 185 and Resolution

         10  20.  In Int. 185, in reviewing the proposed local

         11  law amending the New York City Administrative Code

         12  for the protection of trees, I am concerned with

         13  some of the language in the law.  It Section 18- 132

         14  on tree protection mention is made of an

         15  establishment of a tree protection control zone, how

         16  would such a zone be established and maintained?  If

         17  a tree is to protected shouldn't this local law

         18  define what is unacceptable behavior in relation to

         19  that protected tree that goes beyond other trees?

         20  If this law's purpose is to protect a tree or trees,

         21  why are most of the entries in this Section

         22  discussing removals?  If a tree is deemed to be so

         23  valued that it warrants protection, why isn't a

         24  person requesting its removal a certified or

         25  licensed tree expert rather than any person?  And
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          2  most importantly, why are the provisions of this

          3  Section not applicable to employees of any agency?

          4                 Oftentimes when City workers are

          5  engaged in the proper and authorized performance of

          6  their assigned duties, they unintentionally cause

          7  damage to trees.  If the provisions set forth in

          8  this local law applied to everyone, it might cause

          9  routine procedures to be reviewed and refined so

         10  that they would no longer impact on trees.  For

         11  example, if workers who replaced sidewalks were

         12  accountable for tree roots being severely damaged

         13  during the procedure, certain precautions or

         14  adjustments in their procedures might reduce the

         15  impact.

         16                 On Resolution #20, I commend the

         17  Council on its acknowledgement of the volunteers who

         18  collected the data for the Street Tree Census.  It's

         19  truly a yeoman's job and a labor of love, and the

         20  information collected on the species, size, and

         21  location of our street tree population is

         22  invaluable.  I would hope, however, that the Council

         23  would take a step back and evaluate the condition

         24  component of the collected data.  Many of the

         25  volunteers that collected data were lay people who
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          2  received two hours of training for the census.  Is

          3  it possible that the data collected on tree

          4  condition is even remotely accurate?  I think not,

          5  it is difficult enough for a trained eye, and I say

          6  this as a certified arborists, to do a risk

          7  assessment on a tree.  How would a lay person with

          8  two hours of training be able to pick up on the

          9  subtle variables that indicate potential risk?  The

         10  tragic loss of life in Queens was caused by a tree

         11  that was rated as good in the tree census.  As a

         12  trained professional and concerned citizen, I ask

         13  the Council to reconsider the use of data collected

         14  on tree condition as a basis to develop a more

         15  comprehensive tree management and maintenance

         16  program.

         17                 And finally, if I may, I am not a

         18  community gardener, I am, obviously, a concerned

         19  citizen who cares very much about the urban forest

         20  of which community gardens are a part. These people

         21  that came before you today exemplify the best that

         22  any City could want from a citizen, and they deserve

         23  to have their community gardens, and we, as non-

         24  community gardeners deserve the presence of those

         25  gardens.  I commend the City Council for calling
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          2  this hearing.  I know you are hogtied by this new

          3  Charter and that you do not have the power to just

          4  say, no, to Mayor Giuliani, but some way or another

          5  you must find a way, because what is going on is not

          6  good government, and it is not government for the

          7  people. These are the people that government should

          8  be serving at its best, and instead it's serving

          9  them at its worst.

         10                 MR. MCINNES:  My name is Bruce

         11  McInnes, and after Naomi's comments, I really don't

         12  want to open my mouth in this room.  I do thank the

         13  Council for holding the hearing.  I do want to say

         14  that I think it is either short- sighted or

         15  indifferent on the part of the Council to put so

         16  many complex issues on the calendar in one day, and

         17  then short change the public that comes in their

         18  opportunity to give testimony.

         19                 I will not speak to Res. 377, because

         20  I don't have time, you have taken my time away to do

         21  that.  I would like to submit testimony and many

         22  capable people did speak to that.

         23                 Regarding Res. 20, I echo Naomi's,

         24  Ms. Zurcher's comments, do not be misled by the

         25  claims of the condition that 89 or something percent
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          2  of these trees are in good or excellent condition,

          3  they are not, that is not true.  These were

          4  untrained people, we should applaud their efforts as

          5  volunteers and love what they did for us.  We should

          6  use that census as the basis to send professionals

          7  now with that list around to evaluate those trees

          8  and get a real clear reading.

          9                 Regarding Intro. 185, I, too, am a

         10  certified arborists, I, too, am not a gardener.  I'm

         11  here for other reasons. I do serve on the board or

         12  am a member of four local greening organizations,

         13  many of whose representatives you have heard today,

         14  and I have told you before, I don't own a truck, I

         15  don't own a chain saw, I don't do maintenance or

         16  planting business, I only try to help people manage

         17  their tree decisions.  And that is why I want to

         18  talk to you about 185 because I think there are

         19  serious flaws in the concept.

         20                 I would like to make two things clear

         21  today.  The first is that enactment of any law, such

         22  as 185 would put money in my pocket, greater

         23  regulation of tree resources means more confusion

         24  and more people will call me.  That said, I want to

         25  point out that while lofty in its intent, it's
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          2  flawed and dangerous -  excuse me, Sir, as it is

          3  written.  While I applaud the willingness of the

          4  Council to address tree issues on a broad scale, the

          5  means as doing so as described in this law are ill

          6  conceived, and if enacted will result in great

          7  injury to the community of trees.

          8                 This will occur largely because an

          9  already depleted Parks Department will need to turn

         10  resources away from its current missions to

         11  encompass this new role.  It is unfortunate that in

         12  this great City of ours where the talent and

         13  resources exist to provide services of the very

         14  highest quality, the agency charged with protecting

         15  our public trees, valuable assets that they are, is

         16  forced to operate on the most meager of budgets.

         17  While one might characterize the intentions of our

         18  Parks Department as heroic in scale, budget

         19  restrictions dictate that when it comes to the

         20  management of public trees, resources never stretch

         21  far enough to do an adequate, let alone admirable

         22  job.

         23                 Please, don't misconstrue my comments

         24  here.  I believe the Parks Department tries very

         25  hard to accomplish its mission.  Some of the hardest
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          2  working people in City government are in this

          3  Department.  The problem is money, for many years

          4  running, the problem has been money, never enough to

          5  address among other things the issue of maintenance,

          6  removal, planting and oversight.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You have

          8  to wrap up, please?

          9                 MR. MCINNES:  I'm wrapping up.  I

         10  must caution the Council that it would be unwise,

         11  perhaps foolhardy to add to the burdens of the

         12  Department or its Commissioner through enactment of

         13  a resolution giving the Department control over more

         14  trees than it currently oversees.  My understanding

         15  of this Introduction is that it encompasses private

         16  trees.  Protecting trees almost always sounds like a

         17  cool, environmentally, friendly thing to be doing.

         18  We must tread carefully however, when we bring

         19  private trees into the discussion, and the language

         20  here makes it possible for the Commissioner, famous

         21  as a tree lover of the first magnitude to include

         22  every privately owned tree in New York City in one

         23  great, big, tree friendly, chain saw intolerant,

         24  tree protection control zone.  One would think that

         25  we would become so tree friendly that we would
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          2  change our name to New Oak City.

          3                 Please, leave the Parks Department

          4  alone.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          6    The person who is going to speak now is going to

          7  be the last speaker of today. Please, identify

          8  yourself for the purpose of the record?

          9                 MS. WEISSMAN:  My name is Jane

         10  Weissman, and I served as Director of Green Thumb

         11  from October of 1984 through September of 1998.  I

         12  am here to support Resolution 377, and to provide

         13  some historic perspective on the issue.

         14                 During my years at Green Thumb,

         15  rarely, if ever, were community gardens sold at

         16  auction for speculative purposes, that is without

         17  restriction.  It was the unofficial policy of New

         18  York City's Department of City- wide Administrative

         19  Services not to sell gardens that were attractive,

         20  well used and well maintained. Looking at the list

         21  of the 110 plus gardens that are proposed for sale

         22  in May 1999 by DCAS, I am struck that nearly all of

         23  them are well established gardens and that most of

         24  them are 10- years- old. A good handful of them are

         25  15- years- old and two of them are 20 years- old.
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          2                 From its beginning, in 1978, it was

          3  understood by all that Green Thumb is defined as an

          4  interim site program, but prior to May 1998 when

          5  Green Thumb gardens were transferred to the Assets

          6  and Sales Department of the New York City Department

          7  of Housing Preservation and Development, everyone,

          8  including City officials interpreted interim to mean

          9  between demolition and development.  Gardeners

         10  accepted from the start that if their gardens were

         11  located on housing sites the land one day might be

         12  needed for development.  But Green Thumb and

         13  gardeners alike, were confident that if the gardens

         14  adhered to Green Thumb lease terms, gardens would

         15  not be sold out from under their sponsoring

         16  organizations at non- restricted auctions.

         17                 Selling land without restrictions for

         18  speculation provides no guarantee that the land will

         19  be used responsibly, not that turning a garden into

         20  a parking lot is a responsible action. More likely

         21  the garden will be abandoned left to return to its

         22  original state of decay, a state that gardeners have

         23  worked so hard over the years to reverse.

         24                 Open Space Policy in New York City

         25  needs enlightened guidance.  A full public hearing
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          2  conducted by the appropriate City Council Committee

          3  might hopefully achieve this.  Several issues do

          4  need to be addressed.

          5                 If the City is looking to earn

          6  revenue from its vacant lot inventory and

          7  erroneously insists upon labeling gardens as vacant

          8  lots, then why not find ways to sell gardens to the

          9  gardeners, and to establish neighborhood land trusts

         10  that would coordinate and provide cooperative

         11  services to its member gardens? For the past 10, 15,

         12  and 20 years, when funding for development was

         13  unavailable, gardens located on housing sites have

         14  flourished, beautifying, stabilizing and

         15  revitalizing their communities. Gardeners have

         16  welcomed neighborhood facilities, such as schools,

         17  day care and senior centers into their gardens, and

         18  they have hosted programs and events open to all.

         19  For years gardens have provided services to the

         20  community that the City cannot provide, and, yet,

         21  the City is willing to sacrifice these gardens

         22  without holding any kind of formal review.

         23                 In December 1997, HPD indicated that

         24  it would release certain gardens from development

         25  plans if community boards held formal reviews and
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          2  determined that the land was no longer a priority

          3  housing site and that the garden was worthy of

          4  preservation.  Yet, HPD continues to include gardens

          5  in RFPs and RFQs without informing community boards

          6  of its intentions.  It is critical that City

          7  agencies be compelled to advise community boards of

          8  all development, whether they be housing or

          9  commercial development and auction plans, that any

         10  plan that includes Green Thumb gardens, and that

         11  development and auction plans are not implemented

         12  before formal reviews by the full community board

         13  can take place.

         14                 I sincerely urge the Parks Committee

         15  to pass 377, and I thank you very much for the

         16  opportunity to speak at this late hour.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want to

         18  thank every single one of the members of the

         19  different communities that came here to testify on

         20  this issue, that in my understanding and in the

         21  understanding of the Council it's a serious matter.

         22  To auction the properties that belong to the people,

         23  in the opinion of the Council, is a serious issue

         24  and that is the reason why these hearings have been

         25  called.  I thank you, one more time, for coming down
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          2  here, in particularly, I want to thank the members

          3  of my community, and keep faith that we can prevail.

          4                 Thank you very much.  This meeting is

          5  closed.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 3:45 p.m.)

          7                 (The following testimony was read

          8  into the record.)

          9

         10  Testimony of:

         11  Alan Chin

         12  257 Clinton Street #3B

         13  New York, NY  10002

         14

         15                 I am not a community gardener, know

         16  next to nothing about plants, and can hardly tell

         17  the difference between a weed and a vegetable.

         18                 I am a life- long resident of the

         19  Lower East Side, where I have seen community gardens

         20  help transformation these neighborhoods from crime-

         21  ridden, drug dealing "no- go" zones to newly

         22  fashionable districts with new restaurants, new

         23  stores, and most importantly, new people.

         24                 Community policing, a stable economy,

         25  and other such factors may be considered the larger
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          2  victories.  But the gardens: The volunteer labor,

          3  the school projects, and the social interaction, all

          4  of which turn a vacant lot into a sanctuary of

          5  teeming life; the gardens are a small but essential

          6  piece of the puzzle which differentiates a

          7  functioning, working neighborhood from a collapsing,

          8  despair filled ghetto.

          9                 The Lower East Side, like Bedford-

         10  Stuyvesant or the South Bronx, consists largely of

         11  late 19th century tenement buildings constructed for

         12  immigrants, successive waves of which have made New

         13  York what it is.  In the space of one lifetime, a

         14  single plot of land may have gone from farmland or

         15  field in 1900 to apartment building by 1920 to

         16  abandoned, dangerous wreck by 1970, to junkyard, and

         17  finally to open space again by 1990.  Cities and

         18  neighborhoods reflect the organic nature of their

         19  citizens; the conversion of misused and unused land

         20  into a garden is nothing more and nothing less than

         21  the natural and instinctive desire to properly use

         22  whatever is available to its best and most useful

         23  purpose.

         24                 There is much talk of a "free-

         25  market," and even a stark equation that has been
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          2  presented of housing and commerce versus open space

          3  and gardening, as if the only possible dichotomy in

          4  New York between such different interests must be

          5  hostile.  The experience of neighborhood after

          6  neighborhood has shown this to be false.  It is

          7  unimaginable to have a City without parks, trees,

          8  and gardens.  Just as unimaginable as it would be to

          9  exist without markets, stores, and homes.  A

         10  successful community must have a proper balance, and

         11  it is irrational to suggest that several hundred

         12  gardens, out of TENS of thousands of surplus City-

         13  owned properties, upset this balance to the harm of

         14  free- market development.

         15                 On the contrary, a community garden,

         16  which provides programs for children, a haven for

         17  the elderly, and a focus for voluntary neighborhood

         18  activity creates an attractive area for development

         19  adjacent to, not instead of.  Given a choice, it is

         20  clearly preferable to open a business or move into a

         21  home next to a garden rather than a vacant lot!

         22                 In essence, community gardening is

         23  not just for gardeners.  It is for everyone in the

         24  area, even people like me who have no desire to get

         25  my hands dirty digging up earthworms.  It is an
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          2  irreplaceable part of diverse and unpredictable New

          3  York. We all remember what this City was like when

          4  rusted and abandoned cars littered overgrown fields

          5  in the shadows of burnt- out buildings. The South

          6  Bronx was famously compared to a war zone, and

          7  looked like one.  These days, there is scarcely an

          8  article in the newspapers which talks of those

          9  infamous old neighborhoods without mentioning

         10   "revival," "renewal," or even "Renaissance."  The

         11  gardens, and the spirit which created the gardens,

         12  helped make all of that possible.  Do we really want

         13  to go back?

         14

         15  Testimony of:

         16  Adam Silver

         17  Director

         18  Bronx West Early Learning Center

         19

         20                 To Whom It May Concern:

         21                 This letter is directed to the Mayor

         22  and City Council Members.

         23                 Please approve Resolution 377 and

         24  assign it to be heard by the Land Use Committee.  As

         25  a New York City resident and as someone who
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          2  frequents several of the community gardens, I

          3  support the community gardens City- wide and

          4  advocate that the gardens should be removed from the

          5  May 1999 auction list.

          6

          7  Testimony of:

          8  Gerald Posner

          9  Consulting Arborist

         10  Arbor- Cultural Consultants & Associates, Inc.

         11

         12                 With all my respect to the Council,

         13                 First, let me say thank you for

         14  asking me to appear here today and provide my

         15  thoughts on Res. 438, Res. 20 and Intro. No. 185.

         16                 Simply, my background, I have a BS

         17  Degree from Cornell University in '86.  Since 1987 I

         18  have operated as a business person in this City,

         19  caring for trees. I have operated two tree care

         20  concerns since 1987.  One business is strictly

         21  consulting, the other is a practicing tree company.

         22                 As a consulting arborist I am paid to

         23  advise.  I work for a wide spectrum of tree

         24  stewards, such as USCG, Prospect Park Alliance,

         25  Friends of Tompkins Square Park, attorneys,
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          2  insurance and railroad companies, homeowners,

          3  developers and landscape architects plus other

          4  consulting arborists.  As a practicing arborist I

          5  and my associates actually plant, prune, fertilized

          6  and perform other green care practices.

          7                 Today I am her not to assailant New

          8  York Parks.  I am here as a concerned citizen.  In

          9  fact, I have a high regard for the people who work

         10  within Parks and care for our green spaces.  I

         11  regard parks and green spaces as a key element to a

         12  livable city. All we have to do is look up Fifth

         13  Avenue from 54th Street or from Central Park West

         14  from West 54th Street.  It is some of the most

         15  expensive real estate in New York City, because of

         16  Central Park. When green spaces are successful, a

         17  ripple effect of good follows. Central Park allows

         18  people to find solitude or attend a million person

         19  concert.  Green attributes can never by quantified

         20  accurately, but we all know they are important, that

         21  is why we are here today.  We know green spaces cost

         22  money and are hard to care for here in the urban

         23  environment.

         24                 Now again, one year later, we are

         25  reviewing similar ideas New York Parks put forth one
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          2  year ago with no new thought. New York Parks wants

          3  to designate protected green zones and protected

          4  trees.  New York Parks feels that it should become

          5  the new steward to a whole new spectrum of trees and

          6  green space and provide rules and factors to

          7  government its well being.  Let me tell you now that

          8  New York Parks cannot do it at this point in time.

          9  Forget manpower, expertise and enforcement taste

         10  reasons for Parks not being able to do the job.  No,

         11  the reason New York Parks has no systematic approach

         12  in quantifying what works or does not work.  Reso.

         13  No. 20 is a prime example of how problems start and

         14  how bad information can be used to make future

         15  decisions.  How can 89.3 percent of New York City

         16  trees be in good to excellent shape (since 1992) but

         17  22 million dollars later we have not increased our

         18  curbside tree population?  How are the words good or

         19  excellent to be used in a quantitative review?

         20  Other municipalities use a number scale of 0- 5 in

         21  reviewing tree health and safety.  These are

         22  numbers, they can be used to make decisions.  How

         23  can we let New York Parks steward additional green

         24  spaces, but not follow the industry standard ground

         25  rules and factors?  And I am still curious about
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          2  liability.  What if a tree falls that was placed

          3  under the domain of Parks in the protected area?

          4  New York Parks has shown time and again it does not

          5  learn from old mistakes.  New York Parks is costing

          6  New York taxpayers money and reducing our quality of

          7  life.

          8                 As an expert in tree care, a business

          9  person and a citizen.  I am asking the Council to

         10  demand New York Parks care for its green spaces it

         11  currently manages by following standard industry

         12  factors and rules and demand it work with RPA and

         13  EACh as outlined in Reso. 438.

         14                 Mandate New York Parks to provide a

         15  detailed list of factors and rules it plans to use

         16  in improving care of green spaces currently under

         17  its jurisdiction before presenting Intro. No. 185

         18  again, much less placing it into the books as law

         19  next week.

         20                 To illustrated my point please follow

         21  me through an example of New York Parks idea of

         22  managing green spaces.

         23                 In 1995 Downtown Brooklyn went

         24  through a large transformation.  Flatbush Avenue

         25  from the Manhattan bridge to Fulton Avenue was
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          2  ripped apart.  Several hundred new trees were

          3  installed.

          4                 In 1998, Adams Street was finally

          5  renovated and several hundred trees and shrubs were

          6  planted.

          7                 Both Adams and Flatbush avenues were

          8  designed and installed in similar fashion.  Let us

          9  review photos I took on 1/13/99 on Adams and

         10  Flatbush Avenues.

         11                 I thank you for this opportunity.

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Sylvain Leroux

         15  601 E. 11th Street, #3B

         16  New York, NY  10009

         17

         18                 City Council Speaker, Mr. Peter

         19  Vallone,

         20                 I am writing this letter as a New

         21  York City, East Village resident to the authorities

         22  concerned in support of the Coradan Evaeden Garden,

         23  603 East 11th Street, Block 394, Lot 67, and of the

         24  11th Street Block Association Garden, 422 East 11th

         25  Street, Block 438, Lot 19.
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          2                 In reviewing the proposed sale of

          3  Community Garden plots, consideration must be

          4  accorded to the current frenetic pace of

          5  construction and development in the East Village,

          6  way beyond what would be tolerated in other

          7  neighborhoods.  Particularly on 11th Street between

          8  Avenues A and C where more than seven construction

          9  sites are presently in operation.

         10                 We live in dust, noise and

         11  congestion.  There is the danger that all the ground

         12  rattling from the construction may weaken some older

         13  structures as was the case at 11th Street and Avenue

         14  B when a building was evacuated under the threat of

         15  immediate collapse, due to digging next door.

         16  Parking is extremely difficult as spaces have

         17  disappeared due to the activities of multiple

         18  construction sites and will likely remain difficult

         19  because of the increased, affluent, population

         20  moving in.

         21                 Most of the attributes that are

         22  making the East Village attractive to would be

         23  residents are now threatened because of this

         24  unrestrained development.

         25                 If the East Village is booming now,
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          2  it is due to the patient efforts of humble people

          3  who refused to crumbled under the urban decay and

          4  invested in the small people who refused to crumbled

          5  under the urban decay and invested in the small

          6  scale beauty that was within their means:  Gardens,

          7  community centers, artistic activity, a real

          8  neighborhood life.  This is what is attracting new

          9  residents here, the quality of life.

         10                 The people of the East Village, the

         11  long- term residents who have made their lives here,

         12  are the ones who cultivated the flowers and the

         13  trees, restored the abandoned buildings, organized

         14  the shows.  Now the speculators are rushing to take

         15  advantage of the market, while it's hot, but in the

         16  process they are endangering exactly what is

         17  creating this wealth ointment the first place.

         18                 I say, development, yes, but with

         19  discernment.

         20                 Let's take advantage of this historic

         21  opportunity to make it a balanced development that

         22  will benefit all, including some honest developers,

         23  and will respect the character and wealth of the

         24  East Village.

         25                 Shouldn't the primary concern of the
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          2  members of City government be the people of New

          3  York?  Shouldn't we recognize and thank the people

          4  of the East Village for their courageous

          5  contribution to the prosperity of New York City?

          6  The City should reinvestment some of the profits

          7  from this real estate boomerang to build on the

          8  achievements of the people of the East Village, to

          9  amplify the character of this beautiful

         10  neighborhood.

         11                 I submit that great care and

         12  consideration must be used before putting another

         13  garden on the for sale list, such as what will

         14  replace it and how this new project will contribute

         15  to the area and what will its effect on the local

         16  people be.  We need to involve community Leaders in

         17  the process of decision about further development.

         18  A moratorium on any sale of public land, such as

         19  gardens and community centers should be applied and

         20  a process of public debate initiated about this

         21  matter.

         22

         23  Testimony of:

         24  Magali Regis

         25  Architect
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          2  601 East 11th Street, 3B

          3  New York, NY  10009

          4

          5                 Dear Mr. Vallone,

          6                 I have heard that the Giuliani

          7  Administration is planning to sell over 100 gardens

          8  scattered throughout the five boroughs at a May

          9  auction.  I am very distressed by that decision. On

         10  my block alone, more than three gardens were

         11  destroyed in 1998 and the loss has been devastating

         12  to our block and our community.

         13                 Creating a garden on a nasty vacant

         14  lot was very hard work, but the result was worth all

         15  the effort!  The entire community benefitted from

         16  them.  We held parties, planted vegetables and

         17  trees, grew flowers, the children had a safe place

         18  to play and the passersby enjoyed a beautiful sight.

         19    In a City with so little green space, the gardens

         20  have become a sanctuary, a welcome break from the

         21  stress of the City.

         22                 Now, two other gardens on 11th Street

         23  between Avenue A and Avenue B are once again

         24  threatened, the 11th Street Block Association/Chico

         25  West at 422 East 11th Street, Block 438, Lot 19,
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          2  Coradan Evaeden at 603 East 11th Street, Block 394,

          3  Lot 67.

          4                 Loosing these gardens will once again

          5  be devastating to our community.  I urge you to

          6  remove them from the May auction.

          7

          8  Testimony of:

          9  Ruth Richards

         10  Kosciusko Garden Learning Center

         11

         12                 My name is Ruth Richards and I

         13  represent the Kosciusko Garden Learning Center in

         14  Brooklyn.  I am writing concerning City Council

         15  Resolution No. 377.  I urge that you support this

         16  garden speaks to us as a community and says despite

         17  our many differences we are capable of coming

         18  together for the upkeep of our community.  It also

         19  says to outside communities that there is an open

         20  welcoming space to share with them.  Our garden has

         21  shown many children here that more can be done with

         22  land than building a house on it or using it as a

         23  dumping site.  Due to the many issues in our City,

         24  our garden and many others like it help ease the

         25  pressure.  For some of my neighbors it is a place
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          2  just next door to sit, relax and enjoy the greenery.

          3                 I urge you again to support this

          4  resolution and take the City Gardens off the auction

          5  list, they really are a beautiful part of the New

          6  York City Landscape.

          7

          8  Testimony of:

          9  Patrick Giles

         10  Kosciusko Garden Learning Center

         11

         12                 I represent the Kosciusko Garden

         13  Learning Center at 385 Kosciusko Street in Bedford-

         14  Stuyvesant section of Brooklyn.  I am writing in

         15  reference to City Council Resolution No. 377.  The

         16  Kosciusko Garden Learning Center is extremely

         17  important to the residents of Bedford- Stuyvesant,

         18  Brooklyn.  In the past we have held workshops to

         19  teach the community about gardens and plant life

         20  which surrounds us all.  The community residents,

         21  children and members involved in this greening

         22  project are extremely excited with the

         23  beautification of this site in their neighborhood.

         24  The workshops, as well as the sight of the garden is

         25  an inspiration to the residents of this
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          2  neighborhood.  Educational and an inspiration to the

          3  residents of this neighborhood.  Educational and

          4  recreational workshops have inspired many residents

          5  to continue the process of revitalizing in the

          6  neighborhood.  This garden and many others around

          7  the City have enlightened and implemented beauty in

          8  those who never thought they had it.  These gardens

          9  need to be incorporated into the New York City

         10  landscape, so the hard work and dedication of others

         11  including those who worked on the projects can be a

         12  sign of rehabilitation.

         13

         14  Testimony of:

         15  Lisa Everett

         16

         17                 My name is Lisa Everett, and I am

         18  writing this letter as a concerned citizen of

         19  Brooklyn's working community.  I completely support

         20  the positive changes I have seen due to the

         21  community gardens.

         22                 These gardens have helped to beautify

         23  the neighborhood and the community.  I hope to see

         24  many more gardens develop throughout our surrounding

         25  neighborhoods.  Please show your support at this
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          2  hearing and vote for Reso. No. 377, which

          3  permanently incorporates our community gardens to

          4  gardens to New York City landscapes.  Thank you in

          5  advance.

          6

          7  Testimony of:

          8  Sheila Torres

          9

         10                 This is a letter to urge you to

         11  support Reso. No. 377.  I currently reside at 676

         12  Willoughby Avenue in Brooklyn, and personally

         13  witness how much our children, senior citizens and

         14  our overall community needs and deserves to have

         15  community gardens.

         16                 New York City is so presently

         17  congested with buildings that the children have no

         18  where to go except for these community gardens, open

         19  spaces.  It is always amazing to see the response

         20  from the children after garbage filled lot is

         21  converted to a useful environment where they can

         22  enjoy all the beauty that nature has to offer.

         23  Again, please vote yes to support open space (Reso.

         24  No. 377).  Thank you.

         25
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          2  Testimony of:

          3  Reverend Roderick A. Crispo, O.F.M.

          4  Pastor

          5  Our Lady of Peace Church

          6

          7                 I represent Our Lady of Peace/Gil

          8  Hodges Memorial Garden (block 456, lot 14) in

          9  Brooklyn.  I am writing you in reference to the City

         10  Council Resolution No. 377.  On behalf of the

         11  children and neighbors who share the garden, I urge

         12  you to support Resolution No. 377.  Specifically

         13  this matter should be heard before the Land Use

         14  Committee.  New York City seriously lacks an

         15  appropriate amount of open space in our congested

         16  communities.  I believe that the permanency of

         17  community gardens is a land use issue.

         18                 While Our Lady of Peace/Gil Hodges

         19  Memorial Garden is intended for benefit and

         20  enjoyment of our Senior Citizens, it is also enjoyed

         21  by the Public School P.S. 372- K, The Children's

         22  School as part of the educational Program.  The park

         23  is also used by the employees of the surrounding

         24  business and teachers from the school.

         25                 Gardens positively improve the
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          2  quality of New York City.  A garden speaks for its

          3  neighbors and looks out for them in ways that the

          4  building or a park won't.  Gardeners care about

          5  their communities and have made them better places.

          6  Let Mayor Giuliani follow our example and clean up

          7  the 10,000 truly vacant lots first. The community

          8  has cared for this space since 1982, and there is no

          9  way he is going to tell us that gardens are negative

         10  thing.  Our garden has made Carroll Street a place

         11  people want to live.  This has lead to an increase

         12  in real estate values, and all that benefit the

         13  City.  Our Lady of Peace/Gil Hodges Memorial Garden

         14  deserves to remain a part of our revitalized

         15  neighborhood.  Do the conscionable thing and take

         16  the gardens off of the auction list and permanently

         17  incorporate them into the New York City landscape.

         18  Resolution No. 377 is a good place to start.

         19                 P.S.  What happens to the memory of

         20  Gil Hodges?

         21

         22  Testimony of:

         23  Paralee Scott

         24  26 Hunter Place

         25  Brooklyn, NY
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          2

          3                 I will never forget that day in

          4  September of 1993, as I walked through the

          5  neighborhood where my grandchildren lived. I saw

          6  these garbage filled lots, and thought to myself,

          7  what would make these lots more beautiful, pleasing

          8  to the eye, and much brighter in the community?

          9                 A vision of a garden then appeared,

         10  so with this great vision of building a garden, I

         11  called together a meeting with the people of the

         12  community and began discussing my idea.  Within a

         13  couple of months later, the garbage filled lots know

         14  as 762 and 764 Herkimer Street, block 1708, became a

         15  dramatically come true, and "A Better Community

         16  Garden" was established.

         17                 Now it has been over four years since

         18  that day, and so many accomplishments have been

         19  made, such as working with many organization, as

         20  well as other gardeners, donating the fruits and

         21  vegetables to the senior citizens, and children of

         22  the community to help them eat healthier.  As

         23  rewards for participating in the garden and doing

         24  well in school, we give back to school parties for

         25  the children, birthday parties, bus outings to parks
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          2  and ball games.

          3                  "A Better Community Garden" has

          4  touched the lives of many people in the community

          5  and will continue to have the same affect many years

          6  from now.  I think that building this garden was the

          7  best idea that I made, and I am proud to say that

          8  this has made the community a more pleasant place to

          9  live in.

         10

         11  Testimony of:

         12  Marilyn Singer

         13  Co- Founder

         14  Lincoln- Berkeley Community Garden

         15

         16                 In 1978, 20 Lincoln Place was

         17  neighborhood eyesore, a rubble- filled lot,

         18  hazardous to everyone's health, both mental and

         19  physical.  Making it into a community garden seemed

         20  an impossible dream.  But with much help from City,

         21  corporate, and private donations and the labor of

         22  scores of our neighbors, the dream became a reality.

         23    We received technical assistance from Operation

         24  green Thumb and the Brooklyn Botanic Garden;

         25  financial aid from Manufactor's Hanover Trust,
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          2  Citibank, the Park Slope Civic Council, and several

          3  local businesses; and award from the Citizen's

          4  Committee.  What we wanted from our garden was not a

          5  farm or a stage for events, but a quiet oasis in a

          6  neighborhood sadly lacking in green spaces, a vest

          7  pocket park for our Park Slope community. We turned

          8  the festering into the festive, a blighted into a

          9  delightful, a no place into a showplace.

         10                 Our garden, the second oldest in

         11  Brooklyn, has won awards, taught children the

         12  difference between weeds and flowers, allowed senior

         13  citizens to enjoy green grass instead of green

         14  hospital walls, and given pleasure to those who work

         15  in it and to others who simply pass by.  We have

         16  plans to link our garden to a neighborhood school

         17  and extend the teaching work begun there some twenty

         18  years ago.  To destroy our garden would be to

         19  deplete a borough of a tranquilizers preserve, to

         20  rob wildlife such as juncos, monarch butterflies,

         21  ladybug beetles, fireflies and other creatures of a

         22  home, and to hurt the hearts of score soft human

         23  residents.  The Mayor has based his campaign on

         24  improving the quality of life in New York City.

         25  What could better improve life than a place to
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          2  relax, reflect, and learn?  Please, allow our garden

          3  and all of the City's wonderful gardens to survive

          4  and thrive.

          5                 Thank you.

          6

          7  Testimony of:

          8  Salvador De Caires

          9  855 East 19th Street, apt. #4D

         10  Brooklyn, NY

         11

         12                 The community gardens of New York

         13  City have been and need to continue to be, a vital

         14  living thing for other living things, including us

         15  who live here.  New York's life can often be very

         16  stressful and gardens need to continue to be good

         17  therapy, not only for gardeners, but children and

         18  many other members of the community.  To just

         19  bulldoze a working garden is to lose too much that

         20  will not be replaced with anything benefitting as

         21  many for so little expenditure.

         22                 Before the Green Thumb Community

         23  Gardens are turned over to the HPD's Assets and

         24  Sales Unit, a comprehensive review needs to be

         25  carried out to determine the present uses being made
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          2  of the lot and how many people, including children

          3  are benefitting from it.  I am sure that in many

          4  cases it will be found that many gardens provide a

          5  very valuable service to the community that would

          6  cost the City a great deal more to provide than a

          7  one shot sum of money would.

          8                 Please, let us take a closer look at

          9  what is being proposed as it takes many years to

         10  grow a beautiful, therapeutic garden, but only a few

         11  minutes to assign a bulldozer to destroy it.

         12

         13  Testimony of:

         14  Brad Will

         15  713 East 9th Street

         16  New York City, NY  10009

         17

         18                 I am here to express my adamant

         19  support of Resolution 377.  I consider the entire

         20  process of garden lot transfer to HPD corruption,

         21  politicking at its worst.  Individual gardeners were

         22  not informed their gardens were going on the auction

         23  block.  The public hearing is illegal violation of

         24  due process of law with gardens not informed of

         25  their imminent execution and their right to testify.
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          2    Some would say City political, as usual.  I say we

          3  demand a fair hearing.

          4                 The ULURP process that placed these

          5  gardens on the road to destruction was put into

          6  place over twenty years ago.  That was a different

          7  neighborhood and another era.  We need to talk about

          8  the community today, after decades of grassroots,

          9  self determined renewal, after sweat and blood spilt

         10  in perseverance, after these gardens helped to heal

         11  this neighborhood.  It is shocking that all this

         12  wealth should be thrown aside like yesterday's

         13  trash.  These gardeners deserve to be rewarded for

         14  neighborhood improvement.  Instead they are being

         15  smacked in the face.

         16                 There are several mechanisms in place

         17  within the City government in which property deeds

         18  are transferred over to the existing

         19  tenant/occupant.  It is a simple process

         20  transferring these gardens permanently into the

         21  Parks Department.  These avenue are being

         22  deliberately ignored so real estate interests can

         23  continue to be catered to by the present

         24  administration.  This resolution is the appropriate

         25  respond to a cruel edict handed down from an
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          2  Administration hiding real estate glad handing

          3  behind the mantra of privatization.

          4                 What did the private sector do with

          5  these properties before?  Neglect, arson, blighted,

          6  fraud.  What will they do now? Create more luxury

          7  housing unaffordable to any presently living in the

          8  community.  In a time of City budget surplus, I find

          9  it extremely suspect that the revenue raised from

         10  the sale of these lots is any more than pittance

         11  compared to the millions of dollars of community

         12  improvement and social services provided free of

         13  cost.

         14                 The erroneous claim that these are

         15  private space, locking the general public out does

         16  not describe the norm of openness to anyone willing

         17  to help nurture the green space and share in

         18  building community.  Locks are in place to

         19  determined the problems agencies, like HPD are

         20  notoriously for creating, drug activity, garbage,

         21  public health problems.

         22                 These gardens are havens for young

         23  people, away from the street, away from gang

         24  activity, engaged in learning about the growth of

         25  food first hand.  The garden provide invaluable
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          2  meeting space outside of the costly halls and rented

          3  spaces available for neighbors to gather with one

          4  another and share ideas and information, host

          5  cultural events, organize a block crime watch, in

          6  short, building community.  These spaces are sacred

          7  ground for ritualistic and altars.

          8                 I demand a process to be initiated

          9  under which the creation of more gardens be the

         10  goal.  There is not enough healthy, life improving

         11  open space in the City, and this is a perfect use

         12  for this land base.  We need the clean air and

         13  rejuvenated soil and wildlife habitat these green

         14  oasis provide.  We need the investment in our City's

         15  youth to grow into productive community assets,

         16  rather than endangered targets of violence.  We need

         17  the beautification of this urban blighted.  We need

         18  more gardens! Remove all of the gardens from the

         19  auction and keep our public lands public.  This

         20  resolution I hope is not too late to perpetuate and

         21  cultivate a small slice of this City that is a true

         22  example to the national of volunteerism and self

         23  motivated growth.  I prayer that you pass this

         24  resolution.

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            294

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Testimony of:

          3  Dagni B. Senzel

          4  Landscape Designer

          5  101 Central Park West

          6  New York, NY 10023

          7

          8                 Did you know that the number one

          9  avocation in the United States today is gardening?

         10  New York is no exception.  Look everywhere on the

         11  street; in front of houses there are flowers, in

         12  tree pots there are bulbs plated to bloomer in the

         13  spring, on window sills people have planter boxes.

         14  People care about plants and gardens.  They truly

         15  seek out the beauty and the mystery of growing

         16  things.

         17                 In our Green Thumb gardens, we have

         18  the essence of life in the City.  Neighbors with

         19  their own labor and cooperation redeem their City's

         20  derelict property and make it fertile and produce

         21  tangible results, fruits, vegetables, flowers,

         22  beauty.

         23                 I have a few questions for you:

         24                 The quality of life in the City has

         25  improved recently.  Crime is down.  Is it because
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          2  there are more police on the street or because Wall

          3  Street is making more money?  We don't really know.

          4  Is it because there is beauty and something growing

          5  in our community?  People can't live without food,

          6  clothing, and shelter.  But, we also need food for

          7  the soul.  The beauty and the mystery of the garden

          8  is food for the soul.  Once the plants take root

          9  they grow.  The people grow, good will grows, the

         10  neighborhood grows and matures in strength.  When

         11  the roots grow deep the plant can hold on and

         12  weather the storms.  So too the people cling to

         13  these mysterious growing things that come to life in

         14  the spring, bear flowers and fruit and attested to

         15  the joy of life.

         16                 Yes, the City owns the land.  It can

         17  reclaim these lush green gardens for other uses.

         18  But, is it the right this to do?

         19                 Please vote in favor of Resolution

         20  377.  Thank you.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 3:45 p.m.)

         22

         23

         24

         25
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 15th day of January 1999.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH

         25
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              PAT WTULICH
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